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Sir Andrew McFarlane P and My Justice Chamberlain:

Introduction
1 Thus 15 the judgment of the Court, to which both members have contnibuted.

2 It concerns a discrete issue ansing from allegations made in these proceedings on 7
September 2020 by Her Royal Highness Princess Haya bint al Hussewn (the mother).

3 The alleganons are that the mother's mobile phone and those of some of her legal
advisers, security staff and personal assistant have been the subject of hacking by agenis
of the Enurate of Dubai or the United Arab Enurates (ITAE), acting on behalf of His
Highness Sheikh Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum (the father).

4 The father, Ruler of the Emirate of Dubai and Vice-President and Prime Mimister of the
UAE, submits that the allegations engage the foreign act of state doctrine (the FAS
doctrine), with the consequence that the court lacks jurisdiction to adjudicate on them.
The mother submits that the FAS doctrine 15 not engaged or, alternatively, that the public
policy exception to that doctrine applies, with the consequence that the court can and
must adjudicate,

Background

5 The present 1ssue anses in the course of ongoing proceedings relating to the welfare of
two children. Sheikha Al Jalila bint Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum {Jalila), who is
12, and Sheikh Zayed bin Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum {Zayed), who 1s 8.

[i] In April 2019, the mother travelled wath Jahla and Zayed from Duba to England and
made clear that they would not be retuming. Shortly after their arnival in England, the
father commenced proceedings in England and Wales under the inherent jurisdiction of
the High Court, seeking orders [or the children to be returned to Dubai. In July 2019, on
the mother’s application, the children were made wards of court. A guardian was
appointed.

7 The President has given a number of judgments in these proceedings including: a fact-
finding judgment on |1 December 2019 [2019] EWHC 3415 (Fam), [2020] 2 FLR 409
ithe Fact-Finding Judgment); a judgment on 17 January 2020 concerning the status and
effect of certan assurances and waivers given by the father, Dubai and the United Arab
Emirates: [2020] EWHC 67 (Fam), [2020] | WLR 1858 (the Assurances and Waivers
Judgment); and a judgment on 3 June 2020 in which the court refused the appointment
of a secunty expert to consider the costs of the security arrangements required by the
mother: [2020] EWHC 1464 (Fam) (the Security Expert Judgment).

8 It 1s not necessary to rehearse here much of the detail to be found in these judgments.

The following summary contains those elements that are material for the purposes of the
FAS 1ssue.

9 In the Fact-Finding Judgment, the court made findings about the treatment of two of the
father’s other daughters, Sheikha Shamsa and Sheikha Latifa, and about his treatment of
the mother. For present purposes, the key findings were these:



SIR ANDREW MCFARLANE P AND BE AL M

Apppoved Judpme

la)

(b}

ic)

id)

In the early summer of 2000, Sheikha Shamsa went to ground while on a visit [o
England: [66]. Her father tracked her down through someone she had kept in touch
with: [63]. In mid- August 2000 she was taken by three or four men working for her
father 1o lus home in Newmarket; [67], She was held overmight there: [68]. On the
following morming, Shamsa went with three of the men 1n a helicopter to France
and then on to Dubai. One of the men was at the tune in charge of the Dubai Air
Wing: [69]. Since then she has been confined to one room, constantly supervised
by nurses and a psychiatrist. She 15 given regular medication: [58]. She has been
deprived of her liberty for much, if not all, of the past two decades: [137].

In 2002 Sheikha Latifa (then 18) decided to leave the UAE. She was identified on
the border with Oman and returned to the family home: [83]-[84]. On her retum
she was put in prison, where she was repeatedly beaten by her captors, who told
ler that this was on her father's orders: [85]. She remamed there for three years
and four months, where she endured sleep deprivation, beatings and insanitary
condinions: [86]-[88]. She was injected with what she believes to be tranquilisers:
[89]. After her release, her movements in Dubai were tightly restricted, She had no
passport, could not drive and was not in a position to leave Dubai by any ordinary
means: [91).

On 24 February 2018, Sheikha Latifa made another attempt to escape, with the help
of ber friend Tina Jauhiainen. They drove to Oman, where a friend met them with
a dinghy, which they used to get to a yacht chartered by a French national Herve
Jaubert, to whom Sheikha Latifa paid a large sum of money: [98]-[102]. While on
the yacht, Sheikha Laufa and Mr Jauberl communicated with vanous imdividuals
and 1t may well be that this enabled the Dubai authorities to locate them: [103].
During the night on 4 March 2018, the vacht was in intemational waters about 30
miles off Goa, India, where it was boarded by a substantial number of Indian
special forces. Sheikha Lanfa and Ms Jauhainen were detained: [104]. The Indian
special forces soldiers left the boat and were replaced by members of the UAE
armed forces: [105]. Sheikha Latifa, Ms Jauhiainen, Mr Jaubert and the yacht’s
crew were taken back to Dubai under guard, escorted by Indian coastguard vessels:
[106]. Since that time, Sheikha Lanfa has been detained in a locked and guarded
house akin to a prison; [119] and [138].

In the early part of 2019, the mother lost her official position in the Ruler’s court:
[144]. Those acting for the father began investigating her personal finances: [145].
The father divorced her under Sharia law: | 148]. A hehicopter armved at her house
and the pilot said he had come to take one passenger to Awir, a prison in the desert,
Ome of the crew members was one of the three people who Sheikha Shamsa had
said had been imvolved in her removal from England in 2000: [149]-[150]. The
mother received a series of anonymous notes, left in her bedroom or elsewhere,
making threats, for example “We will take your son - your daughter 1s ours - your
life 15 over™. On two occasions, a gun was left on her bed with the muzzle pointing
towards the door and the safety catch off: [151]. It was in these circumstances that
the mother resolved that her position in Dubai was unsafe and untenable and, on
15 April 2019, came to England: [152]. After she had done so0, she received further
threateming communications; [153]-[154]. A person who has occupied a position
of significant responsibility in relation to the mother was told by a retired police
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officer acting on behalf of the father that allegations would be made against hum/her
damagmg his reputation: [158]-[160]. In June 2019, this person was told by the
same individual that “the media war has started™: [161]. In a three-week period in
June and July 2019, 1,100 media articles were published about the mother
worldwide, Many contained defamatory maccuracies: [162]. The father, or others
on his behalf, made direct threats to the mother to remove the children. The father
told Zayed that the mother was no longer needed.

At the end of the Fact-Finding Judgment, at [182], the court said this:

“The next stage of these proceedings, once my further judgment on
immunities and assurances has been handed down, will be to evaluate the
impact of these findings upon the two children who are at the centre of this
case and, on that basis, to evaluate the nsk of either or both of them being
removed from their mother's care and taken to Duba agamnst her will.”

In the Assurances and Waivers Judgment, the court held that assurances given by the
father, though unilateral in nature, were binding as a matter of intéemational law, but that
the court was unable to rely upon them as providing protection for the children from the
risk of abduction within England and Wales, given the lack of evidence to show that they
would be fulfilled and the lack of any enforcement mechanism. The waivers of immunity
related only to the father, not to others who nught be involved in an attempt to breach the
court’s orders and might be entitled to claim immunity, and so did not provide any
protection to the children against those others.

There are currently Iive applications pending before the court, These are:

fa) the father’s application for interim child arrangements (ie. contact with the
children);

ib) the mother’s wardship apphcation;

e} the mother’s application for a final non-molestation order;

{d} the mother’s application for a “lives with™ {residence) order; and

ie) the mother’s application under Schedule 1 to the Children Act 1989 for financial
support for herself and her children. This application has been vigorously contested
and has resulted in a number of hearings over the summer of this year. The Secunty

Expert Judgment was given after one such hearing. There was another before Moor
Jon 27 July 2020.

The present allegations

13

The allegations which give rise to the FAS issue were first brought to the artention of the
court i a Note filed on behalf of the mother on 7 September 2020, The Nole was
accompanied by witness statements of Baroness Shackleton and Nick Manners, two
members of the mother's team of solicitors at Payvie Hicks Beach (PHB), and Dr William
Marczak, a eyber-secunty expert,



SIR ANDEEW MCFARLANE P AND RE AL M
AR JLELLE CILAMBERLALS
Approyed Judgment

14

13

16

17

In their note to the court, the mother’s counsel indicated that, to the extent that the
allegations were chsputed, she would seek a fact-finding hearing. She made the point that
the findings. if made, would be relevant to security arrangements both generally and in
refation to contact and that the financial conseguences, in terms of the funds required for
appropnate protection, would be sigmificant.

On 2 October 2020, following directions from the court, the mother produced a drafi
order, together with a schedule of findings which she invites the court to make. The order
does not include any requirement on the father to give disclosure in relation to the
allegations. It leaves 1t to hun to decide to what extent, if any, he wishes to be involved
m the fact-finding exercise. The findings sought are as follows:

{a) The mobile telephones of the mother, her solicitors, Baroness Shackleton and Nick
Manners, her personal assistant and two members of her security staff have been
the subject of unlawful surveilllance during the course of the present proceedings
and at the time of significant events in those proceedings.

ib)  This surveilllance has been cammied out by using software licensed to the Emirate of
Dubai or the UAE.

{c) The surveillance has been carmed out by servants or agents of the Father, the
Emurate of Dubai or the UAE.

{d} The software used for this surveillance included the capacity to track the target’s
location, the reading of SMS and email messages and other messaging apps,
listening to telephone calls and accessing the larget contact lsts, passwords,
calendars and photographs. It would also allow recording of live activity and taking
screenshots and pictures.

{e}  The surveillance has occurred with the express or implied authonity of the father.

In a response dated 14 September 2020 to the mother’s initial application, the father said
that the application raised two guestions: first, whether there has been surveillance or
mterference with the mobile phones of the mother, her legal advisers and/or staff; second,
if there has been some surveillance or interference, who is responsible. The father said
that he could not assist the court in relation to the first question. In relation to the second,
this was said:

*“{1) the allegation that the father has been involved in the use of [the | soltware
to access the mobile telephones of the mother, her legal advisers and or staff
15 denied: {u) the father has no knowledge of any such activity taking place,
and has not authonsed it, or instructed, encouraged or in any way suggested
that any other person should use [this] {or any) software in this way; (1) nor
15 the father aware of having received any knowledge as a result of any such
activity.™

In a further position statement on 2 October 2020, the father submuitted that, before the
court could conduct any fact-finding exercise 1t would need to consider whether, under
the FAS doctrine, the court can or should enquire into matters relating to the national
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security of a foreign state and whether the Foreign Commonwealth and Development
Office (FCDO) should be invited to make representations.

The FCDO were mvited to make representations, but indicated that they did not wish to
do so at thas stage.

The submissions

1%

In order to establish the context in which this judgment 1s given, we will first summarise
the nval submussions of the parties before turmung to a more detailed description and
analysis of the relevant authorities.

The father 's subunssions

20

21

22

For the father, Lord Pannick QC began by submutting that the factual findings which the
mother mnvites the court to make would involve an enquiry into: whether a foreign
sovereign state uses particular spyware technology, if so, who within that state has access
to thal technology and subject to what safeguards; and what role the father has in
authonsing its use. They would also involve findings as to the likelihood that the hacking
alleged may have been done by other states, potentally ones seeking to undermine or
embarrass the father and through him the UAE for geopolitical reasons. These, Lord
Pannick submits, are matters into which the coun cannot enter, because of the FAS
doctrine, which — where it applies — deprives the court of junsdiction to determine the
relevant 1ssue, even in a case where the state has iself brought proceedings: High
Commnizsioner aof Pakistan v Prince Mukkaram Jalh [2016] EWHC 1465 (Ch), [87]
{Henderson J). In this case, the state is nol a party to the proceedings.

Lord Pannick’™s submissions have two inter-related strands. First, it 15 said that the
father’s unwillingness to disclose information relating to intelligence or security matters
concerning the UAE or Dubai is consistent with the policy of “neither confirm nor deny™
(NCND). That pohicy 15 adopted by many states, including the Umited Kingdom, in any
public discussion of their intelligence-gathening activities. As practised by the UK
imtelhgence agencies, it has been recognised as legitimate by the courts in this
junsdiction: see e.g. Al Fawwaz v Secretary of Siate for the Home Department [2015]
EWHC 166 {Admin), [74] {(Burnett [J), The father cannot be criticised for adopting the
same policy m relation to the alleged mtelligence gathenng activities of Dubai or the
UAE. Moreover, the courts have recognised that 1f one party to litigation 1s disabled from
defending its position on a particular 15sue because of its inability to deploy sensitive
material, it may be impossible for that 1ssue (o be tnied and the claim may fall to be struck
out: see Carpdnffv Rock [2001] 1| WLR 1786, [37] (Laws LI).

Second, against that background, Lord Panmick submits that the determination of the
mother's allegations would contravene the third rule identified by Lord Neuberger in
Belhaf v Srrenwe [2017) AC 964, [123], which operates to prevent the determination by
courts in this junsdiction of 1ssues involving “a challenge to the lawfulness of the act of
a foreign state which 1s of such a nature that a mumcipal judge cannot or ought not to
rule on it". These include paradigmatically making war and peace, making treaties with
foreign sovereigns and annexation and cessions of territory. They also include “acts of a
foreign government in the conduct of foreign affairs™. At [237], Lord Sumption gave
mntelligence gathenng as an example of the kind of sovereign act to which the third rule
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may apply. Lord Pannick submits that the mother’s allegations “go to the heart of the
security systems which are alleged to be operated by a sovereign state, the UAE, and
mdeed by other sovereign states™; and there are no judicial or manageable standards by
which to determine the i1ssues raised. He contends that the rule applies notwithstanding
that the acts alleged are umlateral ones and despite the fact that they had effects outside
the termtory of the state concermned. He denies that the public policy exception 1s engaged.
because that exception should be reserved for acts, such as torture, which violate s
cagens norms. The acts alleged do not fall into that category.

The mother 's submissions

23

24

23

26

For the mother, Mr Tumathy Otty QC submits that the hacking allegations are directly
material to the substantive 1ssues falling for consideration in each of the five contested
applications currently pending before the court. He notes that in relation to each of these
applications the father has expressly consented to the court’s junsdiction, either by
1ssuing the application himself or, in relation to those applications i1ssued by the mother,
by waiving his immunities.

As to the FAS doctrine, Mr Otty submuts that the third rule identified by Lord Neuburger
in Belhai v Srraw applies to issues which it 1s inappropriate for the courts of the United
Kingdom to resolve because they involve a challenge to the lawfulness of the act of a
foreign state which a mumcipal judge could not or should not adjudicate on. Examples
are the making of war and peace, conduct concerned with treaty making and the
annexation or cession of territory: such i1ssues are apt for resolution through diplomatic
channels, not by proceedings before a mumicipal court. Although this thard rule 15 not
strictly confined to events occurring within a foreign state’s termtory, 1t has not m fact
ever been applied to cases concemned with events occurring overseas. It is principally
concerned with dealings or disputes involving actions by sovereign states on the plane of
public international law. In this respect. there 15 a clear distinction between those cases
where a state 15 acting as only a sovereign can and those cases where a sovereign state is
domg things that a private mdividual could do.

Applying these principles to the facts of the present case, Mr Otty submits that the
proposed fact-finding will involve no questioning of dealings between sovereign states.
It has nothing to do with the conduct of foreign atfairs. It arises in a context where
idividual fundamental nghts are mamfestly engaged, including the privacy rights of the
maother and children at common law and under articles 6 and 8 ECHR. [t involves conduct
alleged to have occurred in the United Kingdom in relation to wards of the English court
and n relation to proceedings pending before the English court in circumstances where
serial breaches of domestic criminal law are alleged, It does not concern political conduct
or conduct thal only a sovereign state could engage in or whose legality can be judged
only on the international law plane.

For these reasons, Mr Otty submits that the third rule i1s not engaged at all. In the
alternative, he relies on the public policy exception identified in Bellig at [154]-[155].
The exception 15 not limted to cases where there has been a “grave infningement of
human rights™ and does not requure a lihgant invoking it to establish that the treatment of
which he or she complains involves a breach of international law. In considering whether
the exception applies, it 15 relevant to consider the extent to which the party relying on o
has invoked or submitted to the junsdiction of the court and whether the legal standards



SR ANDREW MCFARLANE P AND RE AL M
ME AL FLCE CLAMBERLALS
Aporosed Judgment

to be applied in determining the issue are well recognised. Reliance 15 placed on the
decision of the Court of Appeal in The Law Debenture Trist Corp ple v Ulraine [2019]
QB 1121, [175]-[178] {Sales and Richards L] and Dame Elizabeth Gloster).

The guardian s submnssions

27

28

29

30

For the guardian, Ms Deirdre Fottrell QC makes no submussion as to whether the FAS
doctrine is engaged. If it 15, however, she contends that the context in which the
allegations anse are relevant to the applicability of the public policy exception and should
be “at the forefront of the court’s deliberations™, She continues as follows:

“The nature of the allegations made by the mother against the father in this
case are markedly different to those which arose in the reported authonties
on Foreign Act of State Doctrine in this junsdiction because they involve
harassing, controlling and threatemng behaviour directed by the father
towards her as the mother of the subject children and they anse from the
-..the parents’ relationship with each other. The fact that the father may have
pursued a campaign of harassment of the mother (and her legal advisers) by
mobilising the secunty services of the State does not alter the potentially
abusive nature or the character of his actions (if proven). If proven they are a
form of imtimate violence. The Farmily Court has an obligation to lake a
robust approach to any such allegations.™

In that connection Ms Fottrell draws attention to the summary of the purpose of fact-
finding in family proceedings in Re B /Children) ffmport of Criminal Principles mr
Family Proceedings) [2018] 2 FLR 718, at [62] (McFarlane LT):

“The pnmary purpose of the family process i1s to determine, as best thal may
be done, what has gone on in the past, so that that knowledge may inform the
ultimate welfare evaluation where the court will choose which option 15 best
for & chuld with the count’s eyes open to such nsks as the factual
determination may have established.”

Ms Fottrell notes that Family Proceedings Rules 2010, Practice Direction | 2] sets out the
approach that a court i1s required to take in any case where child arrangements are to be
determuned against the backdrop of allegations of intimidation, harassment or abuse, She
points out that the practice direction emphasises the seriousness of allegations of
domestic abuse between parents and the potential direct and indirect impact of them on
the welfare of children. The psychological consequences of abuse have been held to be
capable of reaching the level of seriousness necessary to constitute ill-treatment for the
purposes of Article 3 ECHR.: see e.g. Rumior v fralv (App. No. 82964/10), 27 May 2014,
The Council of Europe Convention on Preventing and Combating Violence Against
Women and Domestic Violence recognises in Article 31 the need for the impact of
domestic abuse on children to be taken nto account when determining custody and
visitation rights.

Against this background. Ms Fottrell submits that the factual findings which the mother
inwvites the court to make are potentially relevant to the substantive sets of issues: first,
the welfare 1ssues (whether the quahty of the current indirect contact and the children’s
views provide a solid foundation for the move to direct contact); second. the secunty
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1ssues (whether the level of nisk to the children posed by the father durning any direct
contact or otherwise can be safely managed). She notes that the court has already made
grave findings against the father as to the kidnapping, maltreatment and abuse of two of
his elder daughters. Those findings are directly relevant to the question of future nisk of
harm. which itsell impacts on the circumstances of any direct contact between the father
and children.

Ms Fottrell continues as follows:

“However, the allegations made by the mother of hacking and surveillance,
if proven, would elevate the nisk. They go directly to the secunty of the
mother and the children day to day. Significant questions arise as to the
purpose of such actions against a factual backdrop of previous surveillance
having pre-empted the abduction of Shamsa and Latifa. This court will have
to consider whether there 15 a continung pattem of mtumidation and
harassment within the proceedings. Findings that there 1s a continuing pattern
are germane to the issue which the Court 15 being asked to decide at the
MNovember 2020 heanng. II proven that the father imphiculy or explicitly
sanctioned the intimidation of the mother this has profound implications for
the children’s welfare, both generally and in relation to the i1ssues to be
determined in these proceedings. As the Guardian has previously noted, the
mother is the children’s primary carer and the children rely on her to a huge
extent for their day-to-day wellbeing, Anything which causes [the mother] a
significant level of distress will inevitably impact on their emotional
welfare.”

Ms Fottrell submits that, if the court found itself to be lacking in competence or
junsdiction to evaluate the mother™s allegations, it would be left in a “complex situation™,
The allegations would then play no role in informing the court’s welfare determination.
However, umigquely i the context of family proceedings, this will not be because the
allegation has been tried and not established or because the court has determined that the
fact-finding exercise is wrelevant or disproportionate to the welfare issues involved.
Instead, 1t would be salely due to the court’s lack of jurisdiction. Such an outcome would
leave the court m a difficult and unprecedented position if it reached a view that the
allegations were potentially relevant to the welfare determination and that a fact-finding
hearing was in principle necessary but legally impossible.

Discussion

The relevance af the hacking allegations to the isswes before the court

i3

In Law Debenture Trusr, the Court of Appeal provided at [155] a structure for
consideration of the apphication of the FAS doetrine. Three questions have to be asked
and answered. First: “Is there a domestic foothold - that 15 to say, a basis in legal analysis
under English law — which requires or permits the court to embark upon an examination
of [the relevant 1ssue]?" Secondly: “If there 15 a domestie foothold, 15 the 1ssue none the
less beyond the competence of the English courts to resolve? In the Lew Debenture
Trise case, which concerned a commercial dispute governed exclusively by private law,
there was a third 1ssue conceming what the court should do 1f it concluded that there was
a domestic foothold but the 1ssue was beyond the court’s competence to determine.
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Lord Pannick made clear that there was no dispute as to the existence of a “domestic
foothold”. We were mitially disposed to think that this made it unnecessary to consider
the matter further. Having considered the authorities, however, we have concluded that,
before embarking on any analysis of the second question (whether the 15sues are bevond
the competence of the court), we should squarely confront the nature of the allegations
with a view to assessing the extent of their matenality, if proven, to the applications
pending before the cour.

We begin by noting that these are not sumply pnivate law proceedings between two
mdividuals or entities. They are proceedings whose primary objective 1s to secure the
welfare of two children who are wards of court, That objective has been held to justify
departures from the procedural rules which govemn other proceedings: see e.g. Secretary
of State for the Home Deparinent v MB [2008] AC 440, [58] (Lady Hale), A Rawi v
Security Service [2012] | AC 5, [63] {Lord Dyson). In this case, no-one 15 suggesing
that the FAS doctrine 1s procedural. nor that it is in prninciple mapplicable in wardship
proceedings. But the special function and focus of these proceedings must be firmly
bome in mind when considering any submussion that it 15 beyond the competence of the
court to examine a factual allegation said to be matenal to them.

In our judgment, Mr Otty and Ms Folttrell were comrect to submit that the hacking
allegations are potentially material to each of the applications pending before the court.
If proven, and depending on the precise facts found, they may demonstrate conduct
expressly or impliedly authorised by the father in breach of English criminal law and in
violation of fundamental common law and ECHR nights. Any such conduet, if proven,
would involve a grave interference with the process of the courl. It would also be directly
relevant to each of the five applications pending before the court, In particular, it would
be relevant to the type of contact arrangements the court might consider appropriate, the
mternim orders necessary to protect the mother and children and the tvpe and cost of
appropriate security arrangements. All of these matters are currently contested.

In the course of oral argument, Lord Pannick indicated that the FAS doctrine would
present no bar to a limited fact-finding in relation to these allegations. There would, he
submitted, be no difficulty with a finding that the hacking had occurred, nor even with a
finding that there was a pool of possible states which might have been responsible for it.
The thrust of his submussion was that the FAS doctrine would bite only at the point where
the court embarked on an enguiry as to whether UAE state agents were responsible.

If that 15 where the law draws the line between matters whach fall within our competence
and matters which fall outside it, so be it, But it 1s important to record at this stage that
fact-linding limited to that which Lord Panmick accepted was legitimate would by no
means cover all the 1ssues relevant to the applications pending before the court. A finding
that someone had hacked the mother’s phones, and those of her legal representatives,
security staff and personal assistant. would have a very different significance in these
proceedings from a finding that agents of Dubai‘the UAE had done so on the express or
inphed authority of the father. It may be, that, if the court finds that some hacking took
place, the evidence will not permit a finding on the balance of probabilities as to who
was responsible, In that case the allegation would have been examned and not
established. A junsdictional bar on the making of such a finding would, on the other
hand, preclude the court from examining the question of responsibility at all. That would
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represent a senous limitation on the court’s powers to secure the welfare of its wards.
We must turn to the authorities to see whether they mandate such a limitation,

The refevance of the NCND practice

39

40

41

42

When public allegations are made about the work of the intelhgence services, 1t has been
the long-standing practice of the Umited Kingdom government neither to confirm nor to
deny them. The same practice is adopted by some other govemments. NCND 15 “not a
rule of law or legal principle but a practice which has been adopted to safeguard the
secrecy of the workings of the intelligence agencies™: Al Fawwaz v Secretary of State for
the Home Department [2015] EWHC 166 (Admun), [74] {Burnett L1). The practice 1s
adopted because, if povernments were 1o deny allegations in some cases, the absence of
a denial in others might be taken as an indication of the truth of the allegation. The
legitimacy of the NCNID practice, as adopted by the UK government, has been recognised
by the courts m this jurisdiction as a legitimate way of maimntainng the secrecy of the
work of the intelligence services: see e.g. the cases referred to in A/ Fawweaz at [75]-[76].

It 1s important, however, to identify the legal framework within which the recognition of
the practice has taken place. At [77] of lus judgment in 4/ Ferwaverz, Bumett L) approved
the observations of Maurice Kay LY in in Secretary of State for the Home Departnent v
Mohamed [2014] | WLR 4240, at [20]:

“Lurking just below the surface of a case such as this 15 the governmental
policy of *neither confirm nor deny” ("NCND’), to which reference 15 made.
I do not doubt that there are circumstances in which the courts should respect
it. However, it 15 not a legal pnnciple. Indeed, it 15 a departure from
procedural norms relating to pleading and disclosure, It requires justification
similar to the position 1n relation to public interest immumty (ol which it 15 a
form of subset). It is not simply a matter of a governmental party to litigation
hoisting the NCND flag and the court automatically saluting it. Where statute
does not delineate the boundaries of open justice, it 15 for the court o do s0.”

Thus, where a party to itigation considers that pleading to an allegation, or disclosing
evidence relevant to it, would be contrary o the UK government’s NCND practice, il 15
not enough simply to “hoist the NOND flag”, i.e. invoke the practice. The party
concerned must assert public mterest immumty (PII). An assertion of PII requires a
certificate or statement, generally given personally by a Minister of the Crown,
identifving with particularity the matters to which the immunity 15 sad to antach,
explaiming the respects m which public disclosure of those matters would damage the
public interest and why it is considered that such damage outweighs the adverse effect of
non-disclosure on the administration of justice. The court must then consider the matenal
said to attract PIL. together with the reasons for asserting PII, and decide whether to
uphold the PII claim having considered for itself whether the harm that disclosure would
cause to the public interest outweighs the adverse effect of non-disclosure on the
administration of justice.

Where the court upholds a PII claim, the consequence is that the matenial which attracts
PII becomes inadmissible: AF Rewi v Securinv Service [2012] | AC 531, [41] (Lord
Dyson). That can give nise 1o a situation where one party 15 depnved by operation of law
of the evidence needed to pursue or defend the case. The court may then conclude that
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the case is untniable. In an ordinary civil claim where the party deprived of critical
evidence 15 the defendant, this may lead to the elaim bemng struck out: see e.g. Carndnfl
v Rock [2001] | WLR 1786. The Supreme Court in 47 Rawi appears to have accepted the
correctness in principle of the approach in Cervadiff, while noting that no other case had
been cited to them in which the operation of PII led to the conclusion that a tnal was
impaossible: see [16] { Lord Dyson), [108] (Lord Mance). It should be emphasised that in
an ordinary civil claim, even where very significant evidence attracts PII and is therefore
madmissible, the courts will stnive to find a way of trying the case and will generally
succeed.

The possibility of untnable claims was one reason advanced by the government in
support of the Bill that became the Justice and Security Act 2013, That provides for a
closed matenal procedure in which matenial whose disclosure would be damaging to one
particular public interest — UK national security — can be considered in the absence of
one or more of the parties, with special advocates appointed 10 attenvate the procedural
unfairness to which this arrangement gives rise. A separate statutory regime, under the
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, confers junsdiction on the Investigatory
Powers Tribunal, which operates a different closed procedure (o determine claims and
complaints relating to surveillance, interception and other activities on the part of the
intelligence services (among others).

Having considered the law relating to the NCND practice in some detail, we have come
to the clear conclusion that, contrary fo the submission of Lord Pannick, it is not relevant
to the issue now before us - the application of the FAS doctrine. Even in an ordinary
eivil claim, a conclusion of the kind reached in Carmduff v Rock that an issue is
“untriable” mvolves at least three steps: hrsl, a reasoned assertion of PII: second. a
decision by the court to uphold that assertion; and third, a judgment (of which there are
very few examples) that, as a result, the ¢laim or issue 15 “untriable™, If we were to accept
the father’s case based on the asserted practice of NCND 1n the UAE, we would be
bypassing all three of these important steps. Unlike in the case of a PIT claim. there is no
evidence before us as (o the NCND practice of Duban or the UAE. Even if there were,
there is no way in which we could properly conduct a balancing exercise akin to that
required when assessing a PII claim, because the public interest concerned is necessanly
a UK public interest. Even if Dubai or the UAE were party o these proceedings (which
it is not), the court would have no mechanism. and no standing, to balance the public
interests concemed.

Lord Pannick accepts all of this and contends that, because PI1 15 tnapt to accommodate
the legitimate national secunty interests of a foreign state, those interests can and should
instead be brought into account under the rubric of the FAS doctrine. We do not agree,
Mohewed and Al Fewweas demonstrate the need to assess. rather than simply assume, the
legitimacy of any invocation of the NCND practice. This court 1s in no position to assess
the legitimacy of the father’s invocation of that practice in this case, If we were 1o give
effect to that invocation under the guise of the FAS doctrine, we would be simply
“saluting the flag™ which the father had hoisted. to adopt Maurice Kay L1's memorahle
metaphor. We can see no reason why the court should simply accept a party's claim that
an issue is untriable on the basis of an unevidenced assertion as to the practice of the
government of a foreign state which is not party to the proceedings.



SR ANDREW AMCFARLANE P AND RE AL M
ME A1 5 LCE CILABERLALS
Approsed Judement

46

47

There are two further important points, which bolster our conclusion. First, it 15 not
surprising that the public interests which the court considers and balances in deciding
whether to uphold a PII claim are UK public interests. PII is a doctrine which permits
{and may indeed require) a party to litigation to withhold materials whose disclosure
would be damaging to a (UK) public interest, The docinne 15 necessary because UK
public authorities are amenable to the compulsory jurisdiction of the court. Foreign states
are not o0 amenable. They are entitled to assert state immunity if impleaded in a domestic
court, As we have noted, the father initiated these proceedings in his private capacity, not
in his capacity as Ruler of Dubai or Vice-President or Prime Minister of the UAE. Neither
Duban nor the UAE 15 a party to these proceedings. If any application were made against
them, they would be entitled to plead state immunity as of nght. There can be no question
of the court making any compulsory order against them, unless they were to consent to
the court’s junsdiction.

Secondly, the prnciple that the opermtion of PII may render a case untnable was
established in the context of a civil claim. The consequence 15 that the civil claim falls to
be struck out. The approach developed by the Family Court in wardship and other cases
relating to the welfare of children, whilst adhering to the ordinary principles of P11 15
less binary and may require the court, in the interests of the subject cluld, to adopt a
process which allows consideration of material covered by PIT in a “closed” pant of the
proceedings: see for example President's Guidance (8 Ocrober 2015} Radicalisation
Cases i the Family Conrts and Re C (Care Proceedings: Diselosure) [2016] EWHC
3171 (Fam), [2017] | FLR 1665.

The scope af the FAS doctrine

a8

49

The contours of the FAS doctrine are not yet wholly defined. They were, however,
considered recently by a seven-justice panel ol the Supreme Court in Belligf v Straw, The
cournt was considering two appeals. The first (8elliay) was from the Court of Appeal. That
was a private law action in which the claimants sought damages against those said to be
responsible for the participation of UK mtelligence agencies in a plan to detain, kKidnap
and deliver them to Colonel Gadaffi's regime 1n Libya, where they were detained extra-
judicially and suffered mistreatment including torture. The defendants pleaded defences
of state immunity and FAS. The second appeal was from Leggatt J at first instance in the
case of Ralmnatullah v Minisirv Defence, in which the claimant sought damages for
mustreatment by US authonties into whose custody he claimed he had been delivered by
UK armed forces.

The government appellants argued that the FAS doctnine applied in both cases to prevent
the English court from adjudicating upon “all acts of foreign states in the exercise of their
soverelgn governmental authonty™: see note of argument at 1040A. As to the termtonial
apphcation of the doctrine, they argued as follows at 1041E-G:

“Where acts of a foreign state are alleged to have occurred on United
Kingdom territory, the Unmted Kingdom’s own sovereignty comes into the
equation since what is in 1ssue is the power of the English court to adjudicate.
Where a foreign state chooses to act within United Kingdom termtory and
Parliament has determined that it would not have state immunity, it would
not be an exorbitant arrogation of power for an English court fo judge those
acts: see 4 Lid v B Bank {Bank of X tntervering) [1997] FSR 165. In respect
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of acts occurning in the United Kingdom, the United Kingdom has a special
status as a result of sovereign territory. Therefore, 1t accords with the
rationale underpinning foreign act of state to limit the doctrine so that it does
not apply to such acts. But if a United Kingdom court were to presume fo
Judge the acts of a foreign state on the temitory of another foreign state, the
United Kingdom court would be acting contrary to sovereign equality.™

The court was unanimous as to the result: the FAS defences did not apply. There were
four judgments. The first was given by Lord Mance, the second by Lord Neuberger (with
whom Lord Wilson agreed), the third by Lady Hale and Lord Clarke and the fourth by
Lord Sumption (with whom Lord Hughes agreed). Lady Hale and Lord Clarke sumply
agreed with the reasoming and conclusion of Lord Neuberger. They also noted that Lord
Mance had reached the same conclusion “for essentially the same reasons™, We therefore
start with the judgments of Lord Neuberger and Lord Mance. They agreed that the FAS
doctning did not apply at all on the facts of the Belfigr and Ralmwatullah cases. Given the
reliance placed by Lord Pannick on parts of the judgment of Lord Sumption, however, it
will be necessary to consider that judgment in some detail too. In dong so, it 15 important
to bear in mind that he and Lord Hughes differed from the majority on the applicability
of the FAS doctrine, though they agreed that the public policy exception applied.

Lord Neuberger began at [1 | 8] by summanising the FAS doctnine mn this way: “the courts
of the United Kingdom will not readily adjudicate upon the lawfulness or validity of
sovereign acts of foreign states”. The doctrine, he sad, “applies to claims which, while
not made against the foreign states concerned, involve an allegation that a foreign state
has acted unlawfully”, He went on at [ 120]-[123] to say that there were three or possibly
four niles which had been treated as aspects of the docinne. The first rule was that “the
courts of this country will recognise, and will not question, the effect of a foreign states
legislation or other laws in relation to any acts which take place or take effect within the
territory of that state”. The second was that “the courts of this country will recognise, and
will not question, the effect of an act of a foreign states executive in relation to any acts
which take place or take effect within the termitory of that state™.

The third rule had more than one component, but each involved “issues which are
mappropriate for the courts of the United Kingdom (o resolve because they involve a
challenge to the lawfulness of the act of a foreign state which is of such a npature that a
municipal judge cannot or ought not rule on it". Thus, “the courts of this country will not
mnterpret or question dealings bebween sovereign states™ of which obvious examples were
“making war and peace, making treaties with foreign sovereigns, and annexations and
cessions of terrtory™. Sumilarly, they would not “determine the legality of acts of a
foreign government i the conduct of foreign affairs™, Another aspect of the third rule
was that “international treaties and conventions, which have not become incorporated
mto domestic law by the legislature, cannot be the source of domestic rights or duties
and will not be interpreted by our courts”, since domestic courts “should not normally
determine 1ssues which are only really appropnate for diplomatic or similar channels™.
The latter proposition was established by the decision of the Supreme Court in Shergill
v Klnaira [2015] AC 359, at [40]-[41].

Lord Neuberger then identified a “possible™ fourth rule, which had been described by
Rix L in Yukos Capital SARL v OJSC Rosneft il Co (No. 2) [2014) QB 458, [65], that
the courts would “not investigate acts of a foreign state where such an investigation
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would embarrass the government of our own country™. Rix LI had added the caveat that
“this doctrine only anises as a result of the commumication from our own Foreign Office™,

In the present case, the father has at no point relied on either the first or the second rule.
We do not, therefore, need to express any view about the scope of those rules. He did at
one stage rely on the {possible) fourth rule, but since the FCDO has declined to make any
representations, he now accepts that it cannot assist him. We do not, therefore, need to
express any view either on its existence or on its scope,

This means that we must focus on the thard rule. Lord Neuberger's consideration of that
rule was in the context of a pnivate law claim. At [144], he said this:

“There is no doubt as to the existence of the third rule in relation to property
and property rights. Where the Doctrine applies, it serves to defeat what
would otherwise be a perfectly valid private law claim, and, where 1t does
not apply, the court 1s not required to make any finding which is binding on
a foreign state. Accordingly, it seems to me that there is force in the argument
that, bearing in mind the importance which both the common law and the
Human Rights Convention attach to the right of access to the courts. judges
should not be enthusiastic in declining 1o determine a claim under the third
rule. On the other hand, even following the growth of judicial review and the
enactment of the Human Rights Act 1998, judges should be wary of
accepling an invitation 10 determine an issue which is, on analysis, not
appropriate for judicial assessment.”

Al [146], Lord Neuberger noted that the third rule was “based on judicial self-restraint
and is, at least in part, concerned with arrangements between states and is not limited to
acts within the temitory of the state in question, whereas the first and second rules are of
a more hard-edged nature and are almost always concerned with acts of a single state,
normally within its own territory™ At [147], he continued as follows:

“The third rule may be engaged by unilateral sovereign acts (e.g. annexation
of another state) but, in practice, it almost always only will apply to actions
involving more than one state (as indeed does annexation). However, the fact
that more than one sovereign state is involved in an action does not by any
means justify the view that the third rule, rather than the second, 1s potentially
engaged. The fact that the executives of two different states are involved in
a particular action does nol, in my view at any rate, automatically mean that
the third rule 15 engaged. In my view, the third rule will normally involve
some sort of comparatively formal, relatively high-level arrangement, but,
beanng in mind the nature of the third rule, it would be unwise to be oo
prescriptive about its ambit.”

At [150], Lord Neuberger characterised the first rule as a general principle of private
mternational law. The second rule, to the extent that it existed, was also close to being
such a pnneiple. The third rule, however, was “based on judicial self-restramnt, in that o
applies to 1ssues which judges decide that they should abstain from resolving™ [151]. At
this point, he made reference to the discussion of Lord Mance at [40]-[45] and of Lord
Sumption at [234]-[239) and [244], Finally, he noted that the third rule, unlike the first
two, was based purely on the common law and “has no intemational law basis™.
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Lord Mance stated the third rule as follows at [1 1{m)}: “a domestic court will treat as
non-justiciable — or, to use language perhaps less open to misinterpretation. abstain or
refrain from adjudicating upon or questioning — certain categories of sovereign acts by a
foreign state abroad, even 1f they occur outside the foreign state’s junsdiction™, Al
[LL{1v}], the appellants’ case that the rule covered “all sovereign fiure imperii) acts by a
foreign state anywhere abroad outside the jurisdiction of the domestic court has
junsdiction 15 an issue™ was rejected, The third rule was “not limited territorially™ but
the question whether the 1ssue was non-justiciable fell to be considered on a case-by-case
basis. In deciding that question, it would be relevant to take mto account considerations
both of separation of powers and of the sovereign nature of foreign state or inter-state
activities. However, English law would also have regard to “the extent to which the
fundamental rights of liberty, access to justice and freedom from torture were engaged
by the 1ssues raised”.

The passages of Lord Mance's judgment referred to by Lord Neuberger included at [42]
a discussion of the decision of the House of Lords in Burres Gas and Ol Co v Hammer
fNo. 31 |1982] AC 888, which raised “a whole series of boundary and other international
and inter-state law 1ssues”™. Lord Wilberforce had said at p. 938 of his speech in that case
that these 1ssues had “only 1o be stated to compel the conclusion that these are not issues
upon which a municipal courl can pass™ There were “no judicial or manageable
standards by which to judge these i1ssues”, with the result that “the court would be in a
judicial no-man's land™.

Lord Mance went on at [43] to cite Shergill v Khaira, which had recogmsed two
categories of case which were non-justiciable: the first where the 1ssue was "beyond the
constitutional competence assigned to the courts under our conception of the separation
of powers™ and the second including “i1ssues of intemational law which engage no private
right of the claimant or reviewable question of public law™. At [44], Lord Mance
explained that the government appellants formulated the third rule as providing that “a
domestic court will not adjudicate upon any sovereign or fure fmperii act committed by
a foreign state anywhere abroad™. That formulation would lead to a “dramatic expansion
of the scope of foreign governmental act of state as a bar to domestic adjudication against
defendants otherwise amenable to the Enghish junisdiction™.

Lord Sumption at [225] identified two rationales for the FAS doctrine. The first was
sometimes called "comity™ but was better understood as “an awareness that the courts of
the United Kingdom are an organ of the United Kingdom™ and that “the courts must
respect the sovereignty and autonomy of other states”™, The second was the constitutional
doctrine of the separation of powers, which “assigns the conduct of foreign affairs to the
executive”, Lord Sumption went on at [227] to 1dentify two (not three or four) principles:
municipal law act of state and international law act of state. The former encompassed
Lord Neuberger's first and second rules. The latier covered cases concerning “the
transactions of sovereign states”. That principle 15 summansed at [234] as follows: “the
English courts will not adjudicate on the lawfulness of the extraterritonial acts of foreign
states 1n their dealings with other states or the subjects of other states™, Lord Sumplion
cited a number of authorities for that proposition, the most recent of which was R (Kl
v Secretary af State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs [2014] 1| WLR 872, in which
the FAS doctnine had been applied in a judicial review claim seeking declaratory relief
as to the legality of an alleged practice by UK intelligence agencies of sharing locational



SIRANDREW MCFARLANE | AND RE AL M
ME A1 5 LCE CULAMBERLALS
Aporoved Judement

62

63

mtelligence with the LIS authorities to assist the CIA in launching drone sirikes against
suspected terrorists in Pakistan,

Lord Sumption went on to explain the pustification for the international law act of state
principle as follows:

“Once such acts are classified as acts of state, an English court regards them
as being done on the plane of international law, and their lawfulness can be
yudged only by that law. It 1s not for an English domestic court to apply
mnternational law to the relations between states, sinee it cannot give nse lo
private nghts or obligations. Nor may it subject sovereign acts of a foreign
state to its own rules of municipal law or ( by the same token) 1o the municipal
law of a third country... if a foreign state deploys force m mtemational space
or on the territory of another state, it would be extraordinary for an English
court 1o treat these operations as a mere private law tort giving nise to ¢ivil
liabilities for personal injury, trespass, conversion, and the like.”

Al [236], Lord Sumption noted that the cases m which the FAS doctrine had been
confined to acts within the termtory of the state concerned were all examples of the first
principle (municipal law act of state). At [237], he said that, with international law act of
state, the position was different: “where the question 1s the lawfulness of a state’s acts m
its dealings with other states and their subjects, the act of state doctrine applies wherever
the relevant act of the foreign state occurs (save, arguably, if it occurred in the United
Kingdom)". The reason for this was “again, inherent in the principle itself”, which was
concemned with “acts whose lawfulness can be determuned only by reference to
mternational law, which has no territornial bounds”. Lord Sumpltion went on to give some
examples, on which Lord Pannick placed considerable emphasis:

“In the nature of things a soverelgn act done by a state in the course of its
relations with other states will commonly occur outside its territorial
junsdiction, States maintam embassies and military bases abroad. They
conduct military operations outside their own ternitory. ey engage in
irmtelligence garhering. They operate military ships and aircrafi. All of these
are sovereign acts. The paradigm cases are acts of force in intemational space
or on the territory of another state.” (Emphasis added. )

A close analysis of the judgments in Belliyf enables us to draw the following conclusions
about the scope of the third rule identified by Lord Neuberger in that case:

{a)

(b)

(c)

Although the rule applies to acts which fall to be judged “on the plane of
international law™, it is not iself a rule of international law. It is an artefact of the
commeon law: see Lord Neuberger at [150].

The rule 1s based on “judicial self-restraint™ or abstention: see Lord Mance at
[11{iv}], Lord Neuberger at [146] and [150]. It prevents the determination of 1ssues
wlich 1t would be mappropnate for the courts of the United Kingdom 1o resolve:
Lord Neuberger [123] and [144].

The rule can in principle extend 1o acts taking place or having effects outside the
territory of the foreign state concerned: Lord Mance at [ | 1{11}]; Lord Neuberger at
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[146]; Lord Sumption at [237]. However, even the government appellants did not
contend that the rule applied to acts done or having effects in the UK (see the note
of argument at 104 1E-G) and Lord Sumption accepted at [237] that it was arguable
that the doctrine did not apply to such acts.

{d) Likewise, the rule can in principle extend to unilateral acts. However, the acts to
which the rule applies will “almost always™ be ones involving more than one state
and will “normally™ involve “some sort of comparatively formal. relatively high-
level arrangement”, but these are not hard-edged requirements for the application
of the rule;: Lord Neuberger at [147].

(e} A paradigm instance of the application of the rule is the case where there are “no
judicial or manageable standards™ by which the domestic court can resolve the
1ssue or where “the court would be in a judicial no-man’s land™ Lord Wilberforce
in Buites Gas, cited by Lord Mance at [44] in a passage referred to by Lord
Neuberger at [150].

i}  In considerng whether the rule prevents it from examining a particular 1ssue, the
court will have regard to the extent to which fundamental nghts and access to
Justice are engaged by the 1ssue: Lord Mance at [1 1{iv}]; Lord Neuberger at [ 144].

It should be plain from this distillation that deciding in a particular case whether a
particular issue is covered by Lond Neuberger's third rule requires & careful analysis of
the nature of the act, the legal standards by which it 1s to be judged, whether the issue
engages fundamental rights or access to justice and. in the light of all these matters,
whether the 1ssue 15 constitutionally and institutionally suitable for determination by a
domestic court. The fact that the issue concerns a sovereign (inre fmperii) act does not
on its own make it non-justiciable: see the express rejection of the appellant’s formulation
of the rule by Lord Mance at [11{iv)] and [44] and. more generally, the decision of the
majority that the acts complained of, though plainly sovereign acts, were not covered by
the third rule. Conftrary to the submission advanced by Lord Pannick, Lord Neuberger's
reference at [151] to Lord Sumption’s judgment cannot have been intended to suggest
that the third rule covers every act within the categones described by Lord Sumption at
{237]. Otherwise, the nuanced, case-by-case approach espoused by Lord Neuberger and
Lord Mance to the decision whether any particular issue is non-justiciable would be
wholly unnecessary.

Does the “third rule” apply in this case?

Ll

The analysis in Bellqgy proceeds on the footing that the acts complained of were all
soverelgn or fure imperii acts. It 1s not obvious to us that that 1s so here. If, for example,
1t were proven that the father had used state agents to hack the phones of those associated
with the mother for his own personal ends, we doubt whether the acts concerned could
properly be described as sovereign acts at all. But. for the purposes of deciding whether
the FAS doctrine applies, we are prepared to assume in the father’s favour that the
allegations do indeed involve sovereign acts on the part of Dubai and/or the UAE. We
have applied the principles set out above on that basis. Having done so, the present case
seems to us to have five material features, all pomting in the same direction.
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First, the acts alleged were directed against, and had direct effects on, persons in the
United Kingdom and within the junsdiction of this court. If proven, they would also
constifute a serious interference with the process of this court. That distinguishes this
case from R (Khani v Secretary of State for Foreign and Commomwealth Affairs, which
15 generally regarded as a rare or umque example of the application of the third rule to
acts taking place outside the termitory of the state concerned. It 1s not necessary for us to
express a view on whether acts directed at persons in the United Kingdom and designed
to interfere with the process of a United Kingdom court could ever attract the operation
of the FAS doctrine. The fact that the alleged acts were so directed 15 on any view an
unportant factor to be bome in mind.

Secondly, and relatedly, the legality of the alleged acts falls to be judged by reference to
the criminal and civil law of England, not by reference to international law, let alone
contested international law. This 15 not a case in which the court lacks “judicial or
manageable standards” by which to resolve the dispute, The court 15 not in a “judicial no-
man’s land". The central rationale for the application of the FAS doctnine in Buires Gas
{the leading case prior to Belliay) does not apply.

Thirdly, the acts alleged are not only umilateral (in the sense that they do not mvolve
dealings or transactions between states); they do not even involve any other state. There
15 no obvious basis on which 1t could be said that they fall to be judged “on the plane of
international law™.

Fourthly, the acts alleged engage the fundamental privacy nghts of the mother and
(derivatively) the children. Privacy “lies at the heart of liberty in the modem state™
Campbell v MGN Lid [2004] 2 AC 457, | 12] {Lord Nicholls). It 1s protected both by the
common law and by the ECHR. The acts alleged were also interferences with the
mother’s nght of access (o justice. All of this seems to us to be relevant 1o the decision
whether we should “abstain™ from adjudicating on them.

Fifthly, and in the light of the foregoing matters, to adjudicate on the mother's allegations
would not demonstrate any lack of respect for the principles of comity or the sovereign
equality of states. On the contrary, a decision to abstamn from adjudicating on these
allegations would seem to us 10 undercut the Unmited Kingdom's sovereignty and to be
inconsistent with the duty of the court, as an organ of the United Kingdom. to secure to
the fullest possible extent the welfare of its wards.

We accordingly conclude that the FAS doctrine is not engaged.

The public policy exception

73

The existence of a public policy exception to the third rule was accepted by Lord
Neuberger in lus judgment in Belligy at [157], At [168], he sand that treatment which
amounted to a breach of ins cogens or peremptory norms would almost always fall within
it, but that:

“because the Doctrine 15 domestic in nature, and in agreement with Lord
Mance and Lord Sumption JJSC, I do not consider that it 1s necessary for the
claimant to estabhsh that the treatment of which he complains erosses the
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international law hurdle before he can defeat a contention that the third rule
apphes”,

Lord Sumption said this at [250]:

*To say of a nule of law or an exception to that rule that it 15 based on public
policy does not mean that its application 15 discretionary according to the
court’s mstinct about the value of the policy in each particular case. But rules
of judge-made law are rarely absolute, and this one hike any other falls to be
reviewed as the underlying pohicy considerations change or become
redundant, or as it encounters conflicting pelicy considerations which may
not have ansen or have the same significance before.”

At [268], Lord Sumption said that it would not be consistent with English public policy
to apply the FAS doctrine so as to prevent the court from determining allegations of
torture. At [278], he reached the same conclusion in relation to allegations of extra-
judicial detention and rendition.

Further guidance on the application of the public policy exception i1s provided by the
Court of Appeal In the Law Debenrure Trust case, In that case, the claimant sued for the
repavment of transferable Eurobond notes held by Russia. The Court held that the public
policy exception applied so as to permit Ukraine to rely on a defence of duress based on
acts done by Russia on the basis of which Ukraine said it had 15sued the notes. The Court
relied on six matters which had cumulative effect: [174]. The fourth was that there was
“nothing inherently non-justiciable or unmanageable in the legal standards which the
English court would be called on to apply in detenmining whether Ukraine’s duress
defence is made out™. That was so despite the fact these were international law standards.
The fifth matter was that the court would not, by adjudicating, usurp or cul across the
proper role of the executive government. which has the pnmary responsibility for
carrying on Umited Kingdom's foreign affars. It follows that the constitutional
considerations identified in Shergill v Khaira and Bures Gas did not tell agains
adjudication: [179].

Lord Panmick accepts that, in assessing the public policy exception. the court 15
conducting a balancing exercise. He submuts that the balance falls on the side of declining
junsdiction because:

{a) the present allegations concern matters less serious than alleged torture, unlawful
detention and rendition;

{b) nvestigahon would mtrude into matters at the core of state actions in the field of
intelligence and security;

(¢) nvestigation would also require the court to assess and determine the competing
likelthood of another state being responsible for any hacking {in order to discredit
the father); and

{d) the father would be unable to defend the allegations, as to do so would involve him
disclosing details of the intelligence and secunty operations of Dubai and the UAE.
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The analysis in Law Debenture Truse seems to us to mdicate that many of the factors
relevant to the engagement of the third rule are also potentially relevant to the application
of the public policy exception. Indeed. if the relevance of a particular factor 15 accepted,
1t may matter hittle whether it 15 understood as relevant 1o the engagement of the rule or
the exception: see Bellaf [89] {Lord Mance) and [248] { Lord Sumption).

Accordingly, if, contrary to our view, Lord Neuberger's third rule applies at all, the five
matters set out at [67]-[71] above would together justify the engagement of the public
policy exception. We consider that these matters outweigh the pomnts to the contrary
made by Lord Pannick, most of which relate to the extent of the court’s investigation
{which will be at all tumes under the control of the court), rather than the decision to
undertake that investigation.

In the context of publiec policy we would particularly stress that the court’s obligaton to
secure the welfare of its wards supplies a particularly strong public interest. which 1s
lacking in purely commercial or other private law contexts, in favour of adjudication. So
does the fact that the allegations involve an interference with the court”™s own process. In
those circumstances, we consider that it would be mimical to the rule of law, and for that
reason contrary to English public policy, if the court were unable to investigate and
adjudicate upon those allegations.

Conclusion

dl

For these reasons, we conclude that the FAS doctrine does not prevent the court from
adjudicating on the mother’s allegations,
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Sir Andrew MceFarlane P:

By an application dated | | November 2020 Her Royal Highness Princess Haya Bint Al
Hussein (“the mother™) seeks to vary and extend a non-molestation order initially made
on 2 March 2020, The respondent to the application 1s His Highness Sheikh Mohammed
bin Rashid Al-Makhtoum (“the father™).

The application to vary 1s unusual in that the behaviour that the mother seeks to control
by a revised injunction falls, in part, outside the ordinary categonies of behaviour which
are typically covered by non-molestation ijpunctions granted by the family court under
the Family Law Act 1996 ['FLA 1996"]). In recent tumes the mother has become aware
that the father, or at least trustees of an extended famuly trust of which the [ather 15 one
of the beneficianes, was in the final stages of agreeing the purchase of a substantial
estate which immediately abuts the mother’s family home in Berkshire, The mother's
application therefore seeks to prohibit the father, or those acting on s behalf, from
proceeding with the acquisition of any interest whatsoever in that property and
acquiring any nlerest i or renting any property or land whose boundary falls wathin a
widely drawn zone in the locality of the mother’s property. In addition, the apphcation
seeks to prolubit activity near to her property esther on the ground or in the air.

The application is strongly resisted by the father. It is, however, supported by the
children's guardian who acts for the parents’ two children in ongoing wardship
procecdings.

d

In a judgment handed down on || December 2019 I made extensive findings of fac!
with respect to the father’s past behaviour and its impact on the mother and their
relationship (Re Al M (Fact-Finding) [2019] EWHC 2415 (Fam)). In that judgment, in
addition to finding that the father had been responsible for the capture and enforced
removal of two of his older daughters, | made further findings with respect to
allegations made by the mother that the father had conducted a campaign of fear and
intumidation againsl her {paragraph 168 onwards). | found {at paragraph 174) that “the
cumulative effect of each of these episodes was to place the mother m a position of
great fear leading her to conclude that she had no option but to leave Dubar with the
children ..." Further, | concluded that the father had deliberately used connections with
the press to generate hostile stories aimed at destabilising and harming her {paragraph
176). The overall conclusion {at paragraph 180) was that the mother had largely proved
all of the allegations that she made on the balance of probabilities and “that the father
has therefore acted mn a manner from the end of 2018 which has been aimed at
intimidating and frightening the mother, and that he had encouraged others to do so on
his behalf.”

More recently the mother has made further allegations against the father, or those acting
on his behalf, At present those allegations are unproved and the court 15 in the process
of managing the proceedings towards a further factfinding heaning.
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Proposed property purchase

10.

11.

12.

13.

In addition to property in central London, the mother has a family home at “Castlewood
House™ in Berkshire near to Windsor Great Park which was lefi to her by her late father
King Hussein of Jordan on his death [*Castlewood'].

Following the factfinding hearing in December 2019, but prior to the publication of the
court’s judgment, the mother learnt that those acting for the father were actively
engaged in purchasing properties or land close to Castlewood. As well as interest being
shown in a particular property which had also been owned by the mother’s late father,
the mother leamned that one firm of estate agents had sold four properties to a lugh
profile Dubai based family mm the previous three months (around the factfinding
hearing). The mother recognised the names of those responsible for negotiating the
purchases as bemng the father’s London agents.

On 20 February 2020 the mother’s solicitors wrote to father’s solicitors asking for
confirmation that neither the father, nor those acting on s behalf, would remt or
purchase land or bwldings close to the mother's homes in London or Berkshire. [t took
one month for the father’s solicitors to respond to that request, When they did, they
confirmed that a trust which owns properties in or around the Ascol area had been
involved in the property market. The response confirmed that enquines had been made
i 2013 with respect to the other property that King Hussein had owned and went on to
state “no further enquines have been made by our client or anyone acting on s behall
since then.” No further details were given.

The high level of concern that the mother had about the potential for the father to
purchase property close to her home was a matter referred to by her in statements, and
position statements, filed with the court throughout the summer of 2020.

In the autumn of 2020, the mother recerved information that those acting on the father’s
behalf were in the process of purchasing the Parkwood estate [*Parkwood’]. Parkwood
15 a sevenlv-seven-acre estale situated 1n an elevated posiion overlooking Castlewood
and immediately adjacent to i

On 14, 19 and 23 October the mother's solicitors wrote to the father’s solicitors setting
out her concem at the prospect of the father, or those connected with lhum, purchasing
property adjoining Castlewood and asking for information. No reply was received o
any of those three letters. The matter had also been raised in a position statement filed
for a court hearing on 30 October. No substantive response to the point was made on
behalf of the father.

On 3 November 2020, following a direct request from the court for them to reply, those
acting for the father accepted that a trust which had been acquinng properties for use
by members of the ruling family and their staff was indeed in the process of buying the

Parkwood estate and that exchange of contracts “may take place within the next few
weeks™,

It was against that background that the mother 1ssued her application to vary the non-
molestation injunction to prevent the purchase of Parkwood proceeding and to prohibn
the father, or those acting for him, from purchasing other properties in the surrounding
darea.
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14.

In early November those acting for the father indicated that the proposed purchase of
Parkwood was no longer going to proceed, However, the mother, in her statement to
the court, stated that this information did not reduce the level of anxiety that she felt.
She stated:

“It feels as if | am being stalked, that there 1s literally nowhere
for me o go to be safe from (the father), or those acting in his
interests. It 1s hugely oppressive. To know that a property was
being purchased just minutes away for the benefit of (the father)
and which overlooks Castlewood 15 just  completely
overwhelming, [ simply will not feel safe, even in our own
garden, wondering whether someone 15 in residence, and
whether they are watching.”

Later in her statement the mother says:

“The prospect of Sheikh Mohammed, or those on lus behall
buying the properties around Castlewood 1s ternifying and utterly
wearing. It feels hike the walls are closing in on me, that T cannot
profect the children and that we are not safe anywhere. | feel hke
I am defending myself against a whole “state”™. Even in our own
home they will be towering over us, [ have described how | have
felt pinned down by Sheikh Mohammed in this hitigation. This
suggested purchase and the prospect of others close by makes
that all the more real. T feel like [ cannot breathe anymore; it feels
like being suffocated. | don™t want the children to live with the
kind of fear that punctuates my existence at all times. They do
not deserve this.”

Ihe application to vary

13.

16.

17.

The mother's application seeks to prohibit the father, or those acting on his behalf,
from:

ia) entening, at ground level, a restneted zone surrounding Castlewood;

{b) entenng the airspace above ground level at 1.000 feet or below in a 700-metre radius
around Castlewood;

{¢) proceeding with the acquisition of any interest whatsoever m Parkwood:

{d) acquining any interest in or renting any property or land whose boundary falls within
a more widely drawn restricted zone.

In addition, the mother seeks a direction that the father should provide responses to a
series of guestions from the mother’s solicitors relating to the proposed, bul now
abandoned, purchase of the Parkwood estate.

On behalf of the [ather, the mother’s application 1s robustly opposed on the basis that,
as well as being fundamentally flawed, the relief sought by the mother 1s unprecedented,
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18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23,

24.

draconian and unnecessary. It is submitted that, as the proposed purchase of Parkwood
has now been discontinued, there 15 no continung basis for a vanation of the imjuncion,

Separately the father, correctly, asserts that there 15 no evidence at all that he, or anyone
acting on his behalf, has been in close proximity to Castlewood. Although the father
has for a long time had the use of an estate that 15 relatively close to Castlewood, there
15 no evidence that he, or those acting on lus behalf, either at ground level or in the air,
have behaved in any way which might be regarded as molestation. The father’s primary
case, therefore, 1s that there is no evidential basis for the mother’s application.

Further, Lord Pannick QC, leading counsel for the father, submits that the extension
sought by the mother cannot be qustified as a matter of law. Refermng 1o established
authonty, to which [ will turn shortly, Lord Pannick submits that the law prior to the
FLA 1996 established thai “molestation™ means deliberate conduct of sufficient
seriousness to warmrant the intervention of the court. In circumstances where the mother
already has the benefit of a protective injunction, it 15 necessary for her to demonstrate
that further orders are necessary to prevent a different molestation by the father; this,
he submits, the mother cannot do.

Lord Panmick asserts that there 15 no reporied case in which the courts have considered
the question of whether there 15 junsdiction under FLA 1996, s 42 to impose an
exclusion zone as part of a non-molestation order, Even if such a junsdiction exists, he
submts that the extent of the zone ongmally sought by the mother, covering the whole
of Windsor Great Park and bevond, 1s wholly without justification.

With respect to a prohibition of property purchase, Lord Pannick submits that property
purchase iself cannot amount to moelestation. In addition, he submuts that the court does
not have junsdichon to regulate the conducl of the trustees of the famly trust. That
submission 15 accepted by Mr Charles Geekie QC, leading counsel for the mother. In
those circumstances, therefore, Lord Panmck submits that the court should not exercise
its jurisdiction to make an mjunction which cannot bite on those who would actually be
involved in any property purchase, namely the trustees.

The hearing of the application was, for practical reasons, spread between two court
days. Following observations made dunng submussions on the first day, the scale of the
ground and property purchase exclusion zones was radically reduced when the
proceedings returned to court on the second day, so that the ground exclusion is now
limited to a radius of 100 metres around the boundary of Castlewood, together with the
access road that leads to and past the property. The property purchase exclusion zone
was reduced to cover a range of substantial estates in the immediate area of Castlewood,

When considering the mother's revised and more modestly drawn application, Lord
Pannmick rightly cautioned the court that the scale of the various exclusion zones is
urelevant when, as the father submits, the court has no junisdiction to grant any such
order or the application 15 otherwise not supported by evidence and has no justification,

In a manner similar to that adopted by the father's counsel, Mr Geekie reviewed the
case law relating to “molestation”. Mr Geekie submts that the defimtion adopted by
the courts 15 wide and 15 in keeping with the defimition of “domestic abuse™ and
“coercive control™ as set out in Family Procedure Rules, Practice Direction |27 which
states:
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23.

26.

27,

28.

“*domestic abuse™ includes any incident or pattern of incidents
of controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, violence or
abuse between those aged 16 or over who are or have been
intimate partners or family members regardless of gender or
sexuality, This can encompass, bul 15 not lmted to,
psvchological, physical, sexual. financial, or emotional...”

L1 ]

coercive behaviour” means an act or a pattem of acts of
assault, threats, hurmihiation and intimidation or other abuse that
15 used 1o harm, punish or frighten the victim™,

Mr Geekie draws particular attention to FLA 1996, 5 42(5) which states;

“{ 5} In deciding whether to exercise its powers under this section
and. if so, in what manner, the court shall have regard to all the
circumstances including the need to secure the health, safety and
wellbeing

{a} of the apphicant; and
(b) of any relevant child.”

Mr Geekie submuts that the court plainly has junsdiction to include prolibition from
entening an exclusion zone within a non-molestation order. Reference 15 made to the
decision of Sir Nicholas Wall {President of the Famuly Division) in Re W {Feamily
Proceedings: Applications) [2011] EWHC 76 (Fam), [2011] 1 FLR 2163 in which the
court imposed an exclusion zone prohibiting a father from entenng any part of the
county of Wiltshire.

Reference is also made 1o Re T {4 clild: One parewn killed by otler parent) [2012] |
FLR 472, in which HHJ Bellamy, sitting as a High Court judge, having noted that the
provision of an exclusion zone was legally permissible under the terms of FLA 1996 as
part of an occupation order, held that, depending on the context of the case, it was
possible “to describe as “molestation™ the act of going within a defined radius of a
particular location™. Further, Judge Bellamy went on to hold, 1f his construction of FLA
1996 were too wide, that the court had power in any event to make an exclusion order
under its inherent jurisdiction.

In Mr Geekie’s submission the inherent junsdiction remains as an alternative basis to
support the making of an exclusion zone in this case.

Ms Deirdre Fottrell QC, leading counsel for the children’s guardian, on balance,
supports the mother’s application on the basis that the orders sought are likely to
provide the mother with reassurance and peace of mind wn circumstances where she has
expressed real anxiety and distress at the prospect of the father purchasing property so
close to her home, As the children's primary carer, such reassurance and peace of mind
can, submuts Ms Fottrell, only be to their benefit,
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The legal context: molestation

30.

The statutory power to make a non-molestation order 1s contained within FLA 1996, s
42, the relevant provisions of which are:

42, Mop-molestation orders

i1} Inthis Part a “non-molestation order™ means an order containing either or both of
the following provisions—

(a) provision prohibiting a person (“the respondent™) from molesting another
person who is associated with the respondent;

{b) provision prohibiting the respondent from molesting a relevant child,
i2) The court may make a non-molestation order

{a) if an apphecation for the order has been made {(whether in other famaly
proceedings or without any other family proceedings being instituted) by a person
who is associated with the respondent; or

{b) f n any family proceedings to which the respondent 15 a party the court
considers that the order should be made for the benefit of any other party to the
proceedings or any relevant child even though no such apphication has been made.

i3) In subsection (2) “famly proceedings™ includes proceedings in which the court

has made an emergency protection order under section 44 of the Children Act 1989
which includes an exelusion requirement {as defined in section 44A(3) of that Act).

(4) ...
(4ZA) ...

(4A) A court considering whether to make an occupation order shall also consider
whether to exercise the power conferred by subsection (2)(b),

(4B} Inthis Part “the applicant”, in relation to a non-molestation order, includes {where
the context permits) the person for whose benefit such an order would be or is made in
exercise of the power conferred by subsection {2)(b).

(5} In deciding whether o exercise its powers under this section and. if so, m whal
manner, the court shall have regard to all the circumstances including the need to secure
the health, safety and well-being-

(a) of the apphcant; and
{b) of any relevant child.

i6) A non-molestation order may be expressed so as to refer to molestation in general,
to particular acts of molestation, or to both.

{7} A non-molestation order may be made for a specified period or until further order,
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Az,

33,

34.

35.

(8} A non-molestation order which is made in other family proceedings ceases to have
effect if those proceedings are withdrawn or dismmssed.”

It 15 common ground that there 15 no defimtion of “molestation” in FLA 1996,
Reference has been made by all parties to the case law both pnor to the implementation
of the 1996 Act and thereafter. In particular, in C v C (Non-Molestation Ovrder:
Jrisdiction) [1998] | FLR 554, Sir Stephen Brown P held that molestation:

“imphies some quite deliberate conduct which 1s aimed at a high
degree of harassment of the other parly, so as to justify the
intervention of the court...It does not include enforcing an
invasion of pnvacy per se; there has to be some conduct which
clearly harasses and affects the applicant to such a degree that
the intervention of the court 15 called for.”

From Sir Stephen Brown's analysis, it is clear that the impact upon the applicant of the
behaviour 15 an important element in deciding whether or not some quite deliberate
conduct clearly harasses her or him.

Although in C v C [2001] EWCA {Civ) 1625, an order was made controlling conduct
which *was calculated to cause alarm and distress to the mother™, the courts have held
that the respondent’s intention 15 not a necessary element in establishung conduct which
amounis to molestation.

In Re T ¢4 Clildy [2017] EWCA (Civ) 1839, having referred to the earhier authorities,
| urged caution against attempts to narrow down the definition of “molestation™

*27. In the decades that have followed those judicial utterances
those sitting in the Famuly Court have, on a day by day, case by
case, basis, deploved good sense and judgment in determining
whether or not particular conduct amounts to “molestation”, In
my view this cour should continue to be very wary of offening
any further precision in the definition.™

Later in the same judgment [ went on to state:

“42, When determining whether or not particular conduct 15
sufficient to justify granting a non-molestation order, the
primary focus, as established in the consistent approach of earlier
authority, 15 upon the “harassment™ or “alarm and distress™
caused to those on the recerving end. It must be conduct of “such
a degree of harassment as to call for the mmtervention of the
court”, Although m € v € the phrase “was calculated to cause
alarm and distress™ was used, none of the authorities require that
a positive intent to molest must be established.™

Whal 15 necded to justify the imtervention of the court 15 some form of deliberate
conduct which has the effect on the applicant of harassment to such a degree that the
court’s protection is called for, The negative impact on the applicant can include
elements of psychological and'or emotional harm. The conduct of the respondemt,
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whilst being deliberate, does not need to have been with the intention of causing that
harm.

Legal Context: Exclusion Zone
36, Itis important to be clear that the analysis that follows relates to this case and to similar

37,

38.

39,

cases where an exclusion provision 15 sought that would nol interfere with a
respondent’s existing right to occupy property by virtue of an estate or interest in the
property or *home rights™ as defined by FLA 1996, s 30, The power under FLA 1996
to regulate the occupation of property and, il justified, impose an exclusion zone around
the relevant property, is contained in 55 30 to 38. This case concerns the court’s power
to prohibit entry to a prescnibed zone in order to protect an applicant rom molestation
under FLLA 1996, 5 42, in circumstances where the prohibition would not interfere with
any existing property rights.

When granting an “occupation order™ the FILA 1996 expressly provides that the court
may exclude a respondent from a defined area in which the relevant dwelling house 15
mncluded (see FLA 1996, ss 33(3)(g), 35(5Nd), 36{5)d), 37(3)d) and 38(3)(d)). No
similar express statutory provision i1s made with respect to the court’s power to make a
“non-molestation order” under FLA 1906, 5 42,

It 15 of note that commentators regard it as only *arguable” that a non-molestation order
can include provision to exclude a respondent from a defined area (“Ewmergency
Remedies in the Family Conrt™ para E 3.11 and “Reavdern and Jackson on Relationslip
Breakdown, Finances and Clildven™ para [ 26.351]-[26.360]). Nevertheless, the editors
of Revden and Jackson observe:

“However, whereas an order keeping a respondent away from
premises they had already vacated, and excluding them from a
zone around such premises. were onginally also seen only as
occupation orders, it has become standard practice to include an
exclusion zone order in a non-molestation order, especially smnce
the change in the law in 2007 when breaches of a non-
maolestation order became criminal offences.” (FLA 1996, 5 424
inserted by Domestic Violence, Crime and Vietims Act 2004)

It is, however, of note that the editors of Fanily Conrt Practice 2020 in commentary to
FLA 1996, 5 42 under the heading * Wording af non-molestarion orders™ (para 2.593
(1]} include the following template provision in a specimen non-molestation order
forbidding a respondent to:

*{2) come wittun [ | 00] metres of [address];"
The commentary continues

“a “stay away" clause, such as in (2) above, could be expressed
as parl of an occupation erder but 1t 15 nol necessary lo make an
occupation order solely for that purpose and [it] can be included
in & non-molestation order, Such a provision should not be
included as a matter of routine, must be proportionate and
necessary and supported by evidence (£ v & [2014] EWFC 48).
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40.

41.

42.

43,

43.

46.

A “get out” order, i.e. an order requiring a party to leave, cannot
form part of a non-molestation order and must be made as part
of an occupation order.”

As | have recorded in paragraph 39, whilst some commentators may regard the point as
arguable, the decisions in Re W of Sir Nicholas Wall in 2011 and HHI Bellamy in Re T
in 2012 are elear and authontative examples of the jurisdiction being accepted. That
this is so was also expressly acknowledged in the judgment of Peter JacksonJm R v R
(Family Court: Procedural Fairness) [2014] EWFC 48:

“Extra mjunctive provisions such as exclusion areas and orders
probibiting any direct commumeation between parties should
not be routinely included in non-molestation orders. They are
senous infringements of a person’s freedom of action and
require specific evidence to justify them.”

In 50 far as a pomnl 15 made by drawing attention to the express stalulory provision
permitting the inclusion of an exclusion zone m an occupation order, whereas there 15
no similar express statutory provision in FLA 1996, s 42 regarding a non-molestation
order, it 15 right to observe that the structure of 5 42 15 in very different terms
to those sections which deal with occupation orders. FLA 1996, 55 33-38, which provide
for the exclusion of an individual from a property that they would otherwise be entitled
o occupy, are narmowly drawn and are expheit as to the elements that such an order
may contain. Given the purpose of such orders, the need for a parrow and explicit
demarcation of the court’s powers 15 understandable.

The structure of section 42 15 different. The purpose of 5 42 15 focussed upon protection
and does not involve regulation of property nghts. It 1s therefore understandable that s
42 merely defines a non-molestation order as an order containing a provision
prolibiting molestahion, As 1s accepled, the deflinition of molestation 1s not to be found
in the statute, and has been deliberately maintained on a broad and flexible basis by the
courts so that it can be adapted to the particular circumstances of any individual case
where the facts justify the court’s intervention.

It follows that the absence of an express provision providing junsdiction to make an
exclusion order 1s no indication that the court lacks junisdiction to do so when making
a non-molestation order.

As 15 apparent from the commentary to which 1 have referred and the acceptance of the
jurisdiction to impose an exclusion zone in the three relevant reported cases, Family
Courts do exercise junisdiction by granting an exclusion element within a non
molestation order where the facts of the particular case justify domng so.

Drawing all these matters together, [ am entirely satisfied that this court is not barred
for lack of junsdiction from adding an exclusion zone to the non-molestation order in
this case.

If my conclusion on junsdiction under the FLA 1996 1s in error, then | am entirely
satisfied that the court would have jurisdiction to grant an injunction order imposing an
exclusion zone under its mherent junsdiction within the current wardship proceedings,
Mr Geekie’s submissions on this aspect of jurisdiction were effectively unchallenged
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47,

by Lord Pannick on behalf of the father and it is not necessary for me to deal with the
matter further at this pomnt.

Further, although it may be an unusual example of the exercise of jurisdiction, if it is
permissible for the court to impose an exclusion zone restraining the physical presence
of an individual in a particular location, there must also be junisdiction to restrict their
use of arspace and, indeed, the purchase or occupation of property in a particular
location. At all hmes, however, the court must be cautious in exercising such a
junisdiction, only doing so when the facts of the case require such intervention and
where the terms of the order are lumited to those which are proportionate to the need.

Discussion

43.

49,

50.

]

a2

It 15 necessary to maintain focus upon the unusual factual background to this
application. The father 15 an individual of immense wealth. political power and
international influence. The findings of fact made in December 2019 demonstrate the
manner i which he 15 prepared 1o use hus position to impose hus will on lamily members
when he considers that it is night to do so. The findings with respect to the abduction of
two of his adult daughters, one from England and one in international waters off the
coast of India, demonstrate lis ability o act and to do so imespective of domestic
criminal law.

The mother asserts that these findings establish strong grounds for believing that, were
he to spot an opportunity to do so, the father would not hesitate to attempt to abduct the
two children in order to repatnate them to Dubai. She also believes that her own life
and wellbeing are at extreme risk because her actions have greatly angered the father,
who has made explicit threats, albeit in the context of poetry, encouraging others to kill
her.

The mother’s need for secunty for herself and the children must be assessed against
that background. What might be considered reasonable for an ordinary citizen may not
be sufficient either to protect the mother and children, or at least to enable them to feel
less intimidated or under threat. In circumstances when it takes but a moment to snatch
a child from a garden or a country lane, the ability to undertake close covert surveillance
s0 that a would-be abductor can know or prediet the precise whereabouts of the child
and any securnty detail would be most valuable. Thus, the need to prevent the father, or
those acting on his behalf, from coming close to the mother’s property is, in my view,
fully made out on the basis of the previous [indings. even after taking account, as [ do,
of the fact that there 15 no evidence that they have in fact done so.

The imposition of an exclusion zone around Castlewood 15 therefore both within the
court’s jurisdiction under FLA 1996 and justified by the evidence, A zone on the scale
originally sought by the mother, which covered a very substantial area. could not be
justified on the basis of controlling the physical presence of individuals. The very
substantially reduced zone, establishing a ‘no entry” cordon mn a band 100 metres
around the boundary of Castlewood and prohibiting presence on the lane leading to and
past the property 15, however, reasonable, proportionate and justified,

In like manner, the application for a *no fly zone’, prohibiting aircraft, drones or other
craft flying between 1,000 feet and the ground from a circular area centred on
Castlewood and shown on a map submuitted to the court. 1s made out and will be granted.
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Separately, the need to prevent the father, or those acting for him, from purchasing,
renting or otherwise occupying, property m the vicmity of the mother’s home 15
established. When the father's daughter, Sheikha Shamsa, was abducted from
Cambndge in August 2000, she was driven to one of his properties in Newmarket
before being laken by helicopter to France, where she was pul on a private plane and
flown to Dubai. The circomstances i 2020 with respect to the mother and two young
children are in some respects different, There has been widespread publicity of the
court’s findings of fact and of the fact that the mother and children are being protected
from the possible risk of abduction. Copies of court orders restraining abduction are on
record with the police and other authorities. The ume-window that any would-be
abductors might have to snatch and then transfer the children or the mother to a
helicopter before possible apprehension by the authonties may consequently be narrow,
Agamnst that background, the mother 15 justified in regarding the purchase of a
substantial estate immediately abutting her own as being a very significant threat to her
security, both in terms of providing an opportunity for 24 hour close surveillance and
as a close-to-hand transport hub for a helicopter.

The fact that the father and those instructing hus English lawyers in these proceedings
seem to have given a deliberately misleading reply (after a delay of one month) to the
mother’s reasonable request for information made in February 2020 sigmificantly adds
to the level of concem about the proposed purchase of the Parkwood estate. The
purchase had apparently been the subject of negotiations for some 3 years. The estate
compnses, according to press reports, the most expensive development land currently
on the market with a price of some £30 million. It lies immediately next to the mother’s
estate. For the father, or those acting for him and giving instructions to lus Enghish
solicitors, not to mention these facts in response to a direct request for confirmation that
neither the father, nor those acting on his behalf, would rent or purchase land or
buildings ¢lose to her home, can only go 1o raise the mother’s already heightened level
of concern to a significant degree. That state of affairs will have been further
exacerbated by the serial failure to respond to her solicitors’ reasonable requests for
information in October 2020, ending in confirmation {(only alter the court had
intervened) for the very first time that Parkwood was in the process of being purchased,
with exchange of contracts only a few weeks away.

There can be no doubt that this deliberate behaviour, both in negotiating a purchase and
then withholding information about it, by those who are acting for the benefit of the
Dubai ruling family, will have had the effect of intimidating this mother to a very
marked degree. In this context, the mother’s account in her statement of the impact that
the news that her immensely powerful ex-husband was about to take control of the
substantial property standing above and right on the boundary of her property had on
her i5 entirely justified.

Lord Pannick rightly reminds the court that 1t has bheard neither evidence nor
explanation from the father and those acting for him on these points. L, therefore, do not
assume that the decision to dissemble for 7 months rather than to reply openly to the
request for information about a possible purchase was a dehiberate attempt to intimidate,
I do not assume that the proposed purchase was driven by a desire to frighten or more
directly molest the mother or cluldren. Also, [ do not assume that the decision to
abandon the purchase was in any way connected with the fact that news that it was
about to happen had been disclosed into these proceedings but a few days earlier. The
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court does not, at this stage make any such assumptions, but the mother is entitled to
do, and does so, and. on that basis, she 5 entirely justified in saving that she feels
mightily intimidated and frightened by these actions.

On the basis that [ have descnibed. I therefore conclude that this deliberate course of
conduct relating to property purchase has been carried on by the father, or those acting
on his behalf, and that it has been justifiably regarded as intimidating behaviour of a
high order by the mother. The need to ‘secure the health, safety and well-being” (FLA
19946, s 42(5)) of the mother and the children justifies extending the non-molestation
order to probibit each of the areas of behaviour set out in the appheation, including the
purchase and'or occupation of property within the revised zone put forward on her
behall.

In reaching my decision T have not taken any account of the more recent allegations
that are as yet not proved. All parties accept that the nature of these new allegations
should remain confidential within the proceedings for the time being, and [ do not
therefore say more about their substance, Al this mntenm stage, however, a court
considenng making, or varying, an interim injunction would be required to consider the
need for protection, based on allegations, prior to a full hearing, On that basis, it is clear
that the case in support of an interim variation of the imjunction in the terms sought
would be further justified if it had been necessary to consider these recent allegations
more fully.

Finally, it 1s necessary to deal briefly with the mother’s application for a direction that
the father should respond to a series of questions concerning the now abandoned
purchase of Parkwood and other general matters concerning the trust. In considering
this issue a number of matters arise upon which [ would welcome further short
submisstons. This part of the application 1s therefore adjourned for consideration at the
next listed hearing.

Couclusion

60.

The mother’s application to vary and extend the non-molestation injunction is therefore
granted in each particular and on the basis of the revised zones that have been submitted
to the court.

[Judgment ends]
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SIR ANDREW MCFARLANE P :

This 15 an application for additonal payment under the legal services order that has
hitherto been made in these proceedings which relate o two young children, The
principle of there being a legal services order made by the court was established as
long ago as June 2020 and subsequent orders have been made by the court since then.

The particular element of fees which are the subject of this application relate to an
appeal which is listed to be heard in the Court of Appeal later this month for two days,
in relation to a ruling that the courl made now some months age on the question of
whether the court has jurisdiction to investigate the acts of the state of the UAE and'or
Dubar, which potentially may be issues of fact at large 1n a [act-finding process which
15 yet to be undertaken. The court decided at first instance that the court did have
junisdiction and the father has permission to appeal that 1ssue to the Court of Appeal
and that 15 the appeal that 15 to be heard.

The position of the parties is that the mother seeks an additional payment under the
legal services order of £643,000 to cover her fees for the pending appeal. The
quantum of that sum is not i issue. The question of whether it should be paid
upfront, as 15 it were, under the legal services order 1s. The position of the father is
that the appeal process should be looked at separately from the ordinary mun of
interlocutory and final hearings that are taking place at first instance, He submits that
there should be no distinction between these parties and any other parties before the
Court of Appeal Civil Division, where costs normally follow the event, and an
impecunions respondent to an appeal 15 entitled to apply for secunty for costs. The
father 15 offering the precise sum claimed, £643,000, as secunty for costs, to be held
by his solicitors, to be used to pay costs to the mother if she is successful in
responding to the appeal and a costs order 1s then made 1n her favour.

In thal way, Mr. Migel Dyer QC, for the [ather, says that the mother’s position is
entirely protected irasmuch as it would be were she to be any other litigant before the
appeal process. If she 15 unsuccessful and the father succeeds on appeal, the mother
would be unlikely to get a costs order in her favour but, submits Mr. Dyer, she 15 a
person of substantial wealth and has more than easy access to funds of even this size
to pay her lawvers. He therefore subnuts that, as a matter of principle, the approach
should be to follow the ordinary course that would be followed in a civil appeal and
deal with the matter as secunty for costs. In supporting that position, Mr Dyer argues
that the common law junisdiction for the provision of legal services that has developed
to fund impecunious parents/former partners i1s limited to the iterlocutory stages and
final hearing of the proceedings at first instance, and does not extend to cover any
appeal. Provision for costs on appeal. including secunty for costs for an impecunious
respondent, exits and justifies any appeal process being given different consideration
to that at first instance.

Mr. Nicholas Cusworth QC, for the mother, makes submissions in suppornt of her
application. He does so by referring to the now well-established case law, starting
with Cirrev v Curvev (No 2) [2006] EWCA Civ 1338; [2007] | FLR 946 . which has
developed mito the junsdiction in the Famuly Court for providing hitigation funding for
a deserving party in proceedings and funding it by way of a penodical payments order
patd in advance. The jurisdiction mirrors that which is in statutory form in the
Matrimomal Causes Act 1973, section 22ZA, which provides for orders for payment
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with respect to legal services in matnmomal proceedings, but, as a common law
development, 11 15 of course not tied by that statutory provision because the pavments
are not, as in this case, hmited to matrimonial proceedings.

6. Mr. Cusworth accepts, and Mr. Dver clearly rightly firmly argues, that for the court to
make an order for legal services funding that covers the costs of an appeal may be
breaking new ground, certaimnly insofar as any reported cases are concerned. There 15
simply an absence of authority one way or the other on whether appeals are to be
included or, for some reason, excluded from the legal services funding jurisdiction.
Mr. Dyer says that that must be for good reason, namely that there 15 a sound, far and
proper costs regime in the Court of Appeal, represented by the security for costs
mechanism, and that there is simply no need for impecunious litigants to look 1o legal
services funding orders to cover appeals.

7. Mr. Cusworth did not accept that submussion and, by illustration, he pomnted to a
limited mumber of authorities that show that the court has been prepared to make legal
services funding pavment orders with respect to proceedings other than first instance
trials and other first instance proceedings in this junisdiction, for example, funding
proceedings abroad or for arbatration. Mr Cusworth refered in particular to:

] In Currey itself, Wilson LJ (at paragraph 32) endorsed the approach that
awards for legal services were separate from any consideration of costs:

‘Nevertheless it may be helpful to state that | entirely agree with Mr Mostyn in
TL v ML iAncillary Relief: Claim Against Assets of Extended Familv) [2005]
EWHC 2860 (Fam), [2006] 1 FLR 1263, FD. at para [127] that a costs
allowance within a mamtenance order 15 not an order for costs and so would
not fall foul of the new general rule [*no order for costs’); and perhaps helpful
also to observe that, insofar as the objection in principle to a costs allowance
has previously been cast in part upon an argument that it pre-empts the normal
despatch of issues as to costs at the conclusion of the proceedings, such an
argument will largely fall away by virtue of the new rules. The proper
treatment of liabilities for costs thereunder will generally be that they are debts
to which the judge should have regard in making his substantive award; and so
in my view an allowance [or costs within an award of maintenance n the
circumstances which [ have sought to outline would be consonant with the
movement under the new rules to cater for costs at an earlier stage than
hitherto.”;

1]} In Rubin v Rubin [2014] EWHC 611 (Fam); [2014] 2 FLR 1018, Mostyn J
described the purpose of the junsdiction at paragraph 13{iv):

*The court cannot make an order unless 1t i1s satisfied that without the
payment the applicant would not reasonably be able to obtain appropriate
legal services for the proceedings. Therefore, the exercise essentially looks
to the future. It 1s important that the junsdiction is not used to outflank or
supplant the powers and principles governing an award of costs in CPR Part
44, It 15 not a surrogate inler partes costs junsdiction.”

And again at paragraph [3(x), where a wide spectrum of potennal dispute
resolution procedures 15 said to be included:
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*The court should make clear in its muling or judgment which of the legal
services mentioned m s 22ZA(10) the payment 15 for; 1t 15 not however
necessary to spell this out in the order. A LSPO may be made for the
purposes, n  particular, of advice and assistance in the form of
representation and any form of dispute resolution, including mediation.
Thus the power may be exercised before any financial remedy proceedings
have been commenced in order to finance any form of altemative dispute
resolution, which plamly would include arbitmthion proceedings.”’;

wi)  In G v G (Child Maintenance: Interim Costs Provision) [2009] EWHC 2080
{Fam}); [2010] 2 FLR 1264, Moylan ] held that there was no distinction to be
drawn as between an order for legal services provision made with respect to
proceedings relating to a child in England and Wales and those in a foreign
jurisdiction (paragraph 47);

vy In M-T v T [2006] EWHC (2496); [2007] | FLR 925 (at paragraph 22),
Charles J emphasised that one purpose justifying deployment of the court’s
Junsdiction to make provision for legal funding was to establish or maintain
equality of arms:

‘To my mind it certamly can be for the benefit of the children in cases under
|CA 1989] Sch | to ensure that they are properly represented and have an
appropriate equality of arms to the respondent to those proceedings.
Therefore, 1if Bennett | was deciding that the court did not have such
junsdiction in W v J (Child: Variation of Financial Provision) [2003)
EWHC 2457 {Fam), [2004] 2 FLR 300 for the reasons | have given, |
respectfully do not agree and I do not propose to follow that decision. 1 find
that I do have such junisdiction.”.

H. For my parl. 1 can see no distinction which would justify limiting the courl’s
jurisdiction so as to exclude funding of an appeal process. Each case will tum on its
own facts and whether an award is actually made to cover an appeal will need 1o be
looked at on a case-by-case basis. However, as a matter of principle, I can see no
reason for making the distinction. With respect, | consider that the father's
submissions confuse two separate matters. The first 15 funding of legal services for an
impecunious liigant; that 1s the target of the legal services order junisdiction that has
been developed by the court. The second is the costs regime and it 1s that to which
Mr. Dver refers. This is not a costs application that is being made by the mother. Tt 13
payment for legal services and for funds by which she can pay her lawyers so that she
can take part in the legal process. Therefore, as | see if, it is either irrelevant, or
certainly not determinative, that the Court of Appeal has a secunty for costs
mechanism available to it and that the father 15 willing to co-operate in making a
secured costs pavmen! into hus solicitors' account. That is, of course, a welcome
gesture, but it nevertheless leaves the mother open to the outcome of an appeal
process whereby either she does not succeed in opposing the appeal or, for some other
reason, the Court of Appeal does not make an order for costs in her favour at the
conclusion of the appeal.

9. In the generality of these proceedings, the court has already determined that
irrespective of the assets that she undoubtedly has at her disposal. the father should be
funding her legal fees on an ongomng basis dunng the currency of the proceedings. As
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Mr. Cusworth points out. this is neither a blank cheque nor a one-way transmission of
funds. Af each stage, accounts wall be taken and 1t remains open to the court, at the
final hearing of the financial dispute between this couple, to readjust what has been
paid upfront in terms of legal fees with the benefit of hindsight as to what has
happened both as to the outcome of the proceedings, the hitigation conduct within the
proceedings, the fees that have been charged and other matters. The purpose of these
orders Is 1o keep the boat afloat, as it were, and the show on the road dunng the
currency ol the proceedings.

The only pownt that the father can refer to, as he does properly and clearly n Mr,
Dyer's submissions, is the availability of funds to the mother by which she can pay her
solicitors hersell for the appeal now without having to turn to the father for this
particular payment. However, as | have indicated, the court has already determined
that the mother should not be looking to draw on her own funds at this stage with
respect lo these matters, | cannol see thatl the appeal process should be dealt with and
approached entirely differently from all of the other heanngs in this case.

A further, final matter that weighs in my mind in this case -- it 1s not a major factor
but it 1s there as part of the balancing exercise and in so far as it 1s there, it goes in the
mother's favour — 15 that the particular point upon which the appeal 15 bemng taken
arises from the father's status. It 1s not an ordinary point in the dispute between them
as parents of these two cluldren. It is a particular characteristic that almost uniguely,
in the experience of this court, anses because of the father'’s status in s country and
the connection he has with his state. That seems to me all the more reason why the
mother should not be at any disadvantage in the appeal process. The father 15 entitled
to, and the Court of Appeal has given him permission to, appeal the point. It i1s a
point which is of importance, but it relates to his status and his role, It is important
that the mother 15 able to contest the appeal. as she did at first instance, and i
therefore seems to me that for that reason in addition, she 15 entitled to legal services
funding for that from the father so that she can take a full part in the appeal process.

So, for those reasons, [ therefore accede to the application and I make the additional
legal services funding order of £643,000 which 15 sought.

{Please see main transcript for continuation of proceedings)
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Sir Geoffrey Vos, Master of the Rolls, delivering the judgment of the Court:

Introduction

1.

The mother alleges in this long-running wardship case that her and her solicitors’
mobile telephones were hacked by agents of the Emirate of Dubai (“Dubai”) or the
United Arab Emirates (“UAE”), acting on behalf of the father (the “allegations”). The
father is the Ruler of Dubai and Vice-President and Prime Minister of the UAE. The
High Court (Sir Andrew McFarlane, President of the Family Division, and Mr Justice
Chamberlain) decided that the Foreign Act of State doctrine (the “FAS doctrine™) did
not prevent the court from adjudicating on the mother’s allegations.

The issues raised by the father’s appeal to this court have developed in argument, but
are essentially threefold:-

1) First, whether the High Court was wrong to conclude that the FAS doctrine did
not apply. This issue involves an understanding of the third rule of the FAS
doctrine explained by the UK Supreme Court (“UKSC”) in Belhaj v. Straw
[2017] UKSC 3 (“Belhaj™).

ii) Secondly, whether the High Court ought to have held that it was inappropriate
for the court to determine the allegations or impossible to do so fairly.

iii)  Thirdly, whether, if the third rule of the FAS doctrine is applicable, the High
Court ought to have applied the public policy exception to it.

The father argued that Belhaj decided that the court should simply ask itself whether it
is inappropriate in all the circumstances of the specific case for the court to determine
the matters raised because they involve issues of a sovereign nature. The father
submitted that it was inappropriate here for the court to adjudicate upon core sovereign
acts concerning the intelligence gathering powers of Dubai and the UAE. He gave three
main reasons: (i) the nature of the acts alleged, namely the intelligence capability of a
foreign state, (ii) the absence of any need to assess these issues in order to decide if the
father was complicit in phone hacking, and (iii) the unfairness of doing so, when the
father cannot adduce any evidence about the intelligence capabilities of Dubai and the
UAE. The father submits that he can be expected neither to confirm nor deny
(“NCND”) intelligence matters. Since the UK’s Parliament and courts have recognised
that it is not appropriate to consider issues concerning the UK’s intelligence capabilities
in any legal proceedings outside the closely protected environment of the Investigatory
Powers Tribunal (“IPT”), it would not be appropriate to determine such issues in
relation to a foreign state when the court has no process akin to the IPT to enable it to
do so fairly.!

The father relied on the decision in Carnduff'v. Rock [2001] 1 WLR 1786 (“Carnduff”),
where the Court of Appeal struck out as untriable a contractual claim by a registered

L' See the Justice and Security Act 2013, and R (4) v. Director of the Establishments of the Security

Service [2010] 2 AC 1 at [14] per Lord Brown, and Al-Rawi v. Security Service [2012] 1 AC 531 (“4l
Rawi™) at [86] per Lord Brown.
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police informer for payment for information which he said he had supplied, on the basis
that deciding such a claim would require the court to examine “the operational methods
of the police as they relate to the investigation in question” [34]. Laws LJ said at [37] that
if the claim were allowed to proceed, an expectation would be generated that a means
might be found to try it consistently with the public interest: “the parties are bound to
attempt to configure their competing cases so as to get in evidence in the face of the obvious
public interest difficulties; at once the very process of litigation, supposed to be even-
handed, is gravely distorted. The basis on which either party’s case is pleaded ... is subject
to pressures that should be irrelevant, and there will be pressures to compromise of a kind
that ought not to be brought to bear. All this ... tends to compromise the business of doing
justice”.?

The mother submitted that the High Court had been right for the reasons it gave. The
Guardian supported the mother’s submissions.

We will deal now with the precise allegations upon which the mother seeks an
adjudication, the essential factual background, and the High Court’s judgment before
turning to the issues that require decision.

The allegations

7.

The allegations can be summarised as follows:-

1) the mobile telephones of the mother, her solicitors, Baroness Shackleton and
Nick Manners, her personal assistant and two members of her security staff were
the subject of unlawful surveillance in July and August 2020 at a time of
significant events in these proceedings;

ii) this surveillance was carried out using [NSO Group] software licensed to Dubai
or the UAE;

iii)  the surveillance was carried out by agents of the father, Dubai or the UAE;

1v) the software used included the capacity to track the target’s location, the reading
of SMS and email messages and other messaging apps, listening to telephone
calls and accessing the target’s contact lists, passwords, calendars and
photographs. It would also allow recording of live activity and taking
screenshots and pictures; and

V) the surveillance occurred with the express or implied authority of the father.

The allegations are supported by witness statements filed on behalf of the mother by a
number of individuals including Dr William Marczak, who produces technical evidence
allowing him to draw certain conclusions. It is unnecessary for us to undertake a
detailed consideration of the evidence, which will (depending on the outcome of this
appeal) be the task of the President at the forthcoming further fact-finding hearing.

The father denies all the allegations. Specifically, at [4] of his Written Response of 14
September 2020, the father denies that (a) he has been involved in the use of NSO

2

The father relies also on the fact that the European Court of Human Rights dismissed an application to
challenge the decision in Carnduff, and the UKSC approved it in A Rawi at [86] and [108].
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software to access the telephones, (b) he has any knowledge of any such activity, (c) he
has authorised it, or instructed, encouraged or in any way suggested that any other person
should use NSO (or any) software in this way. The father has not, however, thus far filed
any evidence on these points.

Further essential factual background

10.

11.

12.

13.

The High Court described the essential factual background in [5]-[12] of its judgment.
The following summary is mostly an abbreviated version of those paragraphs.

The issue facing the High Court arose in the course of proceedings relating to the
welfare of two children, Sheikha Al Jalila bint Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum
(“Jalila”), who is now 13, and Sheikh Zayed bin Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum
(“Zayed”), who is now 9.

In April 2019, the mother travelled with Jalila and Zayed from Dubai to England and
made clear that they would not be returning. Shortly after their arrival in England, the
father commenced proceedings under the inherent jurisdiction of the High Court,
seeking orders for the children to be returned to Dubai. In July 2019, on the mother’s
application, the children were made wards of court. The Guardian was appointed.

The President and other judges have given a number of judgments in these proceedings
including particularly the Fact-Finding Judgment of 11 December 2019 [2019] EWHC
3415 (Fam). In that judgment, the court made findings about the treatment of two of
the father’s other daughters, Sheikha Shamsa and Sheikha Latifa, and about his
treatment of the mother. The key findings were these:

i) In the early summer of 2000, Sheikha Shamsa went to ground while on a visit
to England. Her father tracked her down through someone she had kept in touch
with. In mid-August 2000 she was taken by three or four men working for her
father to his home in Newmarket. She was held there overnight. On the
following morning, Shamsa went with three of the men in a helicopter to France
and then on to Dubai. One of the men was at the time in charge of the Dubai Air
Wing. Since then she has been confined to one room, constantly supervised by
nurses and a psychiatrist. She is given regular medication. She has been deprived
of her liberty for much, if not all, of the past two decades.

ii) In 2002, Sheikha Latifa (then 18) decided to leave the UAE. She was identified
on the border with Oman and returned to the family home. On her return she
was put in prison, where she was repeatedly beaten by her captors, who told her
that this was on her father’s orders. She remained there for three years and four
months, where she endured sleep deprivation, beatings and insanitary
conditions. She was injected with what she believes to have been tranquilisers.
After her release, her movements in Dubai were tightly restricted. She had no
passport, could not drive and was not in a position to leave Dubai by any
ordinary means.

111)  On 24 February 2018, Sheikha Latifa made another attempt to escape, with the
help of her friend Tiina Jauhiainen. They drove to Oman, where a friend met
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15.

them with a dinghy, which they used to get to a yacht chartered by a French
national Hervé Jaubert, to whom Sheikha Latifa paid a large sum of money.
While on the yacht, Sheikha Latifa and Mr Jaubert communicated with various
individuals and it may well be that this enabled the Dubai authorities to locate
them. During the night on 4 March 2018, the yacht was in international waters
about 30 miles off Goa, India, where it was boarded by a substantial number of
Indian special forces. Sheikha Latifa and Ms Jauhiainen were detained. The
Indian special forces soldiers left the boat and were replaced by members of the
UAE armed forces. Sheikha Latifa, Ms Jauhiainen, Mr Jaubert and the yacht’s
crew were taken back to Dubai under guard, escorted by Indian coastguard
vessels. Since that time, Sheikha Latifa has been detained in a locked and
guarded house akin to a prison.

In the early part of 2019, the mother lost her official position in the father’s
court. Those acting for the father began investigating her personal finances. The
father divorced her under Sharia law. A helicopter arrived at her house and the
pilot said he had come to take one passenger to Awir, a prison in the desert. One
of the crew members was one of the three people who Sheikha Shamsa had said
had been involved in her removal from England in 2000. The mother received a
series of anonymous notes, left in her bedroom or elsewhere, making threats, for
example “We will take your son — your daughter is ours — your life is over”. On
two occasions, a gun was left on her bed with the muzzle pointing towards the
door and the safety catch off. The father, or others on his behalf, made direct
threats to the mother to remove the children. The father told Zayed that the
mother was no longer needed. It was in these circumstances that the mother
resolved that her position in Dubai was unsafe and untenable and, on 15 April
2019, came to England. After she had done so, she received further threatening
communications. A person who has occupied a position of significant
responsibility in relation to the mother was told by a retired police officer acting
on behalf of the father that allegations would be made against them damaging
their reputation. In June 2019, this person was told by the same individual that
“the media war has started”. In a three-week period in June and July 2019, 1,100
media articles were published about the mother worldwide. Many contained
defamatory inaccuracies.

At the end of the Fact-Finding Judgment at [182], the President said this:

“The next stage of these proceedings, once my further judgment on
immunities and assurances has been handed down, will be to evaluate the
impact of these findings upon the two children who are at the centre of this
case and, on that basis, to evaluate the risk of either or both of them being
removed from their mother’s care and taken to Dubai against her will”.

In a further judgment on 17 January 2020 [2020] EWHC 67 (Fam), the President held
that assurances given by the father, Dubai and the UAE, though unilateral in nature,
were binding as a matter of international law, but that the court was unable to rely upon
them as providing protection for the children from the risk of abduction within England
and Wales, given the lack of evidence to show that they would be fulfilled and the lack
of any enforcement mechanism. The waivers of immunity related only to the father, not
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16.

to others who might be involved in an attempt to breach the court’s orders and might
be entitled to claim immunity, and so did not provide any protection to the children
against those others.

There are currently five applications pending before the court. These are:

1) the father’s application for interim child arrangements (i.e. contact with the
children);

ii) the mother’s wardship application;
iii)  the mother’s application for a final non-molestation order;
iv) the mother’s application for a “lives with” (residence) order; and

V) the mother’s application under Schedule 1 to the Children Act 1989 for financial
support for herself and her children. This application has been vigorously
contested and has resulted in a number of hearings over the summer of 2020.

The judgment of the High Court

17.

18.

19.

20.

The High Court began by considering the relevance of the allegations to the issues before
the court at [33]-[38]. It referred to the structure provided in The Law Debenture Trust
Corp plc v. Ukraine [2019] QB 1121 at [155] for the consideration of the application of
the FAS doctrine. Three questions had to be asked, the first two of which were: whether
“there [is] a domestic foothold — that is to say, a basis in legal analysis under English law
— which requires or permits the court to embark upon an examination of [the relevant
issue]”, and whether “if there is a domestic foothold, ... the issue is none the less beyond
the competence of the English courts to resolve”. The domestic foothold in this case was
not disputed.

The High Court then noted that the primary objective of the proceedings was to secure
the welfare of two children who are wards of court. That objective had been held to justify
departures from procedural rules governing other proceedings in Secretary of State for
the Home Department v. MB [2008] AC 440 per Lady Hale at [58], and in 4/ Rawi per
Lord Dyson at [63]. The special function of the proceedings had to be firmly borne in
mind when considering the submission that it was beyond the competence of the court to
examine the allegations.

The High Court held that the allegations were directly relevant to each of the five
applications before the court, because they might “demonstrate conduct expressly or
impliedly authorised by the father in breach of English criminal law and in violation of
fundamental common law and ECHR rights”, which would involve a grave interference
with the process of the court. That would be relevant to appropriate contact arrangements,
interim orders necessary to protect the mother and children and the type and cost of
appropriate security arrangements, all of which were contested.

Before the High Court [37], Lord Pannick QC, leading counsel for the father, accepted
that the court could determine whether hacking had occurred and whether there was a
pool of possible states which might have been responsible for it. Before this court, Lord
Pannick also accepted that the court could determine the fifth allegation, anyway as a
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matter of inference, namely whether the father was complicit in the hacking. His
submission was that the court could not adjudicate on the evidence of Dr Marczak.

At [39]-[47], the High Court dealt with the relevance of the NCND practice. It cited A/
Fawwaz v. Secretary of State for the Home Department [2015] EWHC 166 (Admin), per
Burnett LJ (i) at [74] as showing that NCND was not a rule of law or legal principle but
a practice which had been adopted to safeguard the secrecy of the workings of the
intelligence agencies, and (ii) as endorsing the well-known passage in Maurice Kay LJ’s
judgment in Secretary of State for the Home Department v. Mohamed [2014] 1 WLR
4240, at [20] that whilst there were circumstances in which the courts should respect it,
it was “not simply a matter of a governmental party to litigation hoisting the NCND flag
and the court automatically saluting it”. To invoke NCND, the party concerned had to
assert public interest immunity (“PII”’), which required a certificate from a Minister of
the Crown. The High Court concluded on this point that NCND practice was not relevant
to the application of the FAS doctrine. Even in an ordinary civil claim like Carnduff, the
conclusion that an issue was untriable involved at least three steps: a reasoned assertion
of PII, a decision to uphold that assertion, and a judgment (of which there were very few
examples) that, as a result, the issue was untriable. The court would not bypass these
steps, where there was no evidence as to the NCND practice of Dubai or the UAE. The
High Court did not agree with the father’s submission that the legitimate national security
interests of a foreign state should instead be brought into account under the rubric of the
FAS doctrine. To do so, the court would be simply “saluting the flag” which the father
had hoisted without evidence. The court also relied on the points that (i) in deciding
whether to uphold a PII claim, the court considered UK public interests, and the father
had initiated these proceedings in his private capacity, and (ii) Carnduff decided that the
operation of PII might render a civil case untriable, but the Family Court in wardship
cases, whilst adhering to the ordinary principles of PII, “was less binary and [might]
require the court, in the interests of the subject child, to adopt a process which allows
consideration of material covered by PII in a “closed” part of the proceedings.>

The High Court then dealt in detail at [48]-[65] with the scope of the FAS doctrine,
including extensive citation from the judgments of the UKSC in Belhaj.* It

acknowledged at the outset that the contours of the FAS doctrine were not yet wholly
defined.

The High Court concluded its “close analysis of the judgments in Belhaj” by drawing the
“following conclusions about the scope of the third rule identified by Lord Neuberger”:

1) Although the rule applies to acts which fall to be judged “on the plane of
international law”, it is not itself a rule of international law. It is an artefact of
the common law: see Lord Neuberger at [150].

See for example President’s Guidance (8 October 20135): Radicalisation Cases in the Family Courts and
Re C (Care Proceedings: Disclosure) [2016] EWHC 3171 (Fam).

The two cases before the UKSC were (i) a private law action in which the claimants sought damages
against those said to be responsible for the participation of UK intelligence agencies in a plan to detain,
kidnap and deliver them to Colonel Gadaffi’s regime in Libya, where they were detained extra-judicially
and suffered mistreatment including torture, to which the defendants pleaded defences of state immunity
and FAS, and (ii) a case where the claimant sought damages for mistreatment by US authorities into whose
custody he claimed he had been delivered by UK armed forces.
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1) The rule is based on “judicial self-restraint” or abstention: see Lord Mance at
[11(@iv)], and Lord Neuberger at [146] and [150]. It prevents the determination
of issues which it would be inappropriate for the courts of the United Kingdom
to resolve: Lord Neuberger [123] and [144].

ii1)  The rule can in principle extend to acts taking place or having effects outside
the territory of the foreign state concerned: Lord Mance at [11(iii)]; Lord
Neuberger at [146]; Lord Sumption at [237]. However, even the government
appellants did not contend that the rule applied to acts done or having effects in
the UK.’

iv) The rule can in principle extend to unilateral acts. However, the acts to which
the rule applies will “almost always” be ones involving more than one state and
will “normally” involve “some sort of comparatively formal, relatively high-
level arrangement”, but these are not hard-edged requirements for the
application of the rule: Lord Neuberger at [147].

V) A paradigm instance of the application of the rule is the case where there are
“no judicial or manageable standards” by which the domestic court can resolve
the issue or where “the court would be in a judicial no-man’s land”: Lord
Wilberforce in Buttes Gas and Oil Co v. Hammer (No. 3) [1982] AC 888
(“Buttes Gas™), cited by Lord Mance at [44] in a passage referred to by Lord
Neuberger at [150].

vi)  In considering whether the rule prevents it from examining a particular issue,
the court will have regard to the extent to which fundamental rights and access
to justice are engaged by the issue: Lord Mance at [11(iv)]; Lord Neuberger at
[144].

The High Court commented that deciding a particular case under the third rule required
a “careful analysis of the nature of the act, the legal standards by which it is to be judged,
whether the issue engages fundamental rights or access to justice and, in the light of all
these matters, whether the issue is constitutionally and institutionally suitable for
determination by a domestic court”. The fact that the issue concerned a sovereign act did
not on its own make it non-justiciable.®

The High Court dealt at [66]-[72] with the question of whether the third rule was engaged
in this case. It started by pointing out that, unlike in Belhaj, it was not so obvious here
that the acts complained of were all sovereign acts. That would not be the case if the
father had indeed used state agents to hack the phones for his own personal ends. The
court nonetheless assumed in the father’s favour that the allegations did indeed involve
sovereign acts on the part of Dubai and/or the UAE.

See the note of argument at 1041E-G and Lord Sumption accepted at [237] that it was arguable that the
doctrine did not apply to such acts.

The High Court referred to the express rejection of the appellant’s formulation of the rule by Lord Mance
at [11(iv)] and [44]. Lord Neuberger’s reference at [151] to Lord Sumption’s judgment could not have
been intended to suggest that the third rule covered every act within the categories described by Lord
Sumption at [237]. Otherwise, the nuanced, case-by-case approach espoused by Lord Neuberger and Lord
Mance would have been wholly unnecessary.
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The High Court decided that the FAS doctrine was not engaged pointing to five material

features, all of which it thought pointed in the same direction:

)

ii)

The acts alleged were directed against, and had direct effects on, persons in the
United Kingdom and within the jurisdiction of the court. That distinguished the
case from R (Khan) v. Secretary of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs
[2014] 1 WLR 872,7 which was generally regarded as a rare example of the
application of the third rule to acts taking place outside the territory of the state
concerned. The fact that the acts were directed at persons in the United Kingdom
and designed to interfere with the process of a United Kingdom court was on
any view an important factor to be borne in mind.

The legality of the alleged acts fell to be judged by the criminal and civil law of
England, not international law. This was not a case in which the court lacked
“judicial or manageable standards” by which to resolve the dispute. It was not
in a “judicial no-man’s land”. The central rationale for the application of the
FAS doctrine in Buttes Gas did not apply.

The acts alleged were unilateral, did not involve dealings between states, and
did not even involve any other state. There was no obvious basis on which they
fell to be judged “on the plane of international law”.

The acts alleged engage the fundamental privacy rights of the mother and
(derivatively) the children. Privacy “lies at the heart of liberty in the modern
state”: Campbell v MGN Ltd [2004] 2 AC 457, per Lord Nicholls at [12]. The
fact that such rights were protected by the common law and the ECHR was
relevant to whether the court should abstain from adjudicating on the
allegations.

To adjudicate on the allegations would not demonstrate any lack of respect for
the principles of comity or the sovereign equality of states. On the contrary, a
decision to abstain from doing so would undercut the United Kingdom’s
sovereignty and would be inconsistent with the duty of the court, as an organ of
the United Kingdom, to secure to the fullest possible extent the welfare of its
wards.

Finally, the High Court decided at [73]-[80] that, if, contrary to its view, Lord

Neuberger’s third rule applied, the five matters it had relied upon to decide that the FAS
doctrine was not engaged “would together justify the engagement of the public policy
exception”. These matters outweighed the points made by the father that mostly related
to the extent of the court’s investigation, which would anyway be under the control of
the court, rather than the decision to undertake that investigation.

Issue 1: Was the High Court wrong to conclude that the FAS doctrine did not apply?

In that case, the FAS doctrine was applied in a claim for declaratory relief as to the legality of an alleged
practice by UK intelligence agencies of sharing locational intelligence with the US authorities to assist the
CIA in launching drone strikes against suspected terrorists in Pakistan.
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In argument, we asked Lord Pannick to identify the errors in the High Court’s judgment
on the FAS doctrine. His answer was to point to the five material features on which the
High Court had relied, and to submit that, on analysis, none of those features was of
assistance. They were, he said, of limited, if any, weight. The High Court had, he
submitted, “failed fundamentally to recognise that what it [was] being asked to assess
and determine [was] a matter central to the sovereignty of the foreign state, that is its
intelligence and security capability and the conditions by reference to which it is
exercised”. When he went through these features, he pointed out passages in Belhgj in
which it was suggested, for example, that extraterritorial acts and unilateral acts could
be the subject of the third rule. He did not go so far as to suggest that the features were
irrelevant, only that they did not outweigh the undesirability of adjudicating upon a “core
sovereign act”.

In our judgment, the applicable test adumbrated by the UKSC in Belhaj is more nuanced
than the father submits. Whilst it is clear that the judgments do not speak with one voice,
[123] of Lord Neuberger’s judgment was accepted by the majority and captures the
essence of the test. It explains the approach and then gives examples, rather as the
summary of the High Court did at [64]:

“The third rule has more than one component, but each component involves
issues which are inappropriate for the courts of the United Kingdom to resolve
because they involve a challenge to the lawfulness of the act of a foreign state
which is of such a nature that a municipal judge cannot or ought not rule on it.
Thus, the courts of this country will not interpret or question dealings between
sovereign states; Obvious examples are making war and peace, making treaties
with foreign sovereigns, and annexations and cessions of territory: per Lord
Pearson in Nissan v Attorney General [1970] AC 179, 237. ... Similarly, the
courts of this country will not, as a matter of judicial policy, determine the legality
of acts of a foreign government in the conduct of foreign affairs. It is also part of
this third rule that international treaties and conventions, which have not become
incorporated into domestic law by the legislature, cannot be the source of
domestic rights or duties and will not be interpreted by our courts. This third rule
is justified on the ground that domestic courts should not normally determine
issues which are only really appropriate for diplomatic or similar channels: see
Shergill v Khaira [2015] AC 359, paras 40, 42”.

As both parties accepted, the third rule requires an analysis of whether a particular issue
or claim is justiciable on a case-by-case basis.® We note that Lord Neuberger emphasised
that the rule applies to issues which are inappropriate for the UK courts to resolve
because they involve a challenge to the lawfulness of the act of a foreign state which is
of such a nature that a municipal judge cannot or ought not to rule on it. This is an
evaluative exercise. Lord Pannick described it as a question of law, in order to contend
that this court did not need to identify an error in the High Court’s judgment if, as a matter
of law, the FAS doctrine was applicable. That may be correct in one sense, but it would
be surprising, we think, if this court were to depart from a decision on such a question
without a substantive reason for doing so. That is particularly so where such an
experienced court has evaluated the circumstances.

See Lord Mance at [11(iv)] and [107(v)], and Lord Neuberger at [147].
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In this connection, Lord Pannick submitted that we should overturn the High Court’s
view that the allegations were directly relevant to the applications before the court. We
decline to do so. First, we think that the President, who has dealt with these proceedings
all along, is in a far better position than we are to assess relevance. Secondly, it seems to
us obvious that if it were shown that the father was complicit in illegal surveillance in
the UK in relation to these proceedings, that would be relevant to the court’s various
determinations as to the future and safety of the children. Thirdly, we agree with the High
Court’s view. It is to be borne in mind that the President’s findings thus far relate to the
father’s mostly historic conduct in relation to his other daughters.

In these circumstances, we need to ask whether the High Court was right to rule that the
issues raised by the allegations were appropriate for the UK courts to resolve, and that
they did not involve a challenge to the lawfulness of acts which were of such a nature
that the court could not or ought not to rule. As we have mentioned, the specific focus of
the father’s argument is on Dr Marczak’s evidence suggesting that the surveillance may
have been undertaken by the security services of Dubai and the UAE. Put in that way, it
does not look as if the determination sought by the mother is actually as to the lawfulness
of the acts of any foreign state. After all, the hacking is accepted to be unlawful in the
UK. This point seems to us, however, to have less substance than at first appears because
what could have been alleged is that Dubai and the UAE acted unlawfully in using state
power for the personal benefit of the father. We accept for the sake of argument, as the
High Court did, that the third rule of the FAS doctrine could theoretically be engaged,
and that it had to determine whether it was appropriate for it to determine the allegations
as Lord Neuberger explained at [123].

We also accept that each of the five factors that the High Court relied upon is relevant to
justiciability. The allegations related to unilateral (single state) acts against persons
resident within the UK and within the jurisdiction of the UK courts, to be judged under
English and Welsh law. They amounted to a serious alleged infringement of privacy.

The two factors mentioned by the High Court that we believe require special attention
are the questions of (i) whether it lacked judicial standards by which to resolve the
dispute, and (ii) whether to do so would demonstrate a lack of respect for comity or
conversely undercut the UK’s sovereignty.’

We believe that the evaluation of these questions is intimately connected to the second
issue raised by the appeal. In short, we think that, if the High Court were right to say that
it could judicially resolve the allegations, and that it was no breach of comity to do so,
then it would be unlikely, in the other circumstances already mentioned, to be
inappropriate for the court to determine the allegations or impossible to do so fairly.

Accordingly, we move to consider the second issue, before reaching a final conclusion
on the first issue.

It is relevant in this connection to note that the Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office declined
to make representations about the application of the FAS doctrine both at first instance and on appeal.
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Issue 2: Ought the High Court to have held that it was inappropriate for the court to determine

the allegations or impossible to do so fairly?

37.
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We have already set out the father’s main argument under this head, namely that, since
it is clear that the father cannot, as Ruler of Dubai and Prime Minister of UAE, be
expected to adduce evidence about Dubai’s and the UAE’s intelligence capabilities, the
court cannot fairly or appropriately determine the allegations listed at [7(i1)-(iv)] above
reflecting Dr Marczak’s evidence.

On this point, we have formed the clear view that the court can and should resolve the
allegations as the High Court decided. We can give our reasons shortly.

It may well be the case that the father cannot adduce evidence about the intelligence
capabilities of Dubai or the UAE. But the central issue raised by the allegations is not
as to the intelligence capabilities of Dubai or the UAE,; it is as to whether private phones
were hacked by software accessible only to foreign states including Dubai and the UAE.
Once Lord Pannick had accepted that the court could fairly determine by inference that
the father was complicit in the phone hacking, the issue narrowed. It became, in reality,
a question of whether it would be fair to exclude the mother from adducing all available
evidence as to the technical circumstances of the hacking. We do not think that would
be fair or appropriate in the unusual circumstances of this case.

This is not a case, as Lord Pannick described it, that raises a core sovereign act
concerning a foreign state’s intelligence capabilities. It is a case in which a private
father may, if the allegations are proved, have used state powers as the Ruler of the
State of Dubai and/or as Prime Minister of the UAE for his own ends. The detail of the
hacking is not the critical allegation. The critical allegation is the one that it is accepted
the court can determine, namely the father’s complicity in domestic UK illegal
surveillance. That is an entirely justiciable issue.

For the same reasons, there is no infringement of comity. The central issue is not the
lawfulness of the intelligence acts of a foreign state. The central issue is the father’s
complicity in illegal UK phone hacking. The father is not compelled to adduce any
evidence at all. Whether or not he does so, the court will be able to fairly resolve the
questions raised by the allegations.! It is commonplace for the court to resolve issues
where one party declines for its own reasons to adduce any evidence. That does not
automatically make the allegations non-justiciable.!!

We return to issue 1, which is, in our judgment, the primary one. For the reasons we
have given, we agree with what the High Court decided. The third rule of the FAS
doctrine was not engaged because, undertaking the specific case-sensitive analysis
required, it would not be inappropriate for the court to determine the allegations. The

10

11

It may be noted that the court has appointed a single joint technical expert, and the father has also been
permitted to have a privileged expert to advise and assist in the presentation of his case.

See Lord Mance at [100] in Belhaj: “But, even if the United States do not co-operate [with providing
evidence as to what happened to Mr Rahmatullah in custody], evidential difficulties of this nature are, 1
think, far from what was in mind in the Butfes Gas case or any other of the relevant authorities and are not
a basis for concluding that a claim is non-justiciable”.
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High Court correctly applied the examples given by the UKSC in Belhaj and concluded
that, in the very specific wardship context of this case, it was not in any judicial no-
man’s land. It was not unfair or inappropriate to resolve the father’s personal complicity
in unlawful UK surveillance, and for that purpose it was not appropriate to prevent the
mother relying on technical and other evidence as to how and by whom that hacking
had been undertaken. There is no breach of comity, when the whole case is about the
father’s personal conduct and its impact on the future welfare of the children.

Issue 3: If the third rule of the FAS doctrine is applicable, ought the High Court to have applied

the public policy exception to it?

43.

This issue does not arise, but we agree with the High Court that, in the circumstances
of this case, it raises precisely the same questions as arose in relation to the engagement
of the FAS doctrine. Indeed, it may be, as Lord Mance suggested at [89] in Belhaj, that
there is no need to consider the operation of an analytically subsequent exception to the
third rule. Such policy considerations may simply form part of the court’s wide-ranging
determination on justiciability.

Conclusion

44,

45.

For the reasons given above, we conclude that the High Court was right to decide that
the FAS doctrine was not engaged.

We dismiss the appeal.
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Sir Andrew MeFarlane P:

. The purpose of this short judgment 15 to determine a single 1ssue that has ansen in the
course of long-mnning wardship proceedings, the background to which is well known
and need not be repeated here. The issue 15 whether the mother of the two wards should
now be granted a ‘child arrangements order” under Children Act 1989, s 8 ['CA 19897],
within the wardship, identifving her as the person “with whom [each] chald 15 to live’
[a *lives with order’]. The application is strongly opposed by the children’s father, but
firmly supported by the children’s guardian.

Bud
'

The application is made in circumstances where the fact that the children live with, have
always lived with and will continue to hive with ther mother has been established,
agreed and accepied since the early stages of the proceedings some two years ago. On
31 July 2019 the court made an order, with the agreement of all parties, expressly
prohibiting any person from removing the children from the care and control of thewr
mother. That order remains in force and there is no suggestion that it should be altered
or revoked, In his witness statement of 4 October 2019 the father acknowledged that
the mother *is and will continue to be the parent with whom the children live'. On 8
October 2019, the father consented to an order in those terms and recording that that
state of affairs could be communicated to the children. More recently, 1n an order of 15
July 2020, 1t 1s stated that “the children will live with the mother and attend school in
England’.

3 At the final welfare hearing, which 15 now planned for September 2021, there is no
155ue over the plan for the children to continue to have their home with their mother
and for her to be their sole carer.

4. The mother’s application for a *lives with’ order under CA 1989, s 8 was made as long
ago as |7 September 2019. At earlier hearings the court has declined to make a 5 8 order
on the basis that lo do so was not necessary, In parficular on 8 October 2019 1 rejected
the proposal that a s 8 order should be made, preterring the arrangements to be recorded
within the wardship.

5. Matters have now, however, come to a head and, despite there being no dispute about
the living armangements, despite the final welfare hearing being only a few months away
and despite 1t being accepted that the wardship will continue at least in the medium
term, the mother seeks o persuade the court to grant her a ‘lives with® order at this
hearing.

The mother's application for a “lives with order”

6. In order 1o understand the context within which the mother makes this apphication, 1t 15
necessary to rehearse some of the recent history and to note what the mother says about
the impact that it has had on her. The recent history, of course, itself sits within the
overall background to these proceedings which 15 characlensed by coercive and
controlling behaviour of a high order by the children’s father and which is marked by
the serious findings made by the court in the main fact-finding judgment dated 11
December 2019 [2019] EWHC 3415 {Fam). Those lindings, which included holding
that the father had arranged for the forced abduction and, thereafter, house arrest of two
of his adult children, established that the mother had fled to England from Dubai as a
result of threats of violence to her and that since armival in this junsdiction she had been



THE FRESIDENT OF THE FAMILY DIVESION Fe AL M
Approved Judgement

subjected to a sustained campaign of intimidation and threat orchestrated by the father
and those acting on his behalf.

More recently, the father, through a family trust, has attempted to purchase the 70 acre
estate immediately abutting the mother's home in Berkshire. Despite negotiations for
this purchase having been ongoing for some two years, and despite the mother’s
lawyers, over a period of many months, persistently and directly asking the father,
through his English lawyers, to confirm that he was not engaged in purchasing property
near to hers, the father did not reveal details of the proposed purchase until the court
required a straight answer to the question.

Al around the same tme, n August 2020, the mother and her English lawyers became
aware that her mobile phone and those of some members of her secunty staff and her
solicitors had been the target of hacking by a highly sophisticated software programme
that 15 only available for use by nation states. The father firmly demied that any of the
phones had been hacked and claimed that, if they had. then he had no knowledge of or
involvement in the hacking. In order to marshal and then evaluate the evidence relating
to this complex and highly technical issue, the court was involved in an extensive case
management process which culmunated in a tull fact-finding heaning, during which, at
every stage, the father deploved the very considerable legal resources at hus disposal 1o
challenge and contest the mother’s prosecution of her case. In the event. in a judgment
handed down on 5 May 2021 [2021] EWHC 1162 (Fam), the court concluded that the
hacking allegations were proved and that the father had indeed orchestrated or
permitted those acting for him to use bespoke covert surveillance software licensed for
the use of the State of the UAE to target the phones of the mother and five other
individuals connected to her.

In her recent statement to the court. the mother has descnibed the impact that being the
focus of the father’s actions over the past 2% years has had upon her.

*Since July 2020, the pressures on me have dramatically increased. | have felt my
health and my strength deteriorate slowly and progressively under the strain of the
harassment of me, both through the hitigation and otherwise. However much I have
tned to shield the children from Sheikh Mohammed and lis agents® relentless
attack, I have little doubt that the children have seen the toll that these proceedings
have taken on me. Every time I think a resolution may be n sight, the ground shifts
again, and the fimsh line recedes further into the distance, At times, 1 am exhausted
by trving to keep my balance and a level head in the face of the magnitude of whai
I face.’

Her statement describes the impact that the father's behaviour and the proceedings have
had on her health. She also describes the effect of having to live with the children in
‘confinement and isolation” for over two years. She sees the father’s action n atlempting
to purchase the neighbounng estate as being ‘part of a mulu-faceted plan aimed
ultimately at the abduction of the children and causing harm to me.” Later she states:

“All in all, since my last updating statement I have been beset by threats and pressures:
the ongoing tragedies of Sheikhas Latifa and Shamsa, the constant security threats, the
spectre of the hacking allegations, the physical threat and financial power of the move
to purchase Parkwood, defamation and intrusion in the global press, misrepresentation
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of the case in the Arab press, Sheikh Mohammed's violent and threatening poetry, and
the heavywerght amval of the UAE Government, and NSO,

As this list makes clear, some of the threats and pressures come from within the

litigation, some external to it. | wish the Court to understand that from my perspective
they are all linked.

And later:

‘l do nol feel that I can freely move forward as things stand now, while | am and feel
hunted all the time, and T am forced to look over my shoulder at every moment of the
day."

It is against that background that the mother describes her concern over what would
happen to the children if she were to die. If no adult is available to stand in her place,
although the children would remain wards of court, they would have 1o take her ‘place
in that mstance in having to defend themselves until therr minonty ends®, This 15 a
concern that, she says, keeps her awake at night and that it would give her
‘immeasurable peace in my own daily life to know that I had done all I can possibly do
to ensure that they have a bright and stable future, with or without me’. She therefore
seeks a "lives with order’ because, on her understanding and on the advice of her
lawyers, such an order would mean that the appointiment of a person nominated by her
as the guardian for her children would take immediate effect on her death. as opposed
to the current position where such a nomination would not take effect until the death of

both parents.

The application 15 therefore made on two, albeil connected, bases. Firstly, to ensure that
the appomntment of her nominated guardian will take effect on her death. Secondly, to
achieve a degree of reassurance from knowing that those arrangements were in place
where the i1ssue 1s playing on her mind in circumstances where she believes, and the
court’s findings establish, that her life may be in imminent danger as a result of the
actions of the father or those who are, or may believe they are, acting in his interests,
and where she is, in any evenl. being constantly assailed by the multiple stresses and
threats as she describes.

The father's opposition to a 'lives with” order

The father, through submissions made by Deborah Eaton QC, strenuously opposes the
application for a *lives with” order, He does 50 on a number of grounds. The first ground
15 based in law. Ms Eaton submits that, contrary (o the mterpretation upon which the
mother relies, a “lives with® order will not lead to the appointment of a guardian
nominated by her taking effect immediately on her death if the father, as the other parent
with parental responsibility, is still alive. Analysis of the competing legal submissions
on this point will follow, but, Ms Eaton submuts, if the father’s interpretation is correct
it removes the sole justification that the mother has put forward for making an order
and her application should therefore be dismissed.

More generally, and wrespective of the pnmary legal point that i1s taken, the following
submissions are made on the father’s behalf against the application:
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away;
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b) There is already complete clarity as to the living arrangements for the
children and there is therefore no need for a *lives with” order,

c) The court and the father must be told the identity of the individual who
the mother wishes to have appointed as testamentary guardian for the
children. In the case of the father he has a *nght” to know the identity of
the person that the mother wishes to appoint. To conceal the identity of
the proposed guardian i1s, m any event, illogical as the father will come
to know the identity in any event if the mother were to predecease him
and, contrary to his legal arguments, the appointment takes effect;

d) Making an order under CA 1989, 5 & determining with whom a child is
to live sits uncomfortably with the contimung wardship proceedings;

el The appomiment of a testamentary guardian 1s a very significant step to
take (particularly if the father 15 not to be told of the identity). As such
the mother should not make any appointment without the leave of the
court and the court should not grant leave without being told of the
identity of the appointee. Not to nsist on disclosure nsks the identity of
the guardian only becoming known in the fraught circumstances that will
immediately follow the mother’s death in a manner that 15 unlikely to
be compatible with the children’s welfare interests;

f) The mother may appoint someone who 15 unsuitable or who, for
example, may clamm immunity from the junsdiction of the court; and

gl The father would agree to the court order recording that, in the event of
the death of either parent, the wardship court will, al all imes, retain
ultimate decision-making responsibility for the children and, in the event
of the mother's death, the children would not be removed from her home
or from their schools pending the decision of the wardship court.

The father would consent to a “lives with' order, if the mother is insistent on applying
for one, but only on two conditions, Firstly, that the order spells out the legal position
on the basis of the father’s submissions. Secondly, that the dentity of any testamentary
guardian 15 disclosed to the father and to the coun,

The position of the children’s guardian

The children’s guardian expressed sigmificant concem at the situation that the mother
describes in her recent statement and, in particular, the pervasive feeling of being
‘hunted” that 15 recorded there. The guardian, from the perspective of the children’s
wellare, understands and 15 concemed by the degree of sustamed pressure that the
mother appears to be under.

Ms Deirdre Fottrell QC, for the guardian, submitted that a *lives with' order would
simply reflect the practical reality and it was, in the circumstances, *highly regrettable’
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that the father is arguing against it. There 15, in Ms Fottrell's submission, nothing
unusual in a CA 1989, 5 B order being made within wardship proceedings.

Ms Fottrell did not agree with the father’s interpretation of the underlying legal position
(to which | will now tum), but, In any event, she submitted that if a testamentary
guardian were to be appointed there would be no disadvantage to the father.

In all the circumstances, 1f the children’s welfare 1s afforded paramount consideration
as 1t must be [CA 1989, 5 [{1}], the mother’s circumstances and her description of their
impact upon her, render it necessary that her application be granted and that a “hives
with" order 15 made at this hearing.

The legal effect of a CA 1989, s 8 ‘lives with" order on the appomntment of a
lestamentary guardian

The issue between the parties is whether the appointment of a testamentary guardian
nomindaled by a parent whao, at the ime of their death, has a s 8 *hives with® order n
their favour, takes effect on the death of that parent {as the mother and the children’s
guardian contend), or (as the father contends) only on the subsequent death of any other
parent with parental responsibility {or if there 1s no such other parent alive, when the
‘lives with” order parent dies).

A testamentary guardian may only be appointed in accordance with CA 1989, s 5, the
relevant parts of which are:

'S Appointment of guardians.
{1) Where an application with respect to a child is made to the court by any
individual, the court may by order appoint that individual to be the child’s guardian
if—

ia) the child has no parent with parental responsibility for him; or

(b} a parent. guardian or special guardian of the child's was named in a child
arrangements order as a person with whom the child was to live and has died
while the order was in force; or

ic) paragraph (b} does not apply, and the child’s only or last surviving special
guardian dies.

(2)..

{3) A parent who has parental responsibality for lis child may appoint another
individual to be the child’s puardian in the event of his death.

(4) ..
(5 ..

{6) A person appointed as a child’s guardian under this section shall have parental
responsibility for the child concemed.
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d) s S(7Wb) provides that, where immediately before the death of any
person making an appomtment under 5 5(3), a child arrangements order
was 1n force in which the person was named as a person with whom the
child was to live, the guardian™s appointment shall take effect on the
death of that person;

el conversely, under s 5(8), where on the death of the appointing parent the
child concerned has a parent with parental responsibility {who 1s still
living) and s 5(7}b) does not apply {meaning that there was no ‘lives
with" order in favour of the appointing parent at the tune of death), the
appointment only takes effect when the child no longer has a parent who
has parental responsibilhity for him; and

i) by s 3(6) a person appomted as a child's guardian will have parental
responsibility for the child {once the appointment takes ellect).

Presenting the argument to the contrary, Ms Eaton QC submuts that the “person’ relerred
to in s 5{7)b) in the phrase *a child arrangements order was in force in which the person
was named as a person with whom the child was to live” [emphasis added] is a reference
to the person appointed to be the guardian and not to the deceased person referred to in
the phrase "immediately before the death of any person making such an appointment’.

In this regard. reliance 15 placed upon the judgment of King LJ in Re E-R ¢Child

Arrangements Order) [2015] EWCA Civ 405, Re E-R arose from tragic circumstances

m which a mother, who had terminal cancer and who was living with a couple who
progressively took over the care of her 5 year old child (T) as the cancer took hold,
sought 1o establish STH's {the female carer) position, as agamnst that of the chuld's father,
m two ways. Firstly, a without notice s 8 *lives with’ order had been made in favour of
SIH as the mother’s condimon deteniorated, Secondly, the mother had appomted STH
and her husband as her child’s testamentary guardians, The mother subsequently died
and there were contested proceedings in the respect of the care of the child between her
father and STH and her husband. The appeal murmed on whether the judge had been
correct to afford a prionty to the claim of a natural parent in such circumstances. In the
course of her judgment, however, King L] considered the impact of the mother’s
attempt to ensure that T would be looked after by SIH and her husband following her
death by appointing them as guardians under CA 1989, s 5(3). Applying the provisions
in s 3, that appointment had not taken effect on the mother’s death, as she had hoped.
and caused King L) (paragraph 36) 1o descnibe it as something “which may trap the

unwary '
The paragraph relied upon by Ms Eaton 1s paragraph 37:

“37. By s 5{6) CA [989, a person appointed as a child’s guardian has parental

responsibility. However where as here, the child has a surviving parept with
parental responsibility and there is no cluld amangements order directing that T is
to live wﬂh the I:IBJIIEd puardian, l]:l.El‘E SJ]:I and her hushand], |]1_amrn:u:ﬂ;men1 nf

‘s alive and has parental respansibility (s 5(7) and (81CA, 1989), I ST

that SJTH denves her parental responsibility in respect of T from the order made by
the judge in August 2014, and not by virtue of her having been named by the mother
as lestamentary guardian,” [emphasis added]
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Ms Eaton’s submission 1s that paragraph 37 of Re E-R establishes that the making of a
lives with® order would not have the effect contended for by the mother, namely that
any appointment of a guardian would have effect on her death were she, the mother, to
have a *lives with” order in force in her favour at that time. Ms Eaton particularly relies
upon the passage in paragraph 37 that is emphasised above. She submits that King L)
must be taken to be interpreting s 5(7)b) as applying where the ‘lives with® order
referred to in s 5(7)b) is one ‘directing that [the child] s to live with the named
guardian’, and not, as Mr Geekie submits, where the person named m the *lives with®
order was the recently deceased parent.

I can deal with this point shortly.

The only people who are entitled to appoint a testamentary guardian are *a parent with
parental responsibility” [s 5(3)] or a guardian who has already been appointed [s 5(4)].

It follows that, in s 5(7)b), the phrase *immediately before the death of any person
making such an appomntment’ can only refer to a person who 15 enther a parent with
parental responsibility or an existing guardian. Where, in the remainder of the sub-sub
section there 15 reference to “a child arrangements order which was in force in which
the person was named as a person with whom the child was to live’ [emphasis added],
‘the’ person must be the appointing parent or guardian. To hold otherwise would not
explain the use of the definite article to define ‘person’,

Further, s 5(7)b) when describing the *lives with® order uses the past tense: *was in
force” and “was to Live’, Such use agamn clearly ties the order and its terms to the person
who has died who, | repeat, is the person making the testamentary guardian appointment
and 15 therefore a parent with parental responsibility,

Thirdly, there would be no purpose mn the enactment of s 5(7)b) if the child
arrangements order referred to was one naming the nominated guardian. If such an order
were in force at the death of the child’s parent it would continue in force, be unaffected
by the death, and the named person would continue to have parental responsibility.

Fourthly, s 5{7)b} plamnly establishes an exception from the ordinary position where
one parent’s (or guardian’s) appomntment of a testamentary guardian does not take elfect
on their death, unless at that tume there 15 no other lhiving parent with parental
responsibility [s 3(7)a)]. Where there 15 a living parent with parental responsibility and
the exception 1 5 5{7}b) does not apply, the appomiment made by the first deceased
parent will only take effect on the death of the second parent [s 5(%)]. The exception is
therefore to give priority to the appointment of a guardian when i1t has been made by a
parent whom a court has determined should have the child living with them. In some
cases both parents may have a “lives with® order and, in each case, the guardian
appointed by a deceased parent would fake effect on the death of the appointing parent.

Despite the firmness of Ms Eaton’s submissions, they are withoul substance on this
point. Firstly, the father’s interpretation i1s on the basis that a parent, who does pot have
a “lives with’ order in their favour, but who has appointed X as a guardian, dies and, if
there 15 a *lives with” child arrangements order in force paming X at that tume, then the
appointment of X as guardian will take effect on that parent’s death. It s difficult to
discern what purpose Parhament had in mund in enacting the provision if that is its
meaning. Such circumstances are likely to be extremely rare.
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For the reasons that [ have already given, the father’s case does not accord with the
plamn and ordinary meamng of the words. It mvolves holding that “the’ person referred
to was not the deceased appointing parent, which 15 an interpretation that is
unsustainable on the wording and which ignores the use of the past tense, If X 15 still
living and the *lives with® order remains in force, why would Parliament refer to X as
*the person [who] was named” or X as being the “person with whom the child was to
live', when the wording of s 8(1) refers to a person “with whom a child is to live’,

Further, the reference to paragraph 37 of King LI's judgment in Re E-R 15 not relevant
to the 1ssue in this case and does not therefore assist the father’s case. In Re E-R the
deceased mother did not have a “lives with® order in her favour at the time of her death
and, therefore, as King L] desenbed, “the appointment of STH and her husband as T's
guardians does not take effect for so long as the father i1s alive and has parental
responsibility”. STH had parental responsibility for T, but that was aftforded under the
earlier “lives with® order and not becawse the guardianship had taken effect. If the
deceased mother had had a *lives with’ order in her favour at the time of her death, then
the guardianship appointment would have taken effect at that time. It is this latter
situation that the mother in the present cases is seeking o achieve.

I therefore hold that the imterpretation put forward on behalfl of the mother, and
supported by the children’s guardian, 1s correct and. if the mother has a ‘lives with’
order in her favour at the time of her death, then any guardianship appomntment made
by her under s 5(3) will take effect then, and not on the subsequent death of the father,
if that 1s the case.

Welfare Analysis

In determining this application, the court must afford the welfare of each of the children
paramount consideration and only make an order if it considers that doing so would be
better for the child than making no order at all [CA 1989, = 1{1) and (5)]. Whilst the
*welfare checklist” in s 1{3) must be considered, in circumstances where there is no
dispute about the living arrangements for the children, many of the elements in the list
are not of any active relevance. The exception 15 the ‘physical. emotional and
educational’ needs of the children [s 1{3)b)]. In that regard, it 1s very much in the
children’s interests for their mother’s wellbeing and emotional viability to be supported
where possible. Despite her best efforts, the impact on her life of the evenls that she
describes is such that any reasonable step that the court can take to reassure her and
meel her emotional needs as a parent and as the chuldren’s primary carer 15 likely to be
justified in the extreme and unusual circumstances of this case.

Whlst the mother herself does not push this issue to the forefront, 1 share, and certainly
do not disagree with, the guardian’s concern about her wellbeing. [ also agree that
granting a ‘lives with® order, which 15 not an exceptional course i wardship
proceedings, to reinforce further the message that the present arrangements are firmly
fixed, 1s in the children's best interests,

The express purpose that the mother does present as the primary justification is that a
*lives with® order will entitle her (o nominate a guardian whose appointment would take
effect on her death. A parent may nominate a testamentary guardian at any time. Each
of these two parents may or may not have already done so. Whilst possibly having
consequences for the children in time (o come in the event that both of their parents
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were to die duning their minority, 1 do not agree with Ms Eaton that the act of
nomination itself 15 a step 1n the child's life that 15 of sufficient importance o reguire
the permission of the wardship court. 1 do, however, agree with Ms Eaton that the
making of a *lives with” order which, if granted would prionitise the mother’s choice of
guardian by engaging the s 5(7)b} exception, 15 an imporiant step in the child’s life
and, of course, the court will only grant a *lhives with’ order if to do so 1s in the best
interests of the child having taken account of this and all other relevant factors.

Ms Eaton’s submission goes further and describes the actual choice of individual
guardhan that the mother proposes to make as bemg, nself, an mmportant step and
therefore one which requires the court being told who 1t is who is to be appointed. The
baseline for this submussion 1s that, contrary (o the father’s case, a parent 1n his position
does not have a ‘right” to be told the identity of a nominated guardian. In some families
1t 15 a jount choice, or there will be discussion between parents; but it 1s not required by
the law,

Here, the mother has established a strong case against informing the father of the
identity of the individual she appoints. In short she i1s confident that the father would.
once the information 15 known, seek to target that individual and expose them to the
foree of hus influence in a way that would be wholly contrary to the mother's wishes
and intentions, and in a way that would simply compound her feeling of bemng
controlled and undermined at every turn by the actions of the father and those who do
his budding.

In some cases i1 may be justified for a court in wardship to require disclosure of the
identity of a nominee for guardianship. The wardship jurisdiction is wide and | am
certainly not holding that the court has no power to require disclosure, [ am, however,
clear that in the present case it would be entirely contrary to the children’s welfare to
require the mother to disclose the identity of her nominee. To do so would in many
ways defeat the very purpose of her apphcation and, were the identity to be known and
were the father to tum his attention to that individual in a negative manner, which | am
satisfied 15 a leginmate concern on the evidence and findings made, then that
developmenl. rather than enhancing the mother’s emotional wellbeing, would be hikely
o have the converse effect.

All that the court has read and heard about this mother, from her statements and from
the appraisals of both the former and the current guardian, indicates that she is entirely
focussed on meeting the needs of her children and that she succeeds in doing so, albeit
within the straitened circumstances in which they are all forced to live. There i1s no basis
for contemplating that she would choose someone unsuitable for the role of guardian;
on the contrary | am satisfied that she will be anxious to choose someone who is best
suited for stepping into her shoes if the need arose.

In all the circumstances, | am satsfied that it 15 both in the children’s interests foras 8
*lives with” order to be made and for that to be done now at this late interim stage. 1
make the order on the basis that, as the mother has with full openness described. she
will appoint a testamentary guardian for the children (if she has not already done so).
Insofar as the court may have power to requare her to disclose to the court the identity
of her nominee, | decline to exercise that power.
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44.  Inall the circumstances, | grant the mother’s application and will make an order under
CA 1989, s 8 forthwith providing for the two children to Live with their mother.
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LORD JUSTICE DINGEMANS:

Introduction

This 15 the hearing of an application for permission to appeal against the judgment of
the High Court Family Division [2021] EWHC 660 (Fam) dated 19th March 2021,
which [ollowed a hearing on 10th and 1 1th February 2021. | directed an oral hearing
of the application so that this court could determine whether to grant permission to
appeal and whether the appeal should be heard in private, if permission was granted,
In deciding whether to grant permission to appeal, the 1ssue for this court pursuant lo
CPR 52.61 15 whether the appeal has a real prospect of success or whether there is
some other compelling reason why the appeal should be heard.

Background

2.

For the purposes of this judgment, it 15 necessary only to set out some of the
background facts. The father 15 His Highness Sheikh Mohammed Bin Rashid
Al Maktoum. The mother is Her Royal Highness Princess Haya Bint Al Hussein.
They have two children. The father 15 the Ruler of the Emurate of Dubai and Prime
Mimster and. therefore, Head of Government of the United Arab Emurates. He
commenced proceedings on the inherent jurisdiction of the High Court seeking the
refurnn of the two children from thas junisdiction. The father also commenced
an application for interim child ammangements.

The mother i1ssued applications to make the children wards of court and prevent their
removal, for a forced marmage protection order and for a non-molestation order. The

mother made a claim for financial provision for the children under the Children Act
1989,

In the skeleton argument the father reports that he has waived immumty for that
application and made what he calls a substantial open offer. The full background of
the proceedings are set oul in other judgments of the Famuly Division. It 1s sufficient
to say that both mother and father have at times asserted immunities and have at other
nmes waived immunities,

The mother has now i1ssued two applications against the father for financial support
for herself and the children under Part 3 of the Matnmomal and Family Proceedings
Act 1984 and an application under the inherent junisdiction for financial support for
herself and the children.

The father claimed immunity from jurisdiction in respect of these two applications
and this was on the basis that he asserted that customary mternational law confers
immunity on Heads of Government, in respect of civil proceedings relating to
personal and private matters.

The High Court held that he did not have such ummunity and the High Court accepted
that a Head of Govermment may have immunity from enmnal junsdiction from
execution of any civil and criminal judgment and inviolability in respect of civil and
criminal proceedings. The High Court held that the father had not established to the
requisite standard a rule of customary mternational law conferming immunity from
civil jurisdiction on Heads of Government in respect of non-official acts. The mother
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claymed that in any event the father had waived any immunity. The court held that if
the father did have immumty, he had not waived it in respect of the two applications.
The mother has made it clear that if the father 1s granted permission to appeal she will
seek to cross-appeal,

The ground of appeal 15 that the High Court was wrong in law in finding that the
father had not estabhished the existence of a mule of customary mtermational law
conferning immunity from civil junisdiction on Heads of Government in respect of
non-official acts. Permission to appeal was refused below on the basis that given the
extent of the disagreement on the scope of mmumty from junsdiction enjoyed by
Heads of Government under customary international law, an appeal would have no
real prospect of success and there was no other compelling reason why an appeal
should be heard.

The respective submissions

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

In the skeleton arguments and oral submissions today, there were said to be five
reasons for showing that there was a real prospect of success and 1 will deal with the
reasons first before tuming to compelling reasons which were advanced to hear the
appeal.

The first reason and much of the argument in the written and oral submissions before
us has tumed on whether the High Court took an overly narrow approach to the
interpretation of the case concerning the arrest warrant of 1 1th April 2002 reported as
Demoacratic Republic of Conge v Belgium ICJ reports page 3, and known as the Arress
Warrant case. There 15 a need for particular examination of paragraph 51 of the
judgment on which both parties rely. The father asserts that the proper reading of
paragraph 51 1s that the IC) said that it is firmly established that Heads of
Governiment enjoy umimumnties from junsdiction in civil matters,

The second reason was the analogy between Heads of Govemment and diplomatic
agents which was said to have been drawn by the ICI in the Arrest Warrant case. The
father asserts that the analogy drawn means that Heads of Governmenl! have immunity
from junsdiction in civil matters. In oral submussions, Lord Pannick QU emphasised
that the IC] had decided the Arresr Warrant case on principle which supported the
proposition that a Head of Government would have the same immunities available to
diplomats and Heads of State, and it was submitted that it would be a surprising result
which lacked any principled justification, if the Head of Government was nol equated
with the Head of State for those purposes. Mr. Otty QC reminded the court of the
limit of Article 31 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Immunities and that
applied only to the diplomat when in the receiving State.

The third reason advanced as showing why there was a real prospect of success was
that it was said that the High Court had failed to have regard to the fact that the Head
of State did have immunity and, agan, the analogy drawn by the International Court
of Justice between Heads of Government and Heads of State in the drresr Warram
Case,

The fourth reason was that it was =zaid that decision was inconsistent with the drress
Warrant case because the High Court had drawn an unprincipled distinction between
the functional basis for immunity from civil junsdiction and immunity from execution
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and inviolability. Lord Pannick emphasised that the International Court of Justice had
relied on the mere risk of impeding the functions of the Mimster for Foreign Affairs
and that the same must apply to a Head of Government. In oral submissions,
Lord Pannick particularly relied on Lord Sumption’s explanation of the need for
immunity from civil proceedings for diplomats to ensure that they are protected from
baseless claims to enable them to perform their functions.

Finally, and in the fifth reason set out in the written submissions, it was said that the
court had failed to have proper regard to State practice relied on by the father. The
State practice relied on by the father related to proceedings which were commenced n
New York by the Prime Minister of India, in California against the Prime Minister of
Singapore and i New York agan, agamst the Prime Mimster of Grenada and his
wife. Wntten submissions in those cases on behalf of the United States Government
have made it clear that the Head of Government had immunity from civil proceedings
and those wrntten submussions rehed in particular on the Arresr Warreww case,
Reliance was also placed on academic writings. The mother submitted that none of
the reasons were sustainable and that the High Court had come to the right result on
the 155ue of iImmumity.

No real prospect of success

15,

16.

17.

18,

It 15 common ground that there 15 no international treaty governing unmunities for
Heads of Government. The scope of the immumties 15 therefore govemed by
customary international law. It 15 established that “to dentify a rule of customary
wternational law, 1t 1s necessary to establish that there is a widespread representative
and consistent practice of State on the point in question. which 1s accepted by them on
the footing that it 15 a legal obhgation”, see Benkharbonche v The Embassv of the
Republic of Sudan [2019] AC 777. There 15 no need for complete uniformuty, but
there 15 a need for substantial nmiformity.

The father's concentration on the judgment of the International Court of Justice in the
Arrest Werrannt case is understandable, This is because judgments of the ICI are
pursuani to aricle 92 of the UN Charter, authontative as (o the content of customary
international law because the 1CJ 1s the principal judicial organ of the United Nations.
As Lord Pannick stressed today, it was accepted by the High Court that such a
judgment had to be read in context.

In the Arresr Warrane case, a Belgian mvestigating judge of a Tnbunal of First
Instance had issued a warrant for the arrest of the Mimster for Foreign Affairs of the
DRC. The DRC had objected on the grounds of absolute inviolability and immunity
from cnminal process, see paragraphs 12, 21 and 47. No pant of the
argument engaged the issue of immunity from civil proceedings. The 1CT held that
the Mimster for Foreign Affairs enjoyed full immmunity from erimmal junsdiction and
mviolability. This applied to public and private acts when customary international
law accorded those immunities to Mimsters for Foreign Affairs. not for their personal
benefit, but to ensure the effective perfonnance of their functions on behalf of their
respective states. The IC] referred to the fact that exposure to legal proceedings could
deter the Minister from travelling.

As to the first reason relied on by the father, paragraph 51 of the drresr Warranr case
stated that:
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... it is firmly established that, as also diplomatic and consular
agents, certain holders of high-ranking office mn a State, such as
the Head of State Head of Goverument ... enjoy immunities
from jurisdiction in other States, both civil and criminal.”

The statement was repeated in Dyjibowti v France in the ICI reports 2008, This dicta
was an accurate statement of pubhie miemational law, This 15 because Heads of
Government do enjoy immunities from junsdiction in other States in both ervil and
criminal matters, and Mr. Otty, in oral submissions, referred to the fact that a Head of
Government has immunity from civil proceedings i relation to official acts.

In my judgment, this statement in the ICJ was an introductory remark. as 15 apparent
from the way it was repeated in ibouti v France. The Arrest Warrant case was
concerned with criminal immunity and the inviolability of the Muster of Foreign
Affairs. The wording in paragraph 51 of the judgment of the ICJ was a reference o
the fact, which is established, that there are immunities. The ICJ did not say, and it
would have been very surprising given the issues in the case of they had said, that
there was immunity from civil junsdiction for the private acts of the Head of
Crovermment,

As Mr. Otty emphasised i oral submissions, the last sentence of paragraph 51 makes
this clear by saying that “for the purposes of this case, it 15 only the immumty from
ciminal junsdiction and the nviolability of an imcumbent Mimster for Foreign
Affairs that fall for the court to consider”. This means that rebance 1s being placed, in
my judgment, on an oblique reference in the Arvesr Warranr case and it 15 clear thai
this 1s not a way to develop principles of public international law and customary
internanicnal law in national courts.

As to the second reason, 1 do not accept that the reference to diplomatic agents in
paragraph 51 in the Arrest Warranr case can bear the weight placed on it by the
appellants, even where, as Lord Pannick rightly emphasised, the 1C] had referred to
an analogy with diplomatic agents. The need for a specific treaty to protect diplomats
who may be located in an unfmendly state is well-known and derived from
long-standing public international law practice. The ICI held that the Vienna
Convention on Diplomatic Relations 1961, provided useful guidance on certain
aspects of immumty but did not define immunities enjoyed by Mimisters for Foreign
Affairs, still less in my judgment did it define the immunities emjoyved by Heads of
Government, The ICT did not equate Heads of Government with diplomalic agents
for all purposes.

As 1o the third reason, I do not accept that it can be fairly said that the High Court
failed to have regard to the fact the Heads of State have unmumity. The High Court
was well aware of this pomnt, but there 15 no exact equivalence between a Head of
Government and Head of State, no matter how logical a development that might be.
It is fair to state that the same distinction is made n statute, in that the State
Immunities Act which refers only to Heads of State. The courl below specifically
referred to Lord Millett's statement in this respect in Pruoclier at paragraph 30,

As to the fourth reason, namely that the decision was inconsistent because the court
had drawn an unprincipled distinction between the functional basis for immunity from
eivil junsdiction and immunity from execution and mviolability, in my judgment, the
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point is there is a distinction between Heads of State, Minsters for Foreign Affairs
and Heads of Government. The High Court was entitled to explam what those
distinctions might be. This really was another way of emphasising that the ICJ had.
so far as the father was concerned, altered public international law in this respect. In
my judgment, for the reasons given earher, paragraph 51 had not had the effect
contended for by the father.

As to the final reason, less emphasis was placed on that in the oral submissions before
us but it was fully addressed in writing. [ agree with the High Court that US State
practice and the academuc wnting are not sufficient n my judgment to estabhsh
customary international law on this point. This is because, as the High Court nightly
stated, there 15 a marked lack of consensus n this area. As Mr, Oty referred in oral
submissions, there 1s, al most, evidence of some seven States adopting the practice
relied on by the father and, in my judgment, this 15 a very long way short of the proof
required,

For those reasons, in my judgment, the High Count was night to find that there was no
immunity from civil jurisdiction for the private acts of the Head of Government and.
moreover, there 15 no real prospect of success on the appeal. That, of course, 1s not
the end of the matter, because permission to appeal can be granted if there 15 a
compelling reason to hear the appeal and Lord Pannick did start this moming's
submissions by referring to the compelling submission,

No compelling reason

27.

28.

25,

In writing, the compelling reason for hearing the appeal was said to be that the appeal
rarses 15sues of pninciple of considerable importance with far-reaching implications
for foreign relations around the world. It 1s said there is a strong public interest in the
defimtive resolution of this issue and that the court below has reached a conclusion
which was iconsistent with that adopled in a number of other States, meluding the
United States.

In oral submissions, Lord Pannick emphasised that whether the Head of Government
enjoys immunity in respect of civil claims was a matter of importance, the High Court
judgment would be cited around the world and on an international matter of such
importance, 1t was important that the court should be fully addressed in relation to
these matters. It was submitted that this, alone, was sufficient to grant permission,

In oral submissions, Mr, Otty noted that the case was about whether the father had
discharged the burden of proof, but as Lord Pannick fairly pointed out, the High Court
had made a decision on a point of law.

| do not accept that there 1s a compelling reason to hear this appeal. The legal
position at least at this moment 15, in my judgment, clear and there 15 no immunity for
Heads of Government from civil proceedings in respect of pnivate acts. [ see foree
the father's position that things might change, but | am also conscious of the waming
from Lords Hoffmann in Jowes v Minisiry of Interior [2007] | AC 270 al paragraph
63 when he said:

"It 15 not for a national court fo "develop” international law by
unilaterally adopting a version of that law which, however
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By this application, His Highness Sheikh Mohammed Bin Rashid Al Maktoum (to
whom I will refer as “the father™) seeks permission to appeal against the judgment of
the President of the Family Division dated 5 May 2021 following a fact-finding hearing,
By an Order dated 18 May 2021 | ordered that the application for permission to appeal
should be determined at an oral hearing given the nature of the case and the issues
raised.

King LY and T heard the application in a remote hearing using Teams on the afternoon
of 9 June 2021. The oral advocacy for the father was presented by Lord Pannick QC
and for the respondent mother by Charles Geekie QC. We also heard short oral
submissions from Deirdre Fottrell QC. I am conscious that on all sides the written
submissions and the preparation for the hearing were the responsibility of substantial
teams of barristers and solicitors, T am grateful to all the legal representatives for the
clear and focused way in which the submissions were presented.

Al the heart of the proposed appeal 15 the contention that, despite what Lord Pannick
QC acknowledged were the scrupulous steps taken by the President to put in place
safeguards to ensure that the proceedings were fair for the father, in the somewhat
unusual circumstances of the case as descnibed in his judgment. there was nevertheless
procedural unfaimess to the father.

It is submitted on behalf of the father in relation to Ground 1 that the evidence of the
experts {Dr Marczak on behalf of the mother and Professor Beresford. the court-
appoiwnted single joint expert) that the six phones in 1ssue were hacked, was reliant on
the sysdiagnose data and the so-called “second fingerpnint™ methodology devised by
Dr Marczak. However, although that data and methodology was disclosed to Professor
Beresford. it was not disclosed to the father. Dr Marczak was not prepared to disclose
what he regarded as his commercially confidential workings to the “shadow™ expent
mstructed by the father, Sygma, or to the father and his legal representatives. The judge
in effect upheld that objection. Lord Pannick QC's primary complaint is that this was
unfair o the father because 1t deprived hum of the opportumity to take expert advice
upon the data and methodology used by Dr Marczak and to cross-examine Dr Marczak
about that data and methodology which had been central to his conclusion that the
relevant phones had been hacked.

The principal answer lo this ground advanced by Mr Geekie QC for the mother
{supported by Ms Fottrell QC for the guardian) was that, as the President had said at
the hearing on 12 March 2021 (as reflected in [#] of huis judgment from that hearing), if
the father had instructed his own expert whose report was then served in accordance
with Part 25 of the Family Procedure Rules, the data and methodology of Dr Marczak
could and would have been disclosed to that expert and thus (o the father and his legal
team. What the President was guite correctly not prepared to countenance, Mr Geekie
QC submitted, was disclosure of this confidential material to the father’s shadow
experts, Svgma, who were outside the jurisdiction and whose expert views would
remain confidential to the father and would not be disclosed to the mother or to the
COLT,

This submission that, in effect, the father is the author of his own misfortune, has some
force at first blush. However, I consider that the contrary argument by Lord Pannick
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QC. that the entitlement of the father and his legal representatives to disclosure of the
data and methodology which was critical to the expert opinion expressed by Di
Marczak, in which Professor Beresford concurred, should not be contingent upon the
father agreeing to call his own expert, or at least to serve a report from his own expert
under Part 25, is fully arguable.

In particular, there seems to me to be force i the point Lord Pannick QC made that
such a hmatation on the entitlement to disclosure mm other jurisdictions, for example the
Commercial Court, would be unthinkable. He submitted that, in commercial litigation,
if the disclosure of crifical technical matenal by a party to the other party were
contingent on the other party calling its own expert, one would have no hesitation in
saying that that was procedurally unfair and Lord Pannick submits, the real question
here was whether there was something about the present proceedings which meant that
a different standard had to be applied in relation to disclosure in the Famuly Division.
He also submitted that any issues about the confidentiality of the data and methodology
could addressed by a conhdentiality nng such as 1s regularly put in place where
necessary in litigation in the Business and Property Courts.

Whether or not these submissions on behalf of the father do establish that,
notwithstanding the careful procedural safeguards put in place by the President, there
was such procedural unfaimess thal the President’s decision on hacking cannot stand.
will be for the full Court, but | consider that Ground 1 has a real prospect of success
and grant permission to appeal accordingly.

Ground 2 raises an 1ssue of alleged procedural unfaimess in relation to the President’s
decision altributing the hacking of the relevant phones to the father. Lord Pannick QC
pointed out that this decision was based on circumstantial evidence and the drawing of
inferences. The complamt 15 that there was no disclosure to the [ather or to the court of
mformation to which Dr Marczak had access, namely the contents of his so-called
“victims list", In circumstances where the President decided, as he did at [168] of his
judgment, that no other polential perpetrator, whether a person or government having
access to the Pegasus software, came close to the father in terms of probability, Lord
Panmick QC submitted that there had been procedural unfaimess because the father and
his legal representatives had not had access (o the contents of the victiims hist, which
may have epabled them to put forward a stronger case than they could that the
perpetrator was Jordan.

Mr Geekie QC submitted that the father's written and oral submissions betrayed a
misunderstanding as to the nature of the victims hst. It was not a hst of individuals or
of their devices, but only a list of IP addresses through which one or more mobile
devices may have communicated with Pegasus servers. Whenever a phone connected
to a different Wik network, for example at home, at work or in a cafe, it would use
three different TP addresses so that an IP address in itself did not necessanly tell you
anything about whose phone was using it. Dr Marczak made it clear in his evidence that
the victims list was vague and indefinite. He was not prepared to look at it as identifying
victuns of hacking, but only as a senies of “leads”, Contrary to Lord Pannick QC’s
submissions, having the contents of the victims list would not enable the father to make
connections between the different [P addresses on the list.

Again, there 1s considerable force in the submissions on behalf of the mother. [ rather
doubt to what extent access to the contents of the victuns hist would enable the father
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to advance his case that the perpetrator of the hacking may have been someone other
than the father himself. If the only complaint of procedural unfairness was that in
Ground 2, | would be disinchned to give permission to appeal. However, since there
was arguable procedural unfairness as set out in Ground 1, in relation to which [ will
give permission to appeal, I will also give permission to appeal on Ground 2, so that all
the issues of alleged procedural unfaimess are before the full Court.

Ground 3 concerns the substance of the President’s decision that the hacking of the
relevant phones is to be attributed to the father. Lord Panmck QC submitted that the
President bad made a number of errors of principle (1) in coneluding that on the matenial
before the Court no other person than the father might have been responsible for the
hacking; and (u) in determining that the previous findings of fact made in his fact-
finding judgment dated | | December 2019, that the father had harassed and imtimidated
the mother and was prepared to use the arm of the State to achieve his aims, together
with the evidence before him on this occasion, were more than sufficient to establish
that it was more likely than not that the hacking was carned out with the express or
implied authority of the father.

In my judgment, in the event that the appeal on Grounds | and 2 were dismissed. there
15 ne basis upon which the full Court would interfere with the President’s conclusions
on attribution, which were quintessentially matters for his evaluative judgment as trial
judge. As Mr Geekie QC submitted, the father's attempt to float the possibility that the
perpetrator of the hacking was the securnity services of Jordan, for which State the
mother 15 a diplomatic agent, overlooks completely that NSO's reaction to learming of
the hacking of the relevant phones was to termunate the contract with the State i
question, because this was improper hacking, that 15 to say, not for intelligence or
national security purposes, and therefore in serious breach of contract. Lord Pannick
QC sought to meet this point by suggesting that NSO might have terminated the
contract with Jordan because the relevant surveillance had taken place outside Jordan.
I did not find that argument at all convincing.

Surveillance by the secunty or intelligence services of any particular State for national
security reasons may well take place outside the relevant State. The hypothesis upon
which the suggestion that the Jordaman secunty services may have been the
perpetrators of the hacking was based on the assertion that Jordan would have been
wterested in the substantial sums paid by the mother to her brother, who in turn may
have been implicated in a coup attempt against the Jordanian government. Had this
justification for the hacking of the phone of the mother and her associates been
explamed to NSO, 1t 15 highly unlikely that NSO would have concluded that there had
been a breach of contract by Jordan, let alone one sufficiently senious to jushfy
temmmuination of the NSO contract.

I also agree with Mr Geekie QC that the Jordaman theory does not begin to provide a
coherent explanation as to why the Jordaman secunty services would wish to hack the
phones of Baroness Shackleton and Mr Manners from Payne Hicks Beach, the mother’s
solicitors. On the other hand, the father has an obvious motive for hacking the mother’s
and her security staff and solicitors’ phones.

Lord Panmick QC was cntical of the President’s reliance on the father’s previous
conduct, as found in his 11 December 2019 judgment, as supporting his conclusion that
the hacking of the phones had been carmed out with the father’s actual or implied
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authonty. He submitted that the two sets of acts were completely different. In the first
judgment the President had found harassment and intimidation, whereas the hacking of
the phones was surmeplitious, but not harassment or imimdation. Given that these were
distinct activities, there was no question of the previous conduct being similar fact
evidence.

[ cannot accept Lord Pannick QC’s analysis of the rwo sets of acts. 1 agree with Mr
Geekie QC that, if the hacking was at the behest of the father, it was not only another
example of his being prepared to use the arm of the UAE State to achieve his own aims
i relation to the women in lus family, but also further evidence of harassment and
intimidation. Hacking of phones is clearly harassing or intimidatory conduct. In the
eircumstances, if the conclusion that the father was responsible for the hacking was
justified, the President was clearly entitled to take the previous harassment and
ntimidation mto account in determining responsibility for the hacking: see PD12J of
the Family Procedure Rules and the recent decision of this Court in Re HN [2021]
EWCA Civ 448,

In the circumstances I refuse permission to appeal on Ground 3 whilst recogmising that,
if the full Court allows the appeal on Grounds | and/or 2, it may well determune that
the case should be remitted to the Farmly Division for retrial of all the issues determined
by the President including attribution.

Accordingly, T would allow permission to appeal on Grounds | and 2 and refuse it on
Ground 3,

Lady Justice King

20.

I agree.
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THE PRESIDENT:

1. I deal first with paragraph 9. | am plain that there needs to be an experts'
meeting. That would be the normal course. This is highly complicated material
and the more that any distinction and dispute that there may be between the two
experts can be flushed out, acknowledged, explained and then committed to
paper or video before the hearing the better. It will enable us all to engage with
it more effectively at the hearing.

2. The alternative is for there to be no experts' meeting, for Dr. Marczak to give
his evidence and for us then separately to hear what Professor Beresford may
have to say about what he has said. The development of the whole concept of
expert meetings arose because of the unsatisfactory nature of that process.

3. The main objection is that, on the father's case, Dr. Marczak is seen as entirely
partisan, he does not come to the court, on their submission, as a free-standing
independent expert who has been instructed for the proceedings. The basis of
those submissions are well-understood and they will no doubt feed in to
submissions about how reliable his evidence is for me to consider at the final
hearing. | will look forward to hearing those submissions at the time and they
are to be given full weight. However, that is for then.

4, I do not think that those matters cut across the expert meeting process being
valuable in itself. Dr. Marczak comes to that process, certainly with my eyes
wide open as to where he comes from in terms of his origins into the
proceedings. But, provided the experts' meeting can be recorded in full in the
way that we have now canvassed, | am comfortable with it taking place and
with there being no opportunity for there to be any surreptitious subversion or
whatever the father is concerned about of one expert of another, and certainly
with all of us being able to see what goes on and for it to be the subject of
comment questioning and submissions in due course.

5. The experts' meeting is, therefore, to take place. It is to be recorded on video.
I do not share the lack of confidence in the ability for that to be done. If itreally
cannot be done, it cannot be, but | would expect it to be recorded on video, and
as has been discussed, almost immediately after the hearing, as soon as possible
(so that is within 24 hours) a transcript of the experts' meeting is to be disclosed
to the father with any redactions for any confidential references during the
meeting taken out of the written transcript. As soon as possible thereafter, an
adequately redacted copy of the video recording is also to be made available to
the father. Hopefully, that deals with the experts' meeting.

6. I now refer to paragraph 12. So far as the father's application for disclosure of
the material upon which Dr. Marczak and now Professor Beresford will have
given their reports, | refuse the father's application. | am prepared to give a
more detailed judgment if required in writing, but in essence, the position | take
is one of high principle. It was a wholly exceptional course for the court to take
to permit the father to disclose the written material in the case to a shadow
expert and, in particular, for that expert to be based outside the jurisdiction of
this court. I did so for good reasons, as | saw them to be, and | maintain the
view that that was the right and fair decision to take.
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Because of the complicated nature of material in this case, the father and his
legal team are entitled to have someone who is technically and scientifically
sighted in respect of that material to help them understand what is said in the
report and to inform the shape of their further enquiries and any challenges they
wish to make within the court process, but it goes no further.

It was never the court's intention that that instructed agency, Signia, as it has
turned out to be, would develop into a separate expert who would have access
to the underlying material and conduct their own assessment of it. It has always
been open to the father to make an application under Part 25 of the Family
Procedure Rules for leave to instruct his own free-standing expert and for that
then to be conducted in the ordinary way with everything the expert has and
everything the expert says open and transparent within the process. That has
not happened. That is not the role of Signia, and it is not right now for Signia
to be brought forward to undertake that role, particularly as there is no
indication that Signia's report on the underlying material would be disclosed
into the court proceedings, in any event.

What | have given permission for, acknowledging the difficulties in the case
and acknowledging the need for a fair process, is the instruction of a single joint
expert and the court and the parties have been tasked with the difficult operation
of (a) finding an expert and now (b) finding a second one. We have persevered
with that, precisely to try to meet the fair trial needs of the process, and to do
so in an open way where all involved in the court process can see what is going
on and can see how that expert opinion is first given and then developed by the
staged process that | put in place as that expert has exposure to Dr. Marczak's
report.

I have now sanctioned a further stage in that transparent and, as | see it, fair
process in approving the arrangements for the experts' meeting that | have done,
but the disclosure of the raw material to Signia is way beyond any line that is
required for fairness and is wholly without principle in terms of the way that
the courts in this jurisdiction, certainly in the family jurisdiction, approach the
instruction of experts. | would be able to give more detail in relation to that
judgment if that is required, but I stand on high principle and simply say ‘no’
and | therefore refuse that application.

Moving on, I think 14 and 15 are to do with Mr. X and so is 16. Again, this is
a matter that has been raised a number of times. There are clear sensitivities
here and a balance has to be struck, but I am fully satisfied that it would not be
proportionate to require Mr. X's name to be disclosed. Mr. X, his contribution,
as it were, sits within Dr. Marczak's overall analysis. Mr. X is part of that
analysis, but he is not the only factor relied upon. The fact that his identity has
not been disclosed to the father may affect the degree of weight that is to be put
upon that element of Dr. Marczak's analysis. That is a matter that will have to
be visited during any fact-finding process, but | am persuaded that the detriment
to Mr. X in disclosing his identity to the father, particularly if that is done in a
way that is not going to allow him to know that that is happening, and where
the father refuses to permit Mr. X to be told the identities of the parties in these
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proceedings before he is invited to give consent to the disclosure of his name,
in my view is not justified and is not fair to Mr. X.

Equally, the father's knowledge of who Mr. X is, in my view, of only marginal
importance in the case. The overall case will stand or fall, to a very large extent,
upon Dr. Marczak's approach, his methodology, the basic evidence upon which
he relies, of which Mr. X is a part, but is not the whole. The mother is not going
to prove her case solely because Mr. X is a feature of it, equally, it may not fail
because of what is said about Mr. X. He is a satellite element within the whole,
rather than at the core of the case and it is therefore disproportionate, in my
view, to require the disclosure of his identity now.

The proposed course of action is for the independent counsel who has been
instructed to be given information so that she can conduct some basic screening
check of the material. That seems to me a proportionate step to take and we
see what the response is from that.

This is an issue that can be revisited as we move forward, but at the moment, |
am very clear that | am not persuaded that Mr. X's identity is to be disclosed,
other than to independent counsel, for her to undertake that step.

Moving on to the difficult question of whether a request is made to the litigants
in the pending litigation in Israel, for them to send a copy of what is referred to
as a contract that is at the centre of that litigation. The mother's team wish that
to happen in circumstances where there is an inability to access directly
material from the UAE with respect to the use or otherwise of the Pegasus
software. This other information is referred to in the public domain and may
indicate that Dubai and/or another State in the UAE is a customer of the
Pegasus software. If so, this is potentially relevant and has substantial potential
importance in the case. | clearly understand that and I am sympathetic to the
request.

The father's case is not that the request is unmerited as a matter of principle, his
prime concern is for the children and that this request will lead to the dots being
joined, as Lord Pannick described in his oral submissions, very quickly, with
certainly the international Press, if not the Press here, being able to publish
something that indicates the nature of the dispute which currently is being
litigated before this court in confidential proceedings. The mischief that the
father seeks to avoid is for the children then to learn that there are
phone-hacking allegations by that media disclosure and be upset by it and hear
about it in an uncontrolled way.

Again, obviously | understand that and the father's submission, through
Lord Pannick, is that what is to be gained forensically by the disclosure of any
contract is not so important and weighty in the case as to justify the risk of harm
to the children's welfare by the potential for disclosure which I have described.
That is a long-winded way of saying it is disproportionate, therefore, to sanction
the request being made.

A further difficulty has been identified, rightly and helpfully, by Ms. Fottrell,
in submissions, which is that the agency who makes the request from this court,

Re AIM
12.03.21



The President
Approved Judgment

19.

20.

21.

22,

Cafcass, the court itself, or Payne Hicks Beach, is likely to give a heavy hint as
to what the case involves, and the widely reported accounts in the Press of there
being a dispute between these parents about these children will readily lead to
an understanding in Israel of why the contract is being sought, and again |
understand that.

The position | am left in is that | do consider that the request for the disclosure
of the document from Israel is justified and that it is proportionate. | think,
provided the requesting agency from this court is sufficiently neutral, the risk
of it leading to Press reports asserting that there is a phone-hacking allegation
between these parents, which is being litigated in this court, is relatively
remote, and the risk of the children hearing about it in an uncontrolled and
unexpected way in the media is relatively small. It cannot be ignored, but
relatively small. It is nowhere near as high as the father, through Lord Pannick,
was describing, provided the agency that makes the request is not one that, of
itself, identifies the nature of the dispute.

Of the various options, | think the most likely to be seen as neutral and not give
any hint as to the underlying litigation is for the independent counsel to be used
as a post-box, as Mr. Geekie submitted, for counsel and her chambers, if she is
willing to do this, simply to be the source of the request, the point of contact,
and for the letter sent by counsel to be drafted by Cafcass, no doubt approved
by the other parties.

That is, as it were, where | am on that tricky point at the moment. If
independent counsel cannot undertake this function, it will have to be
reconsidered. | do think that of the other options, using the Clerk to Peter
Jackson LJ is probably the least likely to indicate the underlying nature, but
there may be, when we have had time for thought, other options which are
similarly neutral and non-identifying. | give leave for the request to be made
and, subject to those observations, | sanction the use of independent counsel to
undertake the task.

I think all of the rest of the order relates to the timetable. | am just going to
switch to ----

MR. GEEKIE: | believe it does, but in relation to the letter to Israel, there is the draft,

if whether by now or Monday you can say whether that is approved or not ----

THE PRESIDENT: | need to read that. | will deal with that.

MR. GEEKIE: Thank you.

THE PRESIDENT:

23.

The timetable, as we all recognise, is concertinaed, now, as | think we all
realised it would be, to achieve the necessary steps which still have to be
undertaken as quickly as possible, but in the a way which gives the parties
sufficient time before the hearing starts on Tuesday, 13th April, to put their
cases before the court. | think there is now agreement as to the dates on which
Professor Beresford will file his report, which is expected to be 21st March,
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24,

25.

26.

27.

realistically and if Dr. Marczak needs until Tuesday, the 30th, then one day is
not going to alter matters there. The key thing is the experts' meeting, and it is
agreed that that should take place on 6th July. The question is when the father
is to file a statement of his case? That is not a statement from the father, but it
Is a statement from his team setting out what his case is. It is accepted that that
will not be his case or his final case on the technical matters, which will still be
churning through the report and expert meeting process which still has time to
run. But it is acknowledged that the father is likely to be putting forward a
secondary case, his primary case being simply to say to the mother, "prove it"
and his case being that she will be unable to prove it both as to the issue of the
phones being hacked -- and Lord Pannick rightly points to the fact that
currently the two single joint experts who have been instructed have not found
any evidence of hacking on the raw material that they have examined of
itself -- and secondly, even if hacking is proved, the link between the hacking
and the father will not be established, so the case simply is to prove it.

Within that process, the father is likely to assert a number of matters, no doubt,
the principal theme of which will be that even if there has been hacking, it does
not follow as night follows day that it must be on the father's instruction that
other agencies, particularly those from other States in the Middle East, who
may have a negative mindset towards Dubai, the United Arab Emirates or
politically against the father, could undertake hacking and make it look like the
father if the Pegasus software is used.

As | have indicated during submissions, it is not enough simply for that to be
raised in argument, the ground has to be laid and that is accepted. So the
question is what date the father has to put in the statement of his "secondary
case", as | called it during submissions, the non-technical part of his case and
any underlying material. The mother submits that should be by next Friday,
19th March. The father seeks for that to be the following Friday, the 26th, but
is prepared for the court to say, for example, it should be two or three days
earlier, on the Wednesday, and indeed it slipped -- no, it did not slip, it was the
Wednesday.

| firmly take the view that the father has known that this fact-finding process
has been underway, he has a legal team of very substantial proportions acting
for him. They were entitled to raise the issue of Act of State, and that has
rightly gone up through the appeal process in this jurisdiction, but has now
ended with the Supreme Court refusing permission to appeal. But that has
always been one strand in the father's case, and the need, should that fail, to put
forward any other case, must have been understood by those acting for the
father, right back that the autumn, if not August when this all started, but at
least by October, six months or so ago. Indeed, the nature of the submission
that | have just described in relation to other States has been raised by
Lord Pannick on a number of occasions. It was, therefore, well open to the
father to prepare his case on this long before this week and I find it very hard
to contemplate that that has not been done.

I, therefore, direct that the father files the statement setting out his secondary
case by Friday, 19th March, a week from today, in the confidence that that can
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28.

29.

30.

be done despite the hard work that it may involve some undertaking in the
ensuing seven days.

The mother is entitled, and the court is entitled, and the Guardian is entitled, to
know what the father is to say. It is very unusual litigation in relation to any
fact-finding process for the party who is contesting the allegation not to have
been required to put their case before the court a long time before now. 1 have,
for good reason, not required the father to take that step pending the playing
out of the necessary consideration of the foreign Act of State element of his
case, but that moment has now passed and the time therefore is long overdue
for the father's case to be put before the court.

In terms of filing of skeleton arguments, I think that is the only other matter
that has been left. This is where the rock and the hard place of the timetable do
collide with each other and the need for the court to have the father's skeleton
argument, but to allow time for him to take on board the outcome of the experts'
meeting on 6th April could not be more tightly constrained.

I am grateful for, and accept, Lord Pannick's offer for the filing to take place
on Sunday, 11th April, and I direct that the father's skeleton argument for the
fact-finding hearing, which will, obviously, encompass his case on the
technical matters, is to be filed by 4.00 p.m. on Sunday, 11th April.

(For continuation of proceedings: please see separate transcript)

Re AIM
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Sir Andrew McFarlane P. and Mr Justice Chamberlain :

Introduction

1 This is the judgment of the court, to which we have both contributed. It is concerned with
a discrete 1ssue: whether His Highness Sheikh Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum (the
father) 1s entitled to immunity from jurisdiction in respect of two applications issued by
Her Royal Highness Princess Haya bint al Hussein (the mother) in proceedings between
them. That in turn depends on whether customary international law (“CIL”) requires such
immunity.

2 The proceedings in which these two applications arise have already resulted in many
hearings and judgments. It is not necessary to summarise them all. The essential
background is set out in a judgment we gave on another issue on 29 October 2020: see
[2020] EWHC 2883 (Fam), at [5]-[12]. It is not repeated here. All that is necessary to
understand the issues before us is the following summary.

3 The father i1s Ruler of the Emirate of Dubai and, materially for present purposes, Prime
Minister (Head of Government) of the United Arab Emirates. He commenced
proceedings on 14 May 2019 under the High Court’s inherent jurisdiction seeking the
return of his and the mother’s children, J and Z, to Dubai. He invited the court to appoint
a guardian to address issues concerning the children’s welfare. Through Cafcass, a
guardian was appointed.

4 In response, the mother made three applications of her own on 16 July 2019: the first
invoked the Court’s inherent jurisdiction and sought to make the children wards of court
and prevent the father from removing them from the jurisdiction; the second was for a
forced marriage protection order under Part 4A of the Family Law Act 1996 in relation
to J; the third was for a non-molestation order.

5 On 24 July 2019, the father made an application for interim child arrangements under the
Children Act 1989 (“CA 1989”). On 9 December 2019, the mother issued an application
for financial support for her and the children under Sch. 1 to the CA 1989 (“the Schedule
1 application”).

6 The father does not claim to enjoy immunity from jurisdiction in respect of any of these
applications. His assertion of immunity from jurisdiction relates to two other applications
made by the mother on 19 June 2020. They are:

(a) an application for permission to apply for financial support for herself and the
children under Part III of the Matrimonial and Family Proceedings Act 1984 (“the
Part III proceedings™); and

(b) an application under the inherent jurisdiction for financial support for herself and
the children (“the 1J application™).



THE PRESIDENT OF THE FAMILY DIVISION Re Al M (Immunities)

AND MR JUSTICE CHAMBERLAIN

APPROVED JUDGMENT

The parties’ positions

7 The father’s position, in summary, is that:

(a)

(b)

(©)

As Head of Government of a foreign State, he enjoys certain immunities under
CIL: immunity from jurisdiction, inviolability and immunity from execution of any
judgment. These immunities apply in both criminal and civil proceedings and
whether the proceedings concern official State matters or personal matters. In other
words, they apply ratione personae and not just ratione materiae.

Although in principle the initiation of proceedings operates as a waiver of
immunity from jurisdiction (though not in respect of execution of the judgment)
both in respect of the claim and in respect of any counterclaim directly connected
with it, the mother’s Part III and IJ applications are not directly connected to any
of the father’s applications in these proceedings.

Although the father (on 31 July 2019) and the UAE (on 4 October 2019) waived
the father’s immunity from jurisdiction (and also his immunity and inviolability in
relation to the execution and enforcement of any order), these waivers were
expressly limited to certain specified applications, not including the Part III or 1J
applications, which had not been issued by that time.

8 The mother’s position, in summary, is that:

(a)

(b)

(©)

The father has failed to demonstrate that there is a rule of CIL conferring on Heads
of Government immunity in respect of civil proceedings relating to personal and
private matters.

Even if there is such a rule, the father is precluded from invoking it in
circumstances where he has initiated proceedings himself and where the Part III
and 1J applications are properly characterised as counterclaims directly connected
with the father’s applications and arising out of the same relationship and facts.

In any event, the Part III and 1J applications are covered by the father’s express
waivers.

Issue (a): Has the father demonstrated that CIL confers immunity on Heads of
Government in respect of civil proceedings relating to personal and private matters?

The relevance of CIL in this case: common ground

9 Before summarising the parties’ submissions, it 1s important to set out four points which
are common ground.

10  First, certain immunities recognised in public international law are given effect in the
UK by statute: see e.g. the Diplomatic Privileges Act 1964, the Consular Relations Act
1968, the International Organisations Act 1968 and the State Immunity Act 1978. There
1s no statutory immunity for Heads of Government.
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11 Second, some of the immunities recognised by public international law are codified in
treaties or conventions: see e.g. the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations (1961:
“VCDR”) and the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations (1968) (to both of which
the UK is party) and the Convention on Special Missions (1969) (to which it is not).
There is no international instrument codifying immunities for Heads of Government.

12 Third, CIL recognises some immunities not codified in any international instrument.
Where they are not incompatible with statute, rules of CIL shape the common law unless
there is some constitutional or other special reason why they should not: R (Freedom and
Justice Party) v Secretary of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs [2019] 2 WLR
578, [116] (Arden LJ). Applying this principle, domestic courts have given effect to CIL
immunity ratione personae for Heads of State: Mighell v Sultan of Johore [1894] | QB
149, 159-160 (Lord Esher MR); Aziz v Aziz [2008] 2 All ER 501, [55]-[61]; Harb v Aziz
[2014] 1 WLR 4437, [14] (Rose J) and [2016] Ch 308, [35]-[39] (Aikens LJ); and R v
Bow Street Metropolitan Stipendiary Magistrate ex p. Pinochet Ugarte (No. 3) [2000] 1
AC 147, 201G-202A (Lord Browne-Wilkinson). They have not (yet) recognised an
equivalent immunity for Heads of Government.

13 Fourth, if the father succeeds in establishing that CIL recognises an immunity for Heads
of Government covering the circumstances of this case, it would not conflict with any
domestic statute; and there is no policy reason, constitutional or otherwise, why it should
not be recognised at common law. The question whether such an immunity is part of the
law of England and Wales therefore turns on whether the father can demonstrate to the
requisite standard that it 1s recognised in CIL.

The test for deciding whether a party has established an asserted rule of CIL

14 In Benkharbouche v Embassv of the Republic of Sudan [2019] AC 777, Lord Sumption
(with whom Lady Hale, Lord Wilson, Lord Neuberger and Lord Clarke agreed) said this,
at [31]:

“To identify a rule of customary international law, it 1s necessary to establish
that there is a widespread, representative and consistent practice of states on
the point in question, which is accepted by them on the footing that it is a
legal obligation (opinio juris): see conclusions 8 and 9 of the International
Law Commission’s Draft Conclusions on Identification of Customary
International Law (2016). There has never been any clearly defined rule
about what degree of consensus is required. The editors of Brownlie’s
Principles of Public International Law, 8th ed. (2012), p. 24, suggest that
‘complete uniformity of practice is not required, but substantial uniformity
1s’. This accords with all the authorities. In the words of the International
Court of Justice in Military and Paramilitarv Activities in and against
Nicaragua (Nicaragua v United States of America) [1986] ICJ Rep 14, para.
186: ‘The court does not consider that, for a rule to be established as
customary, the corresponding practice must be in absolutely rigorous
conformity with the rule. In order to deduce the existence of customary rules,
the court deems it sufficient that the conduct of states should, in general, be
consistent with such rules, and that instances of state conduct inconsistent
with a given rule should generally have been treated as breaches of that rule,
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15

16

17

not as indications of the recognition of a new rule.” What is clear is that
substantial divergences of practice and opinion within the international
community upon a given principle are not consistent with that principle being
law: see Fisheries Case (United Kingdom v Norway) [1951] ICJ Rep 116,
131.”

This was cited in the Freedom and Justice Party case, at [16]. In that case, the Court of
Appeal (Arden, Sales and Irwin LJJ) had to consider whether the Chief of Staff of the
Egyptian Armed Forces, who was visiting the UK as part of a special mission, was
immune from arrest for alleged torture. Arden LJ (giving the judgment of the Court) at
[17] cited with approval the view of the Divisional Court (Lloyd Jones LJ and Jay J) that,
to qualify, ““a practice need not be universal or totally consistent”. At [18], she noted that,
like the Supreme Court in Benkharbouche, the Court of Appeal had found the
International Law Commission’s (“ILC”) Draft Conclusions on the Identification of
Customary International Law (UN Doc A/73/10) of particular value. They were set out
in an annex to the judgment. At [19], she said this:

“What i1s immediately apparent... is that the ascertainment of customary
international law involves an exhaustive and careful scrutiny of a wide range
of evidence. Moreover, a finding that there is a rule of customary
international law may have wide implications, including, as we discuss
below, for the common law. As Lord Hoffmann held in Jones v Ministrv of
the Interior of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (Secretary of State for
Constitutional Affairs intervening) [2007] 1 AC 270, para 63...:

‘It 1s not for a national court to ‘develop’ international law by
unilaterally adopting a version of that law which, however desirable,
forward-looking and reflective of values it may be, is simply not
accepted by other states.””

In the Freedom and Justice Party case, the Court of Appeal agreed with the Divisional
Court’s view that the stringent conditions for identification of a rule of CIL were met on
the basis of:

(a) State practice arising in connection with two treaties: see [29] and [87]-[89];

(b) the work of the ILC considering State practice and opinio juris: [23]-[28] and [84]-
[86];

(c) further examples of State practice from the UK, the US, Austria, Belgium, Finland,
France, Germany, the Netherlands, Armenia, the Czech Republic, Romania,
Serbia, Switzerland and Albania: [31]-[38] and [90]-[106]; and

(d) the views of legal scholars: [39]-[41] and [107].

It 1s of some relevance that, in the overview of its conclusions, the Court said that it did
not doubt that “an international court would find” that there is a rule of customary
international law of the kind asserted: see at [79]. This recognises the importance of
judgments of international courts, to which we shall turn shortly.
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18  Several parts of the ILC’s Draft Conclusions on the Identification of Customary
International Law, and the associated Commentary, are relevant here:

(a) Conclusion 3, headed “Assessment of evidence for the two constituent elements”,
provides:

“1. In assessing evidence for the purpose of ascertaining whether there
is a general practice and whether that practice is accepted as law (opinio
Juris), regard must be had to the overall context, the nature of the rule
and the particular circumstances in which the evidence in question 1s
to be found.

2. Each of the two constituent elements is to be separately ascertained.
This requires an assessment of evidence for each element.”

(b) Conclusion 6, headed “Forms of practice”, provides:

“l. Practice may take a wide range of forms. It includes both physical
and verbal acts. It may, under certain circumstances, include inaction.

2. Forms of State practice include, but are not limited to: diplomatic
acts and correspondence; conduct in connection with resolutions
adopted by an international organization or at an intergovernmental
conference; conduct in connection with treaties; executive conduct,
including operational conduct “on the ground”; legislative and
administrative acts; and decisions of national courts.

3. There is no predetermined hierarchy among the various forms of
practice.”

(¢) Conclusion 10, headed “Forms of evidence of acceptance as law (opinio juris)”,
provides insofar as material:

“1. Evidence of acceptance as law (opinio juris) may take a wide range
of forms.

2. Forms of evidence of acceptance as law (opinio juris) include, but
are not limited to: public statements made on behalf of States; official
publications; government legal opinions; diplomatic correspondence;
decisions of national courts; treaty provisions; and conduct In
connection with resolutions adopted by an international organization
or at an intergovernmental conference.”

(d) Conclusion 13, headed “Decisions of international courts and tribunals”, provides
as follows:

“1. Decisions of international courts and tribunals, in particular of the
International Court of Justice, concerning the existence and content of
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rules of customary international law are a subsidiary means for the
determination of such rules.

2. Regard may be had, as appropriate, to decisions of national courts
concerning the existence and content of rules of customary
international law, as a subsidiary means for the determination of such
rules.”

(¢) The Commentary on the latter Conclusion includes this:

“3. Decisions of courts and tribunals on questions of international law,
in particular those decisions in which the existence of rules of
customary international law is considered and such rules are identified
and applied, may offer valuable guidance for determining the existence
or otherwise of rules of customary international law. The value of such
decisions varies greatly, however, depending both on the quality of the
reasoning (including primarily the extent to which it results from a
thorough examination of evidence of an alleged general practice
accepted as law) and on the reception of the decision, in particular by
States and in subsequent case law. Other considerations might,
depending on the circumstances, include the nature of the court or
tribunal; the size of the majority by which the decision was adopted;
and the rules and the procedures applied by the court or tribunal. It
needs to be borne in mind, moreover, that judicial pronouncements on
customary international law do not freeze the law; rules of customary
international law may have evolved since the date of a particular
decision.

4. Paragraph 1 refers to ‘international courts and tribunals’, a term
intended to cover any international body exercising judicial powers that
is called upon to consider rules of customary international law. Express
mention 1s made of the International Court of Justice, the principal
judicial organ of the United Nations whose Statute is an integral part
of the Charter of the United Nations and whose members are elected
by the General Assembly and Security Council, in recognition of the
significance of its case law and its particular position as the only
standing international court of general jurisdiction. [Fn: Although there
is no hierarchy of international courts and tribunals, decisions of the
International Court of Justice are often regarded as authoritative by
other courts and tribunals. See, for example, Jones and Others v. the
United Kingdom, Application nos. 34356/06 and 40528/06, European
Court of Human Rights, ECHR 2014, para. 198; M/V “SAIGA” (No.
2) (Saint Vincent and the Grenadines v. Guinea), Judgment, ITLOS
Reports 1999, p. 10, at paras. 133-134; and Japan — Taxes on
Alcoholic Beverages, WTO Appellate Body Report, WI/DS8/AB/R,
WT/DS10/AB/R and WT/DS11/AB/R, adopted on 1 November 1996,
sect. D.]
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7. Some caution 1s called for when seeking to rely on decisions of
national courts as a subsidiary means for the determination of rules of
customary international law. This is reflected in the different wording
of paragraphs 1 and 2, in particular the use of the words *“[r]egard may
be had, as appropriate” in paragraph 2. National courts operate within
a particular legal system, which may incorporate international law only
In a particular way and to a limited extent. Their decisions may reflect
a particular national perspective. Unlike most international courts,
national courts may sometimes lack international law expertise and
may have reached their decisions without the benefit of hearing
argument advanced by States.”

Submissions for the father

19

20

21

For the father, Lord Pannick QC submitted that the test for the identification of CIL was
met 1n this case. He relied in particular on two decisions of the International Court of
Justice (“ICJ”): the Case Concerning the Arrest Warrant of 11 April 2002 (Democratic
Republic of Congo v Belgium), ICJ Reports 2002, p. 3 (“the Arrest Warrant case”) and
Certain Questions of Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters (Djibouti v France), 1C]
Reports 2008, p. 177 (“Djibouti v France”).

Lord Pannick noted that the ICJ was established by Article 92 of the UN Charter as the
“principal judicial organ of the United Nations”. As the passage quoted above from the
ILC makes clear, it carries particular authority as “the only standing international court
of general jurisdiction”. In Jones v Ministrv of Interior of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
[2007] 1 AC 270 UK, the House of Lords had to consider whether there was an exception
to State immunity for claims in respect of acts that violate jus cogens norms. At [24],
Lord Bingham noted that “the claimants are obliged to accept, in the light of the 4rrest
Warrant decision of the International Court of Justice... that state immunity ratione
personae can be claimed for a serving Foreign Minister accused of crimes against
humanity”. Similarly, when the same case reached the European Court of Human Rights,
that court considered it unnecessary to examine in detail the views of national courts
because a recent judgment of the ICJ established that there was no jus cogens exception
to State immunity; and the ICJ’s judgment “must be considered by this court as
authoritative as regards the content of customary international law”. These decisions
showed that, once the ICJ had spoken, it was not necessary to look further.

In the Arrest Warrant case — the same case treated by Lord Bingham as determinative in
Jones — the ICJ had to consider an international arrest warrant i1ssued by a Belgian
investigating judge against the Mimister of Foreign Affairs of the Democratic Republic
of Congo. The ICJ held, insofar as material, as follows:

“51. The Court would observe at the outset that in international law it is
firmly established that, as also diplomatic and consular agents, certain
holders of high-ranking office in a State, such as the Head of State, Head of
Government and Minister for Foreign Affairs, enjoy immunities from
Jurisdiction in other States, both civil and criminal. For the purposes of the
present case, it is only the immunity from criminal jurisdiction and the
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inviolability of an incumbent Minister for Foreign Affairs that fall for the
Court to consider.”

At [52], the ICJ cited two parts of the VCDR: a passage from the Preamble noting that
the purpose of diplomatic privileges and immunities is “to ensure the efficient
performance of the functions of diplomatic missions as representing States” and Article
32, which provides that only the sending State can waive the immunities for which it
provides. In these respects, the VCDR “reflects customary international law”. The ICJ
then said that neither the VCDR nor the Convention on Special Missions contained any
provision specifically defining the immunities enjoyed by Ministers of Foreign Affairs,
so 1t was necessary to look to CIL. It went on:

“53. In customary international law, the immunities accorded to Ministers for
Foreign Affairs are not granted for their personal benefit, but to ensure the
effective performance of their functions on behalf of their respective States.
In order to determine the extent of these immunities, the Court must therefore
first consider the nature of the functions exercised by a Minister for Foreign
Affairs. He or she is in charge of his or her Government's diplomatic
activities and generally acts as its representative in international negotiations
and intergovernmental meetings. Ambassadors and other diplomatic agents
carry out their duties under his or her authority. His or her acts may bind the
State represented, and there 1s a presumption that a Minister for Foreign
Affairs, simply by virtue of that office, has full powers to act on behalf of the
State (see, for example, Article 7, paragraph 2 (a), of the 1969 Vienna
Convention on the Law of Treaties). In the performance of these: functions,
he or she is frequently required to travel internationally, and thus must be in
a position freely to do so whenever the need should arise. He or she must also
be in constant communication with the Government, and with its diplomatic
missions around the world, and be capable at any time of communicating
with representatives of other States. The Court further observes that a
Minister for Foreign Affairs, responsible for the conduct of his or her State's
relations with all other States, occupies a position such that, like the Head of
State or the Head of Government, he or she is recognized under international
law as representative of the State solely by virtue of his or her office. He or
she does not have to present letters of credence: to the contrary, it is generally
the Minister who determines the authority to be conferred upon diplomatic
agents and countersigns their letters of credence. Finally, it is to the Minister
for Foreign Affairs that chargés d’affaires are accredited.

54. The Court accordingly concludes that the functions of a Minister for
Foreign Affairs are such that, throughout the duration of his or her office, he
or she when abroad enjoys full immunity from criminal jurisdiction and
inviolability. That immunity and that inviolability protect the individual
concerned against any act of authority of another State which would hinder
him or her in the performance of his or her duties.

55. In this respect, no distinction can be drawn between acts performed by a
Minister for Foreign Affairs in an ‘official’ capacity, and those claimed to
have been performed in a ‘private capacity’, or, for that matter, between acts

Re Al M (Immunities)
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performed before the person concerned assumed office as Minister for
Foreign Affairs and acts committed during the period of office. Thus, if a
Minister for Foreign Affairs is arrested in another State on a criminal charge,
he or she is clearly thereby prevented from exercising the functions of his or
her office. The consequences of such impediment to the exercise of those
official functions are equally serious, regardless of whether the Minister for
Foreign Affairs was, at the time of arrest, present in the territory of the
arresting State on an ‘official’ visit or a ‘private’ visit, regardless of whether
the arrest relates to acts allegedly performed before the person became the
Minister for Foreign Affairs or to acts performed while in office, and
regardless of whether the arrest relates to alleged acts performed in an
‘official’ capacity or a ‘private’ capacity. Furthermore, even the mere risk
that, by travelling to or transiting another State a Minister for Foreign Affairs
might be exposing himself or herself to legal proceedings could deter the
Minister from travelling internationally when required to do so for the
purposes of the performance of his or her official functions.”

23 In Djibouti v France, the ICJ held that a Head of State was in principle entitled to
inviolability from a witness summons in proceedings concerning the death of a dual
national abroad. At [170], it said this:

*170. The Court has already recalled in the Arrest Warrant of 11 April 2000
(Democratic Republic of the Congo v. Belgium) case “that in international
law i1t 1s firmly established that... certain holders of high-ranking office in a
State, such as the Head of State... enjoy immunities from jurisdiction in other
States, both civil and criminal” (Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 2002, pp. 20-21,
para. 51). A Head of State enjoys in particular ‘full immunity from criminal
jurisdiction and inviolability” which protects him or her ‘against any act of
authority of another State which would hinder him or her in the performance
of his or her duties’ (ibid., p. 22, para. 54). Thus the determining factor in
assessing whether or not there has been an attack on the immunity of the
Head of State lies in the subjection of the latter to a constraining act of
authority.”

24 At [174], the ICJ cited Article 29 of the VCDR, which provides for the inviolability of
the person of a diplomatic agent. This, it said, “while addressed to diplomatic agents, is
necessarily applicable to Heads of State” and “imposes on receiving states the obligation
to protect the honour and dignity of Heads of State, in connection with their
inviolability”.

25 Lord Pannick’s argument has three stages:

(a) The VCDR, and in particular Article 32, reflects CIL: Arrest Warrant case, [52].
Article 29 of the VCDR is also a rule of CIL, which applies not only to diplomats,
but also to Heads of States: Djibouti v France, [174]. It would be surprising if the
scope of the immunity enjoyed by Heads of Government was less than that enjoyed
by diplomats.
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(b)

(c)

The reasoning in [51] and [53] of the Arrest Warrant case and [170] of Djibouti v
France show that there 1s in this respect no relevant distinction between Heads of
State, Heads of Government and Ministers of Foreign Affairs.
Thus, a serving Head of Government enjoys in a foreign State:

(1) immunities from jurisdiction, both criminal and civil;

(11) inviolability, including from being required to attend court to give evidence;
and

(111) 1mmunity from execution of a judgment (see Article 32(4) of the VCDR).

In addition, Lord Pannick relied on decisions of US federal courts and US State practice
as confirming the immunity of serving Heads of Government from civil and criminal
jurisdiction. He accepts that US courts apply a constitutionally mandated deference to
the executive on such questions (see e.g. Republic of Mexico v Hoffmann 324 US 30, 35
(1945)), but contends that the cases he relies on nonetheless serve to demonstrate the
relevant State practice. The cases relied on are:

(a)

(b)

(©)

Doe v Modi (US District Court, Southern District of New York), where District
Judge Analisa Torres held on 14 January 2015 that, as Prime Minister of India,
Narendra Modi had immunity from civil proceedings for acts committed in 2002
while serving as Chief Minister of Gujarat. The court treated as conclusive two
“suggestions of immunity” filed by the US Government, the first of which
recognised the Arrest Warrant case as authority for the proposition that the doctrine
of Head of State immunity (which was “well established in international law”) also
applied to Heads of Government and Ministers of Foreign Affairs. It also listed
previous US cases in which such immunity had been upheld: Doe v State of Israel
400 F. Supp. 2d 86, 1210 (2005) (which concerned Ariel Sharon) and Saltany v
Reagan 702 F. Supp. 319, 320 (1988) (which concerned Margaret Thatcher and
related to UK involvement in air strikes on Libya). In a supplemental brief, the US
Government said that the immunity was based on Mr Modi’s status as an
incumbent officer holder, so it was irrelevant that the claim related to acts done
before he became Prime Minister.

Jibreel v Hock Seng Chin (US District Court for the Northern District of
California), where District Judge Jon S. Tigar on 5 May 2014 upheld a claim to
immunity in civil proceedings against the Prime Minister of Singapore. Again the
“suggestion of immunity” demonstrates the view of the US Government that Head
of State immunity under CIL extends also Heads of Government and Ministers of
Foreign Affairs.

Howland v Resteiner (US District Court of the Eastern District of New York),
where Senior District Judge Glasser on 5 December 2007 upheld a claim to
immunity by the Prime Minister of Granada and his wife. The US Government’s
“suggestion of immunity” said that “[u]nder customary rules of international law,
recognised and applied in the United States, the head of a foreign government is
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Lord Pannick referred also to Spain’s Organic Law 16/2015 of 27 October 2015 on
Privileges and Immunities of Foreign States, International Organisations with
Headquarters or Offices in Spain and Conferences and International Meetings Held in
Spain. This provides for the inviolability (Article 21) and immunity from jurisdiction and
execution (Article 22) of the Head of State, Head of Government and Minister of Foreign

immune from the jurisdiction of United States courts under the doctrine of head of
state immunity”.

Affairs of foreign States.

Finally, Lord Pannick cited two textbooks:

(a)

(b)

O’Keefe and Tams, The United Nations Convention on Jurisdictional Immunities
of States and their Property: a Commentary (Oxford, 2013), who said this at p. 87
about the 4rrest Warrant case:

“The Court, assimilating the immunity enjoyed by a serving minister
for foreign affairs to that enjoyed by a serving head of State, a serving
head of government, and a serving diplomat, rationalized these
immunities by reference to the need ‘to ensure the effective
performance of [these persons’] functions on behalf of their respective
States’—the need, that is, ‘throughout the duration of his or her office’,
to ‘protect the individual concerned against any act of authority of
another State which would hinder him or her in the performance of his
or her duties’. This functional necessity justified, in the Court’s view,
and immunity for the duration of the individual’s office that was
without regard to the capacity, public or private, in which the impugned
acts were performed or, indeed, to whether they were performed before
or during the period of office—in short, immunity ratione personae.
Although the court formally restricted its conclusions to criminal
proceedings, it 1s difficult to see how the rationale for and resultant
nature of the immunity of the relevant state offices from foreign civil
proceedings could be any different. The implication for the immunity
of serving heads of state from civil proceedings in the courts of another
state 1s that such immunity is an immunity ratione personae applicable
as much to things done in an official capacity as to private conduct.”

Ziaodong Yang, State Immunity in International Law (Cambridge, 2012), who said
this at p. 434:

“Senior officials in particular are treated with especial reverence. With
perhaps the rarest of exceptions, lawsuits against incumbent heads of
State, heads of government or other high-ranking officials have met
with no success. This bears vivid testimony to the tenacity of a
traditional rule of international law whereby, according to the ICJ in
the Arrest Warrant case:

‘certain holders of high-ranking office in a State, such as the Head
of State, Head of Government and Minister for Foreign Affairs,

Re Al M (Immunities)
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criminal.””

Submissions for the mother
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For the mother, Mr Tim Otty QC submitted that there was nowhere near enough evidence
to demonstrate, to the exacting standard required to identify a rule of CIL, a widespread,
representative and consistent State practice, as accepted opinio juris, that Heads of
Govermnment enjoy immunity from civil proceedings relating to purely personal matters.

MTr Otty started with the opinion of Lord Millett in the House of Lords in Pinochet, where
he said this at 268-269:

“Immunity ratione personae is a status immunity. An individual who enjoys
its protection does so because of his official status. It enures for his benefit
only so long as he holds office. While he does so he enjoys absolute immunity
from the civil and criminal jurisdiction of the national courts of foreign states.
But it is only narrowly available. It is confined to serving heads of state and
heads of diplomatic missions, their families and servants. It 1s not available
to serving heads of government who are not also heads of state, military
commanders and those in charge of the security forces, or their subordinates.
It would have been available to Hitler but not to Mussolini or Tojo. It is
reflected in English law by section 20(1) of the State Immunity Act 1978,
enacting customary international law and the Vienna Convention on
Diplomatic Relations (1961).”

As to the Arrest Warrant case, Mr Otty notes that the report does not record either party
making any reference to civil proceedings in their submissions. The judgment at [51]
records the Court’s view that Heads of State, Heads of Government and Ministers of
Foreign Affairs all enjoy “immunities from jurisdiction in other States, both civil and
criminal” but in the very next sentence goes on to say that it was only the immunity from
criminal jurisdiction that fell for decision in that case. Accordingly, the decision tells us
nothing about the scope of the immunity from civil jurisdiction.

Nor can [52] properly be read as equiparating the immunities of diplomats with those of
Heads of Government. A diplomat’s primary immunity is enjoyed only in the State where
he or she is posted. There is no immunity from the jurisdiction of third States save when
travelling through those States in transit to or from a posting. The immunity claimed by
the father, by contrast, is an immunity from suit in all foreign States. It is, therefore, a
more extensive immunity than that enjoyed by diplomats under the VCDR.

Insofar as [53] and [54] help at all, they show that the scope of any immunity conferred
on Heads of State, Heads of Government and Ministers of Foreign Affairs is defined by
reference to its function: preventing foreign States from hindering or deterring those
officers from performing their official functions. The jurisdiction from which the father
claims immunity here has had and will have no effect whatsoever on the performance of
his official functions.
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When considering what the Arrest Warrant case established, it was important to look
also at the Separate Opinion of Judges Higgins (the UK judge), Kooiyymans (the Dutch
judge) and Burgenthal (the US judge). At [80], they noted that under traditional CIL, the
Head of State was seen as personifying the sovereign State and his immunity was
therefore predicated on status. The immunity of Heads of Government and Ministers of
Foreign Affairs, by contrast, “have generally been considered in the literature as merely
functional”. They continued as follows:

“81. We have found no basis for the argument that Ministers for Foreign
Affairs are entitled to the same immunities as Heads of State. In this respect,
it should be pointed out that paragraph 3.2 of the International Law
Commission's Draft Articles on Jurisdictional Immunities of States and their
Property of 1991, which contained a saving clause for the privileges and
immunities of Heads of State, failed to include a similar provision for those
of Ministers for Foreign Affairs (or Heads of Government). In its
commentary, the ILC stated that mentioning the privileges and immunities
of Ministers for Foreign Affairs would raise the issues of the basis and the
extent of their jurisdictional immunity. In the opinion of the ILC these
immunities were clearly not identical to those of Heads of State.”

At [82], Judges Higgins, Koojymans and Burgenthal noted that the Institut de Droit
International took a similar position in 2001 with regard to Foreign Ministers (though it
did assimilate the position of the Head of Government to that of Head of State). They
went on as follows:

“83. We agree, therefore, with the Court that the purpose of the immunities
attaching to Ministers for Foreign Affairs under customary international law
is to ensure the free performance of their functions on behalf of their
respective States (Judgment, para. 53). During their term of office, they must
therefore be able to travel freely whenever the need to do so arises. There is
broad agreement in the literature that a Minister for Foreign Affairs is entitled
to full immunity during official visits in the exercise of his function. This was
also recognized by the Belgian investigating judge in the arrest warrant of 11
April 2000. The Foreign Minister must also be immune whenever and
wherever engaged in the functions required by his office and when in transit
therefor.

84. Whether he 1s also entitled to immunities during private travels and what
1s the scope of any such immunities, is far less clear. Certainly, he or she may
not be subjected to measures which would prevent effective performance of
the functions of a Foreign Minister. Detention or arrest would constitute such
a measure and must therefore be considered an infringement of the
inviolability and immunity from criminal process to which a Foreign
Minister is entitled.”

As to Djibouti v France, Mr Otty noted that the immunity at issue there was that of a
Head of State and, even then, what was precluded was a “constraining act of authority””:
see [170]. The exercise of civil jurisdiction in the present case was not such an act. Even
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if the father’s position was such as to entitle him to inviolability, the VCDR showed that
this was quite separate from immunity from jurisdiction.

Mr Otty accepted that ICJ judgments could be treated as definitive where they have
declared the rules of CIL on a specific issue. Here, however, the ICJ judgments relied
upon did not do that. He drew attention to the Divisional Court’s judgment in the
Freedom and Justice Party case, where Lloyd Jones LJ and Jay J had said at [105] that
it was “unable to attach any weight to... oblique references” in the same ICJ judgments,
when deciding issues not directly in point in those cases.

As to US practice, Mr Otty submitted that the practice of one State is unlikely to be
sufficient to establish a rule of CIL. The case of Benkharbouche was an illustration of
this point. There, Lord Sumption said at [66] that the UK was not unique in applying the
principle in issue: seven other countries were party to a convention reflecting the
principle and six others had enacted legislation containing similar provisions. This,
however, was “hardly a sufficient basis on which to identify a widespread, representative
and consistent practice of states, let alone to establish that such a practice is accepted on
the footing that it 1s an international obligation”. The need for caution in relying upon
decisions of national courts as a source of CIL was also underscored by the ILC in para.
7 of the Commentary to Conclusion 13 of its Draft Conclusions on the Identification of
Customary International Law.

Mr Otty submitted that the need for caution in drawing inferences from the practice of
an individual State was even more pronounced when that State is the US. This 1s because
the US Supreme Court has held at the courts of that country are bound by “suggestions
of immunity” submitted by the executive branch. Thus, US courts do not review or decide
the question whether a particular immunity is established as a rule of CIL. In any event,
the cases relied upon do not advance the father’s argument because:

(a) The outcome in the Modi case, and the other cases referred to in it, would have
been justifiable from an international law perspective by reference to conventional
doctrines of attribution and State agent immunity, without reliance on any notion
of Head of Government immunity, in circumstances where the case apparently
concerned official conduct.

(b) In Howland v Resteiner, the plaintiff conceded that the defendant had immunity
and consented to the dismissal of the proceedings. Moreover, the US government’s
“suggestion of immunity” cited no case law from any other jurisdiction, nor any
other State practice, in support of the assertion of immunity.

(¢) In Jibreel v Hock Seng Chin, the US Government’s “suggestion of immunity”
relied on only one non-US case: the Arrest Warrant case. And, again, the outcome
would have been justified on conventional State immunity grounds, as the
allegations against the Prime Minister related to State surveillance.

Mr Otty cited a range of materials, which he said showed, at a minimum, that there was
no consensus that a Head of Government enjoys immunity in respect of civil proceedings
concerning non-official conduct.
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First, as noted by Judges Higgins, Kooijmans and Burgenthal in their Separate Opinion
in the Arrest Warrant Case, Article 3(2) of the ILC’s Draft Articles on Jurisdictional
Immunities of States and their Propertv (published in 1991) made clear that the draft
Articles were “without prejudice to privileges and immunities recorded under
international law to Heads of State ratione personae”. Paragraph 7 of the ILC’s
commentary on Article 3(2) notes that:

*“...the present articles do not prejudge the extent of immunities granted by
States to heads of Government and ministers for foreign affairs. Those
persons are, however, not expressly included in paragraph 2, since it would
be difficult to prepare an exhaustive list, and any enumeration of such persons
would moreover raise the issues of the basis and of the extent of the
Jurisdictional immunity exercised by such persons. A proposal was made at
one stage to add after “heads of State’ in paragraph 2, heads of government
and ministers for foreign affairs, but was not accepted by the Commission.”

My Otty says that this shows that, as at 1991, there was no consensus on the existence
and extent of the immunity conferred by CIL on Heads of Government.

Second, Mr Otty relied on the study by the Institut de Droit International on Immunities
Jrom Jurisdiction and Execution of Heads of State and of Government in International
Law, which led to a resolution adopted on 26 August 2001. The study was described by
Judges Higgins, Kooijmans and Burgenthal as “based on a thorough report of all relevant
State practice”. The resolution broadly equated the position of Heads of State and Heads
of Government but in both cases provided for absolute immunity only in respect of
criminal proceedings; the immunity from civil jurisdiction was limited to cases where
the suit related to acts performed in the exercise of official functions: see Articles 2, 3
and 15(1).

Third, Mr Otty relied on a selection of academic writings:

(a) Joanne Foakes (a former Counsellor to the FCO), in The Position of Heads of State
and Senior Officials in International Law (Oxford, 2014), noted at pp. 119-120 that
the special position of a foreign Head of Government was “more likely to be a
matter of courtesy and respect... than a reflection of any belief by the host State
that such treatment 1s required by international law”. She accepted that there was
“some evidence of a more far-reaching general acceptance that a head of
Government should enjoy immunities similar to those of a head of State” (p. 122),
but considered that the immunity enjoyed by a Head of Government in civil
proceedings was “less straightforward” (p. 124). At p. 125, she said this:

“While the functional rationale adopted by the ICJ in the Arrest
Warrant case could be extensively applied, as it is in criminal
proceedings, to cover private visits or circumstances where the persons
concerned are outside the forum State, the arguments are less
compelling. As we have seen, it remains questionable whether a head
of State’s immunity is absolute in this context”.
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(b) Brownlie’s Principles of Public International Law (9 ed., 2019), edited by James
Crawford (an ICJ judge), dealt at p. 478 with Heads of State, before saying: “The
position of the immunity ratione personae of other serving senior officials is less
settled”.

(c) Satow’s Diplomatic Practice (7™ ed., 2017), edited by Sir Ivor Roberts (an
experienced diplomat), notes that a Head of State enjoys immunity from civil and
administrative jurisdiction of the courts of another State “in respect of acts
performed as acts of the State in the course of official duties”. He cites as authority
the Institut’s 2001 resolution.

Discussion

44
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Having set out the opposing contentions relatively fully, we can express our conclusions
briefly.

We start, as Lord Pannick did, with the Arrest Warrant case. We have no difficulty with
the proposition that judgments of the ICJ are in general an authoritative source of CIL,
particularly when they codify or crystallise existing State practice and are subsequently
recognised as having done so. It is wrong to search an ICJ judgment for its ratio. That
concept 1s an artefact of the common law. But to insist on the importance of reading a
Judgment in context is hardly to adopt a parochial approach. To understand the context,
it 1s necessary to understand the issue before the court and the arguments advanced on
that 1ssue by the parties. Only then is it possible to separate those parts of the judgment
which reflect the court’s considered view on the question before it from “oblique
references” of the kind to which Lloyd-Jones LJ and Jay J felt unable to attach weight:
see the Divisional Court’s judgment in the Freedom and Justice Partv case, at [105].

In the Arrest Warrant Case, the ICJ made clear at [S51] that it was “only the immunity
from criminal jurisdiction and the inviolability of an incumbent Minister for Foreign
Affairs that fall for the Court to consider”. That focus, and the fact that the parties’
submissions apparently did not refer at all to immunity from civil jurisdiction, affects the
extent to which we can draw firm conclusions from the judgment about the scope of the
latter immunity.

Even confining ourselves narrowly to the language of the judgment, we do not consider
that the father is materially assisted by the statement in [51] that “it 1s firmly established
that, as also diplomatic and consular agents, certain holders of high-ranking office in a
State, such as the Head of State, Head of Government and Minister for Foreign Affairs,
enjoy immunities from jurisdiction in other States, both civil and criminal”. It 1s not
enough for the father to establish that he is entitled to some immunity from civil
Jurisdiction. He would have to go further and establish the scope of that immunity and,
in particular, that it extends to immunity from jurisdiction in civil claims in respect of
non-official acts and that it applies even when not visiting the country. The ICJ did not
need or purport to resolve those issues.

Nor does the comparison drawn by the ICJ with diplomatic and consular agents provide
the answer. As Mr Otty pointed out, the scope of their immunity is obviously different
from that of a Head of State, Head of Government or Minister of Foreign Affairs in at
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least one key respect: save when in transit to or from a posting, it applies in only one
foreign State — the receiving State. The immunity of diplomats from the civil jurisdiction
of that State protects them, among other things, from “the risk of trumped up or baseless
allegations and unsatisfactory tribunals”: Reyes v Al Malki [2019] AC 735, [12(3)]. The
fact that a diplomat, who is posted to the receiving State, requires protection from these
risks does not entail that the same 1s true of a Head of Government, who 1n most cases 1s
likely to be based in his own State. There can be no automatic assumption that a Head of
Government is entitled in everv foreign State to immunities of precisely the same scope
as are accorded by the receiving State to the head of a diplomatic mission while posted
in that State.

Insofar as we can glean any assistance from the ICJ’s judgment on the scope of the
immunity from civil jurisdiction to which a Head of Government is entitled, it seems to
us to tell against the father’s case. As the ICJ said, the immunities accorded to Ministers
of Foreign Affairs are granted “to ensure the effective performance of their functions on
behalf of their respective States” (see [53]) in order to “protect the individual concerned
against any active authority of another state which would hinder him or her in the
performance of his or her duties”: [54]. If these are the purposes for which the immunity
is granted, it is easy to see why immunity from criminal jurisdiction is required: because
“if a Minister for Foreign Affairs is arrested in another State on a criminal charge, he or
she 1s clearly thereby prevented from exercising the functions of his or her office”: [55].
Applying the same logic to Heads of Government, it 1s possible to see why inviolability
1s required, whether in respect of criminal or civil proceedings: if the person concerned
could be made the subject of a witness summons or subjected to the execution of a
judgment against the property he carries with him or against the place where he is staying,
that would be liable to deter him from travelling to transact the business of the State.

Articles 29-32 of the VCDR show that inviolability 1s distinct from immunity from civil
jurisdiction. If it is right to regard the immunity of a Head of Government as “functional”,
then, provided he or she is personally inviolable while on official visits, we would incline
to the view that the complete immunity from civil jurisdiction is not required to serve the
purposes identified in the Arrest Warrant case. As Joanne Foakes notes at p. 125, the

functional arguments for such a wide-ranging immunity are “less compelling”.!

Djibouti v France does not advance matters. It concerned the inviolability of a Head of
State who was the subject of a witness summons. Moreover, the determining factor was
whether the Head of State had been subjected to a “constraining act of authority”: [170].
Nothing in the judgment indicates that the exercise of civil jurisdiction in a case involving
non-official conduct would constitute such an act, provided that inviolability was
maintained.

!'To characterise the immunity as “functional” in this sense is merely to indicate that “it has a
function in international relations to protect the ability of the [office holder] to carry out his
functions and to promote international co-operation”: Azi- v 4ziz, [61] (Lawrence Collins LJ).
The focus 1s on what 1s necessary for holders of the relevant office in general, rather than what
1s necessary 1n the individual case. So, it would not be appropriate to consider a question at one
stage posed by Mr Otty: whether the immunity claimed would impede the father’s own
performance of his functions in this case.
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The materials we have seen demonstrate a marked /ack of consensus on three critical
points:

(a) whether a Head of Government enjoys the same immunities as a Head of State:
although Heads of State, Heads of Government and Ministers of Foreign Affairs
are all regarded as plenipotentiary representatives of their States in Article 7 of the
Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, that has not always been regarded as
sufficient to conclude that their immunities are i1dentical; the ILC sat on the fence
on this point in its Draft Articles on Jurisdictional Immunities of States and their
Property in 1991; Lord Millett drew a distinction between Heads of State and
Heads of Government in Pinochet in 1999; the Institut de Droit International
assimilated the two offices in 2001; Joanne Foakes considered the issue “less
straightforward” in 2014; and James Crawford in the latest edition of Brownlie
described it as “less settled” in 2019;

(b) whether the immunity enjoyed by a Head of State or Head of Government from
civil jurisdiction extends to claims in respect of non-officials acts: the Institut de
Droit International thought not in 2001; Sir Ivor Roberts cited the Institut’s view
as authoritative in the latest edition of Sarow 1n 2017; O’Keefe and Tams, by
contrast, said in 2013 that any immunity from civil jurisdiction must extend to
claims in respect of non-official conduct;

(¢) whether any immunity in respect of civil jurisdiction for non-official acts applies
to exercises of jurisdiction by the forum State while the relevant individual 1s not
on official business in that State: Judges Higgins, Kooijmans and Bergenthal in
[84] of their Separate Opinion in the Arrest Warrant case considered this point “far
less clear” in 2002; Joanne Foakes thought the arguments for absolute immunity
“less compelling” in 2014.

We would not accord any less weight to the US cases simply because US courts are
constitutionally required to defer to the view of the US Government on questions of
immunity. When attempting to ascertain whether a particular rule satisfies the stringent
requirements for identification as a rule of CIL, what matters 1s the practice of the State.
It is irrelevant for these purposes whether the organ with responsibility for deciding
questions of CIL is the executive or the judiciary. The cases relied upon by Lord Pannick
therefore provide some support for the proposition that the US considers that Heads of
Government, as well as Heads of State, are entitled to immunity from civil jurisdiction
even when they are not present in the US. But this does not come close to the kind of
evidence required for the identification of a rule of CIL, for two reasons. First, in the
Modi and Jibreel cases at least (and also in the older cases cited, involving Ariel Sharon
and Margaret Thatcher), the subject matter of the claims appears to have been conduct
on behalf of the State; and it 1s not clear from the materials before us that the immunity
being claimed and/or recognised was an immunity ratione personae, rather than an
iImmunity ratione materiae (1.e. State immunity). Second, and in any event, the US is
only one State. Even if one adds the States asserting the immunities recognised in these
cases (India, Singapore, Grenada) and those involved in the cases cited to support the US
Government’s view (Israel and the UK) the number 1s considerably less than that which
the Supreme Court in Benkharbouche considered insufficient to establish a rule of CIL.
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The Spanish legislation is of some interest, but reliance on legislation is dangerous in this
context, because, as Benkharbouche shows, States sometimes use domestic legislation to
confer immunities that are wider than required by CIL. In any event, even if Spain’s
legislation could be taken as an indicator of its view about what immunities it believes
CIL confers, the addition of one further State to the small list shown to adopt this view
does not supply the “widespread, representative and consistent practice” required for
identification of a rule of CIL.

For these reasons, we conclude that the father has not established to the standard required
by the authorities the existence of a rule of CIL conferring immunity from civil
jurisdiction on Heads of Government in respect of non-official acts.

Issue (b): Is the father precluded from invoking any immunity because he has initiated
proceedings himself?

The law as to the test for implied waiver by initiating proceedings
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In High Commissioner for India v Ghosh [1960] 1 QB 134, the High Commissioner for
India sued the defendant for a debt. The defendant counterclaimed for slander. The Court
of Appeal upheld the application to strike out the counterclaim on the ground that the
plaintiff was immune from the jurisdiction of the court.

At pp. 140-1, Jenkins LJ (with whom Morris and Ormerod LLJJ agreed) cited two passages
in the notes to the Rules of the Supreme Court:

“A foreign sovereign suing here submits to the jurisdiction so far as to subject
himself not only to process of discovery and so forth, but to any set-off or
cross-claim which the defendant may set up by way of defence against claim,
and which it is necessary for the courts to entertain in order to do justice
between the parties in regard to plaintive claim, but he does not let himself
open generally to counterclaims or cross actions.”

“A similar rule applies with a sovereign prince or state over whom our courts
have no jurisdiction (Mighell v Sultan of Johore [1894] 1 QB 149) submits
to bring an action in this country. The defendant is allowed to plead any set-
off or counterclaim against him which is an answer to his demand; but not to
recover any judgment against him for the excess, or to raise any counterclaim
which is ‘outside of and independent of the subject matter of” the claim.”

Jenkins LJ held at p. 141 as follows:

“I am of opinion that this counterclaim cannot be maintained unless it is
shown to be, as regards the relief it’s claims, sufficiently connected with or
allied to the subject matter of the claim as to make it necessary in the interests
of justice that it should be dealt with along with the claim.”

The VCDR, which has 192 States parties, provides further assistance as to the test for
determining when immunity is waived by the initiation of proceedings. Article 32, which
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1s incorporated into UK law so far as relating to diplomatic agents by the Diplomatic
Privileges Act 1964, provides insofar as material as follows:

“1. The immunity from jurisdiction of diplomatic agents... may be waived
by the sending State.

2. Waiver must always be express.

3. The initiation of proceedings by a diplomatic agent... shall preclude him
from invoking immunity from jurisdiction in respect of any counterclaim
directly connected with the principal claim.

4. Waiver of immunity from jurisdiction in respect of civil or administrative
proceedings shall not be held to imply waiver of immunity in respect of the
execution of the judgement, for which a separate waiver shall be necessary.”

Section 20(1) of the State Immunity Act 1978 confers the same immunity on a Head of
State as is enjoyed by the head of a diplomatic mission, so the rule in Article 32(3) applies
directly to Heads of State as a matter of UK law.

The formulation used in Article 32(3) of the VCDR (“any counterclaim directly
connected with the principal claim”) is also used in Article 45(3) of the Vienna
Convention on Consular Relations (1963), which has 180 States parties and is
incorporated into UK law by the Consular Relations Act 1968; and Article 41(3) of the
UN Convention on Special Missions, which has 39 States parties.

A slightly different formulation was used in the European Convention on State Immunity
(1972), which was ratified by the UK in 1979 and has eight States parties. There, Article
1(2) provides that a State cannot claim immunity in respect of any counterclaim “arising
out of the same legal relationship or the facts on which the principal claim is based”. That
1s given effect in UK law by s. 2(6) of the State Immunity Act 1978, which provides that
a submission to the jurisdiction in respect of any proceedings extends to a counterclaim
that “arises out of the same legal relationship or facts as the claim™.

Similar wording 1s reflected in the UN Convention on Jurisdictional Immunities of States
and their Property (2004), which was signed by the UK in 2005 and has 22 States parties
and 28 signatories. It was described “the most authoritative statement available on the
current international understanding of the limits of state immunity in civil cases”: Jones
v Ministry of Interior of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, [26] (Lord Bingham). Article 9 of
that Convention provides that a State which brings proceedings cannot invoke immunity
“In respect of any counterclaim arising out of the same legal relationship or facts as the
principal claim”.

In Re RFN, 77 ILR 452, the Supreme Court of Austria had to consider a claim by a father
who enjoyed immunity equivalent to that enjoyed by diplomats under the VCDR. He had
brought an application for custody of a child in the Austrian courts. The father withdrew
his application, but the mother later filed a petition to be granted custody. In response to
that, the father asserted immunity. The Austrian Supreme Court rejected the claim to
immunity, applying Article 32(3) of the VCDR and holding:
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“A diplomat who initiates proceedings loses the right to invoke immunity in
respect of a counterclaim directly connected with the principal claim. To that
extent he therefore runs the risk of being subjected to a counterclaim by his
opponent before the same jurisdiction.”

According to the Court, it did not matter that the mother’s application was not formally
a counterclaim in the father’s proceedings, because “[t]he term counterclaim
[Widerklage] 1s dependent not so much on the specific legal proceedings in which the
claims is raised but rather on the connection between two competing claims”.

Lord Pannick submits that Ghosh and Article 32 of the VCDR establish: first, that by
bringing a claim in this jurisdiction the father has not waived immunity in respect of other
proceedings commenced by the mother if they are “outside of and independent of the
subject-matter of the claim”; and second, that any waiver of immunity from jurisdiction
does not amount to a waiver of inviolability (which is dealt with separately by Article
29) or of immunity in respect of execution (see Article 32(4)).

Mr Otty submits that the test is whether the mother’s Part III and 1J Applications are
“directly connected” with the father’s applications or whether they “arise out of the same
legal relationship or facts™ as those claims.

For our part, we doubt whether there 1s any material difference between the various
formulations we have set out. We have approached the matter as follows:

(a) The starting point should be the test enunciated by Jenkins LJ in Ghosh: are the
mother’s applications “sufficiently connected with or allied to the subject matter of
the claim as to make it necessary in the interests of justice that it should be dealt
with along with the claim™?

(b) This test seems to us to concentrate on substance, rather than form. In that respect,
our approach follows that of the Austrian Supreme Court in Re RFN. The question
whether a particular claim is formally regarded as a “counterclaim”, or as brought
within the same proceedings as another claim, i1s unlikely to turn on domestic
procedural law. It would be incoherent if the application of a test derived from
international law turned on the niceties of domestic procedural law, though
procedural differences between the two claims may be of interest if and insofar as
they reflect differences of substance.

(¢) The focus of the inquiry should be on the directness of the connection between the
father’s and the mother’s applications. That connection could be established
because the applications arise out of the same legal relationship or because they
arise out of the same set of facts. In either case, establishing the connection will
require an exercise in judgment as to whether it is necessary in the interests of
Justice that the one should be dealt with along with the other.

The application of the test to the facts of this case
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In considering Jenkins LJ’s question (see para. 68(a) above), it is important to understand
the nature of the applications the mother is making. Although the mother’s Part III
application for permission to bring financial remedy claims following a foreign divorce
could be more widely drawn, she has expressly limited her application to provision for
the ongoing “security, integrity and wellbeing” requirements of herself and the children.
In this context, it being agreed and accepted that the father will submit to the court’s
jurisdiction with regard to the children’s financial needs during their minority (and
beyond) under Sch.1 to the CA 1989, reference to the “the children” is to J and Z once
they are adults. In that regard, as is accepted by those who represent her, the mother’s
application seeks to establish an entirely novel manifestation of the court’s inherent
jJurisdiction.

Tuming to the first element of the test as we have cast it, “the claims” are the father’s
applications under the inherent jurisdiction and the father’s application under CA 1989
for interim child arrangements. Insofar as the existing claims under the inherent
jurisdiction and as to a “child arrangements order” relate to the children, they do so only
during their minority (up to the age of 18 years): s. 1 of the Family Law Reform Act
1969, s 1;s. 105 of the CA 1989.

It is also of note that the mother’s Schedule 1 claim is similarly limited to a child under
the age of 18, subject to the exceptions in paras. 2 and 6 of Sch. 1, which enlarge the
court’s jurisdiction to cover a young person in education or training or where “there are
special circumstances which justify the making of an order”. In the unusual
circumstances of this case, it has been accepted by the father that the exception in
paragraph 2(1)(a) applies here and he has conceded that the court will have jurisdiction
under Sch. 1 to make orders for the security and protection of J and Z for the whole of
their adult lives. Subject to that concession, however, the existing claims made by both
parties all relate to the protection and welfare of the children whilst they are under the
age of 18 years. None of the existing claims relate to free-standing financial provision
for the mother as an individual (as opposed to in her roles as the carer of the children
during their minority).

In the context of this case, the question is, therefore, whether the father’s applications
relating to the welfare of the children during their minority are sufficiently connected
with or allied to the claims that the mother now wishes to bring for financial provision
for herself alone and for the children as adults under Part III and/or the 1J to make it
“necessary in the interests of justice” for them to be dealt with along with the original
claims?

The mother asserts that the answer to this question is in the affirmative because both sets
of claims arise from the same circumstances, namely the risk posed by the father, and
those instructed by him, to the security and wellbeing of the mother and the children.
This risk, it 1s said, is continuing and, indeed, will be life-long and will not evaporate on
the date that each child reaches the age of 18 years. Her claims therefore arise out of the
same relationship and circumstances as the existing claims. The mother’s position before
the court in relation to all of the claims is said to be driven by the same desire to protect
her human rights and those of the children in the face of the father’s actions and his
attempts to return them to Dubai.
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Procedurally, the Part ITT and 1J applications are properly before the same division of the
High Court as the father’s claims. Although they could not be properly characterised as
a “set off” or “counterclaim” (as that term is used in English civil procedure), they could
be heard together. It is, however, of some note that they do not have to be. For example,
the Schedule 1 application 1s listed to be heard by a different judge and the litigation is
led for each party by different leading counsel from those who lead in the existing
proceedings. Further, the children, who are parties to the current applications in wardship
and under the CA 1989, and are represented by a children’s guardian, would not be
parties to the pending applications. These differences seem to us to reflect differences in
substance between the father’s claims and the mother’s Part ITI and 1J applications.

Applying the test we have set out at para. 68 above, we are unpersuaded that there is

sufficient connection between the pending applications made by the father and those

made by the mother which are currently pending. The following specific factors support

this conclusion:

(a) The father’s applications relate to the children’s welfare as children, whereas the
mother’s pending claims do not arise, with respect to J and Z, until they become
adults.

(b) The mother’s claim for provision for herself as an adult former spouse is of a
different nature to the child welfare applications made by the father.

(c) Although the father’s applications are made, in part, under the inherent jurisdiction,
as 1s the mother’s pending IJ application, the mother’s application would require a
wholly novel exercise of the jurisdiction to make financial provision for three
mentally capable adults (mother and the grown-up children). The fact that,
procedurally, both are brought under the inherent jurisdiction does not, of itself,
establish a sufficient connection.

(d) Asa matter of ‘substance’ the two competing categories of claim are distinct. One
relates to the welfare of children, the other to financial provision for adults.

(e) Whilst, as a matter of process, the two categories of application could be heard by
the same judge in the same overall court process, in reality they would be treated
as separate elements and heard on different occasions. In the event, the financial
matters are currently being heard by a different judge with the parties represented
by leading counsel other than those who take the lead in the proceedings relating
to child welfare.

(f) Itisalso of note that the children are parties and have separate representation in the
father’s applications, but would not be parties in the mother’s Part IIT application.

(g) The two sets of applications do not arise out of the same legal relationships. In the
father’s applications, the parties are “mother and father”, in the mother’s
applications they are former spouses. In the former, J and Z are dependant children,
in the latter they would fall to be assessed as competent, non-dependant, adults.

(h) Whilst all of the applications arise from the same basic set of facts, those
underlying facts have been, or will be, determined within the current proceedings
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to which both parents are full parties. Insofar as any more detailed facts may need
to be determined for the mother’s pending financial applications (for example, the
scale and cost of her security operation), those matters (almost by definition) will
not relate to matters concerning the welfare of the children, but will focus on the
long-term financial needs of the mother and J and Z once they are adults.

76  Taking all of these matters into account, we do not consider that it 1s “necessary in the
interests of justice™ for the mother’s pending applications to be dealt with along with the
applications made by the father which are currently before the court.

Issue (c): Are the Part III and 1J applications covered by the father’s express waivers?

77  Article 32(2) of the VCDR 2 provides that “waiver must always be express”. On 31 July
2019, the father filed a court statement setting out certain express waivers:

2. The Father’s immunity is waived as to the following applications which
are currently before the Court (and only those applications):

(1) The Father’s application for orders in relation to the children (Case
Number FD19P00246).

(2) The Mother’s application for an inherent jurisdiction order in relation to
the children (Case Number FD19P00380).

(3) The Mother’s application for leave to apply for a Forced Marriage
Protection Order and for a Forced Marriage Protection Order (Case
Number FD19F05020).

(4) The Mother’s application for a non-molestation order (Case Number
FD19F00064).

3. The Father’s immunity as to execution of any order made in the above
applications and as to inviolability in relation to enforcement of any such order are
also waived.”

78 In a further document signed on 4 October 2019 by the father on his own behalf and on
behalf of the UAE and the Emirate of Dubali it was stated:

“The following matters are hereby confirmed by His Highness personally, by the
UAE and by the Emirate of Dubal, subject to paragraphs 5 and 6 below:

(1) The immunity of His Highness as to the Applications (and only the
Applications) is waived.

(2) The immunity of His Highness as to execution of any order made in the
Applications is waived.

(3) The inviolability of his Highness in relation to enforcement of any order made
in the Applications is waived.
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(4) The inviolability of the premises of His Highness in the UK (including the suite
at the [addresses given]) in relation to enforcement of any order made in the
Applications i1s waived.

5. The waivers set out above apply only to the Applications and to orders made in
the Applications.

6. Any privileges, immunities or inviolability which His Highness was or is entitled
to and/or enjoyed or enjoys under international law and/or under English law in
relation to giving oral evidence and/or in relation to attendance at any hearing or
directions appointment have not been waived (whether by this document or by the
statement provided on 31 July 2019 or otherwise) and are maintained.”

The father’s case on waiver is shortly put on the basis that a strict approach must be taken
and that 1t is plain that the only express waivers that have been given do not, and cannot,
relate to the Part ITI or new LT applications that are now made by the mother.

For the mother, Mr Otty submitted that the waivers made by the father must, for obvious
common sense reasons, embrace orders that had (and have) yet to be sought in the stated
applications and that the waivers should be construed in a sufficiently broad manner so
as to include the Part IIT and IT applications.

With respect to the 1T application, Mr Otty makes two central points. First, that the father
has clearly submitted to the court’s inherent jurisdiction and has expressly waived any
immunity with respect to such proceedings. The mother’s pending 1J claim is also made
under the inherent jurisdiction, and, indeed, uses the same case numbers. The father must
therefore be taken to have expressly waived immunity to the further exercise of the
court’s inherent jurisdiction with respect to his children. Until the mother made her claim
in June 2020, the father made no attempt to qualify his submission to the inherent
Jurisdiction, and it 1s now too late to do so. By waiving immunity with respect to the
proceedings under the inherent jurisdiction, the father must be taken to have waived
immunity in respect of any order that the court can legitimately make within those
proceedings.

Second, Mr Otty submits that, as the court has allowed the proceedings to be issued under
the existing case numbers, the court therefore has jurisdiction to make such orders as are
available to it pursuant to its inherent jurisdiction in the existing proceedings — which are
the subject to the father’s express waiver.

This is, in our view, an adventurous submission. Save for the present preliminary
consideration as to immunity and waiver, the court has yet to conduct any substantive
hearing of the mother’s 1J application. As we have already noted, her application for the
court to exercise its inherent jurisdiction to provide financial relief to an adult former
spouse and to adult children, none of whom is said to lack mental capacity, seeks to open
up an entirely novel aspect of the court’s jurisdiction. On that basis, it is, in our view,
untenable to argue that, simply by allowing the application to be issued under the same
court number as existing proceedings, the court has in some manner indicated that it has
accepted jurisdiction to grant any of these new claims. In like manner, a waiver by the
father cannot be said to encompass claims that were, at the time that the waiver was
given, simply unknown as potential aspects of the court’s inherent jurisdiction.
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With respect to the Part III claim, Mr Otty accepts that the position 1s more complicated
in that, before the claim can proceed, the mother must first obtain the court’s permission.
The mother nevertheless claims that the express waivers given do apply to the Part III
claim as it is, properly understood, a counterclaim to the father’s substantive applications.

The submissions on this part of the case were made economically by counsel, and we can
be succinct 1n setting out our conclusion, which is that the express waivers given by the
father 1n July 2019, and clarified in October 2019, do not encompass the mother’s
pending Part III claim, nor her claim under the IJ for financial provision for herself and
the children once adult.

Both parties accept that, to be effective in this context, any waiver must be express. We
accept the need for strictness in construing any waivers given. On that basis it is, in our
view, simply not possible to stretch the wording of the waivers that the father has given
with respect to the proceedings that were before the court to encompass either a financial
claim by his former wife under Part III or the claim that is now made for financial relief
under the 1J.

Mr Otty is right to indicate that the position with respect to waiver is complicated by the
need for the mother to obtain the permission of the court before she can launch her
substantive application. As such, the Part III proceedings have yet to commence as the
permission application still awaits determination. It is not possible on any basis to read
the father’s express waivers as applying to a matrimonial financial remedy claim by his
former wife which, nearly two years after the waivers were given, has not yet been fully
launched.

In relation to the 1J claim, although it is possible to contemplate that a party who waives
immunity with respect to a set of proceedings does so on the basis that they may therefore
be bound by whatever orders that court may make that are within its jurisdiction, we
consider that, in construing the waiver and thereby understanding that which is being
waived, regard must be had to the understanding that the parties and the court would have
had as to the extent of the court’s jurisdiction at the time that the waiver was given. The
claim now made by the mother under the 1J is wholly novel. There is no suggestion that
the father (or the court) knew, or must have known, that the inherent jurisdiction
proceedings with respect to the children would include a claim for free-standing financial
relief for the mother, J and Z in the years after they ceased to be minors.

A separate but related point arises from the fact that the waivers made by the father with
respect to the inherent jurisdiction both expressly state that they are made in proceedings
“in relation to the children”. That phrase does not encompass a free-standing claim by
the mother, nor, in our view, a claim with respect to the children’s needs once they have
ceased to be minors.

Finally, we have only turned to consider express waiver after reviewing whether there is
a direct connection between the two sets of claims. Given our conclusion that there is no
sufficient direct connection, it is difficult to contemplate how, on the same facts, we could
hold that waivers given in one set of proceedings could expressly apply to other,
unconnected, claims.
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For the reasons given at paras 44 to 55 above, we have concluded that the father has not
established to the standard required by the authorities the existence of a rule of CIL
conferring immunity from civil jurisdiction on Heads of Government in respect of non-
official acts.

That determination is sufficient to dispose of, and reject, the father’s claim for immunity,
but, in the event that we are wrong on that primary issue, our conclusions on the other
two issues are as follows: the father is not precluded from invoking immunity because
he has waived it by initiating proceedings himself (see paras 56-76 above); and he has
not expressly waived immunity with respect to the mother’s Part III and 1J claims (see
paras 77-90 above).



In the High Court of Justice
Family Division

No: FD19P00246, FD19P00380,
FD19F05020 and FD19F00064

The Children:

Sheikha Al Jalila bint Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum (a girl, D.O.B.
02/12/2007)

Sheikh Zayed bin Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum (a boy, D.O.B. 07/01/2012)
ORDER MADE BY THE PRESIDENT OF THE FAMILY DIVISION
The Parties

The applicant father is His Highness Sheikh Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum
(represented by Harbottle & Lewis LLP).

The respondent mother is Her Royal Highness Princess Haya bint Al Hussein
(represented by Payne Hicks Beach LLP).

The children, named above, are represented by CAFCASS Legal by the children’s
guardian

The interested media organisations are Guardian News & Media Limited, Associated
Newspapers Limited, the BBC, The Financial Times Limited, Sky Plc, Reuters News
and Media Limited, PA Media, Telegraph Media Group Limited and Times
Newspapers Limited (“the media™)

RECITALS

UPON the Orders of the President of the Family Division, Sir Andrew MacFarlane,
in these proceedings dated 25 May 2021and 16 September 2021

AND UPON the Court not having granted permission for the reporting of any of the
hearings taking place in private before Moor J concerning the financial claims for the
mother and the children pursuant to Schedule 1 of the Children Act 1989 and Part III
of the Matrimonial and Family Proceedings Act 1984 (“the Finance Proceedings”)

Please address all communications for the Court 1o The Family Division of the High Court, 1" Mezzanine,
Queen’s Building, Royal Courts of Justice, Strand, London WC2A 2LL quoting the case number in the top right
hand comer of this form. The Court Office is open between 10.00 a.m. and 4.30 p.m. on Mondays to Fridays.



AND UPON the Court having made a Reporting Restriction Order by Order of the
President of the Family Division dated 21 February 2020 in respect of the identity of
the person named in Confidential Schedule 1 to that order

AND UPON the identity of Mr X having been withheld in the proceedings by
paragraph 11 of the Order of the President of the Family Division dated 12 March
2021

AND UPON the identity of Director 1 (whose name is for the avoidance of doubt set
out in Confidential Schedule 1 to this Order) having been ordered to be withheld in
the Finance Proceedings by order of Moor J dated 9 September 2021 and directions
having been given for his evidence to be given at the hearing commencing on 25
October 2021 subject to the imposition of special measures to protect his identity.

AND UPON the Court of Appeal directing by paragraph 3 of its Order dated 25 June
2021 (in relation to the Immunities and FAS appeals) and by paragraph 3 of its Order
dated 10 August 2021 (in relation to the Fact-Finding appeal) that the issue of
publication of the Court of Appeal’s judgments in respect of these appeals (Judgments
(iv), (viii), (x) and (xi} below) be determined by the President of the Family Division.

AND UPON the application of the media by notice dated 15 September 2021

AND UPON the following judgments being the “Unpublished Judgments™ for the
purposes of this Order:

(i) The Foreign Act of State Judgment dated 29 October 2020 with neutral citation
[2020] EWHC 2883 (Fam),

(i)  The Non-Molestation Judgment dated 9 December 2020 with neutral citation
[2021] EWHC 3305 (Fam);

(iti)  The Legal Services Order (LSO) Judgment dated 13 January 2021 with neutral
citation [2021] EWHC 303 (Fam);

(iv)  The Court of Appeal Foreign Act of State Judgment dated 8 February 2021
with neutral citation [2021] EWCA Civ 129;

(v)  The Case Management Judgment of the President dated 12 March 2021 with
neutral citation [2021] EWHC 915 (Fam);

(vi)  The Immunities Judgment dated 19 March 2021 with neutral citation [2021]
EWHC 660 (Fam);

(vii) The Fact-Finding Judgment dated 5 May 2021 with neutral citation [2021]
EWHC 1162 (Fam)

(viii) The Court of Appeal Immunities (permission to appeal) Judgment dated 9 June
2021 with neutral citation [2021] EWCA Civ 890;

Please address all communications for the Court to The Family Division of the High Court, 1* Mezzanine,
Queen's Building, Royal Counts of Justice, Strand, London WC2A 2LL quoting the case number in the top right
hand comer of this form. The Court Office is open between 10,00 am. and 4.30 p.m. on Mondays to Fridays.
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(ix)  The Lives With Judgment dated 10 June 2021 with neutral citation [2021]
EWHC 1577 (Fam)

(x)  The Court of Appeal Fact-Finding (permission to appeal) Judgment dated 15
June 2021 with neutral citation [2021] EWCA Civ 900; and

(xi)  The Court of Appeal Fact-Finding Judgment dated 5 August 2021 with neutral
citation [2021] EWCA Civ 1216.

AND subject to any directions of the President as to timing of the steps ordered below
with regard to the urgent need for the guardian to meet with the children

AND UPON the Court considering the skeleton arguments of the parties and the media
and hearing Lord Pannick QC, Richard Spearman QC, Godwin Busuttil and Stephen
Jarmain on behalf of the father, Charles Geekie QC, Justin Rushbrooke QC and Sharon
Segal on behalf of the mother, Deirdre Fottrell QC, Tom Wilson and Marlene Cayoun
on behalf of the Children's Guardian, and Sarah Palin on behalf of the media

IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1. Subject and without prejudice to paragraph 7 of this Order below, permission is
given:

(1) for the Unpublished Judgments and the corresponding orders to be made
public.

{ii)  to journalists who have been present at any relevant court hearings to
report what they observed at those hearings insofar as it is directly related
to the Unpublished Judgments, save that there be no reporting of any
information relating to anything said or written in argument or in evidence
relating to other aspects of the welfare of the children, including but not
limited to their experiences, their health and education, or their views about
publication, or the history of contact between them and their father
(“Welfare Information™);

(iii)  to journalists who accessed the transcripts of the hearings held in private
on 6 October 2020, 21 October 2020, 23 October 2020, 30 October 2020,
17 November 2020, 20 November 2020, 9 and 10 December 2020 and 13
January 2021 and without media attendance to publish material arising
from those transcripts (as noted by the journalists) insofar as it is directly

Please address all communications for the Court to The Family Division of the High Court, 1" Mezzanine,
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(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

related to the Unpublished Judgments, save that there be no publication of
(a) any Welfare Information, or (b) any of the information set out in the
left hand column of the table at Annex A (attached to the mother’s opening
documents dated 7 April 2021 for the fact finding hearing), under the
heading ‘server’ and ‘Pegasus Apps’ or (c) the expressions set out in
Confidential Schedule 2 to this order;

for the skeleton arguments and other written submissions directly related
to the Unpublished Judgments (“the Skeleton Arguments”) to be made
available to duly accredited journalists and for those journalists to report
the contents of those written submissions insofar as they are directly
related to the Unpublished Judgments, save that there be no reporting of
(a) any Welfare Information or (b) any of the information set out in the left
hand column of the table at Annex A (attached to the mother's opening
documents dated 7 April 2021 for the fact finding hearing), under the
heading ‘server’ and ‘Pegasus Apps’; with liberty to apply in respect of
such reporting or (c) the expressions set out in Confidential Schedule 2 to
this order;

for the judgments of the President in respect of any application for
permission to appeal the Unpublished Judgments of the President, and the
corresponding orders, to be made public, save that there be no publication
of any Welfare Information;

to journalists who were present at the hearing of the media’s application
before the President on Wednesday 29 September 2021 to report what they
observed at that hearing save that there be no reporting of any Welfare
Information or the matters discussed at the hearing that relate to the
arrangements for the welfare hearing scheduled to be heard on 6-10
December 2021 including in particular the observations of the President in
relation to the involvement of the Father in that welfare hearing; and

for the skeleton arguments served on the media by the parties for the
purposes of the hearing of the media’s application on 29 September 2021

to be reported save for (i) the fifth sentence of paragraph 4: (ii) sub-
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paragraphs 4(i)-(x),_(iii) the first sentence of paragraph 5; and (iv)
paragraph 6 of the skeleton argument filed on behalf of the Guardian under

the section headed ‘The Guardian's position on Publication’, the
publication and reporting of which remains strictly prohibited.

2. Permission is given to the lawyers for the media organisations who have given
undertakings to the Court in respect of the Unpublished Judgments and the
skeleton arguments served on the media by the parties for the purposes of the
hearing of the media’s application on 29 September 2021 to release those
judgments and skeleton arguments to nominated journalists under a strict
publication embargo of 24 hours in advance of their publication on the Bailii

website.

3. The orders referred to in 1(i) and (v) above, the Skeleton Arguments as defined
above, and the copies of the skeleton arguments filed on behalf of the parties in
respect of the appeals, and the father’s applications for permission to appeal to the
Supreme Court and the Notices of Objection, and any orders (or judgments) made
in respect of those applications, all as in the bundle supplied to the court and the
parties at 7.27pm on 27 September 2021, shall be provided by the mother’s
solicitors to the media in electronic form and with a watermark applied to each

page by no later than the start of the embargo period.

4. The provisions of paragraph 1 above shall not take effect until the publication of
the Unpublished Judgments on the Bailii website at 4pm on Wednesday 6 October
2021. Permission is also given to Derek Gill, Clerk to the President of the Family
Division, to release the Unpublished Judgments to those journalists present at the
hearings but not represented by Mr Andriano subject to (i) any journalists
requesting the judgments from Mr Gill proving to the President’s satisfaction that
they were present at the hearings; (ii) the same strict publication embargo as those

represented by Mr Andriano.

Please address all communications for the Court to The Family Division of the High Court, 1" Mezzanine,
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5. Upon publication of the Unpublished Judgments:

(1) the lawyers for the media organisations who have given undertakings to
the Court in respect of the judgments and the Material (as defined in those
undertakings) are released from those undertakings; and

(i))  for the avoidance of doubt, the restrictions imposed by paragraphs 11 to
13 of the Order of the President of the Family Division dated 26 February
2021 shall not apply to prevent communication of any information which,
by virtue of this Order, the Court has permitted to be made public, and:

a. paragraph 6(i) of the Order of Lord Justice Peter Jackson dated 8
September 2020 is discharged;

b. paragraph 6(iii) of the Order of Lord Justice Peter Jackson dated 8
September 2020 is discharged in relation to information which, by
virtue of this Order, the court has permitted to be made public and
paragraph 21 of the Order of the President of the Family Division dated
6 October 2020 are discharged; and

c. save as provided by the Order of Lord Justice Peter Jackson dated 8
September 2020 (as amended by this order), paragraph 21 of the Order
of the President of the Family Division dated 6 October 2020 is
discharged.

(iii)  the prohibition under s97(2)(b) of the Children Act 1989 on publishing
any material likely to identify the Berkshire address of the Children is
revoked.

6. There shall be no publication of (i) any information derived from the proceedings
likely to identify Mr X as a person concerned in the proceedings or (ii) any
information likely to identify Director 1 as a person concerned in the proceedings,
or which otherwise contains material which is liable to, or might lead to, the

identification of Director 1 in any such respect, provided that nothing in this Order
Please address all commumications for the Court to The Family Division of the High Court, 1% Mezzanine,
Queen's Building, Royal Counts of Justice, Sirand, London WC2A 2LL qguoting the case number in the top right
hand comer of this form. The Court Office is open between 10.00 a.m. and 4.30 p.m. on Mondays to Fridays.
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7.

8.

shall prevent the publication, disclosure or communication of any information

which is contained in the Unpublished Judgments.

Nothing in this order shall prevent:

(a) any person from publishing information relating to any part of a hearing in a

court in England and Wales in which the court was sitting in public and did

not itsell make any order restricting publication;

(b) any person from publishing information which before the service on that

person of this Order was already in the public domain as a result of publication
by another person based in this jurisdiction in any newspaper, magazine,
sound or television broadcast or cable or satellite programme service, or on the

internet websile of a media organisation based 1n this jurisdiction;

{c) Mr X from giving his written consent to being identified by name; and
(d) publication of the information in 1(iii)(b), (iii)(c), (iv)(b) and (c) provided that

it is not derived from these proceedings.

Confidential Schedule 1 to this order shall only be served on (a) the media and (b)
any other person with the permission of the court, the mother having been given
notice of any such application. For the avoidance of doubt Schedule 1 shall not be

served on the father or his representatives.

Confidential Schedule 2 to this order shall only be served on (a) the media and (b)
any other person with the permission of the court, the mother having been given

notice of any such application.

10. The father shall pay the mother’s costs of and incidental to the Lives With

11.

Application agreed in the sum of £225,000 plus VAT, with credit being given for

funds paid by the father pursuant to the legal services orders.

The father shall pay the mother’s costs of and occasioned by the publicity issue in
the sum of £560,000 plus VAT, with credit being given for funds paid by the father

pursuant to the legal services orders.

Please address all communications for the Court to The Family Division of the High Coun, 1% Mezzanine,
Queen’s Building, Royal Courts of Justice, Strand, London WC2A 2LL quoting the case number in the top right
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12. There be liberty to apply for the purposes of carrying the above Order into effect
and generally.

DATED this 29th day of September 2021
RL
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nfidential Schedule |

[The name of Director 1.]
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Confidential Schedule 2

security-sysdiagnose.txt

tmp.8upO4ljV
tmp-5555494496e87f7bf6773113b15446dfbc6e2b05
tmp-5555494473ee2772a22837d7a5998ac00b93dd27
tmp.8Gf11LdP
tmp-555549448e65fceat1933bd6a81d5¢0337ae8 1e8
tmp.45Insqwz
tmp-555549448adlcf2fe3c382b9b854a5¢c99e00964a
tmp.0xPmCwdH
tmp-5555494443922e9386e630249b5d3dbB6ef45127
tmp-5555494433ef8a7cbcab3cabb3 1dbi87cce 19940
tmp-5555494484507b3a0db939269f0f0149788bb 1 a0
tmp-555549441bfa2af42b123686ad9cB8a58e57ea78a

tmp-5555494485f8b3cad9b83 1c2a5b0da2f864388b2
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	1. I deal first with paragraph 9.  I am plain that there needs to be an experts' meeting.  That would be the normal course.  This is highly complicated material and the more that any distinction and dispute that there may be between the two experts can be flushed out, acknowledged, explained and then committed to paper or video before the hearing the better.  It will enable us all to engage with it more effectively at the hearing.
	2. The alternative is for there to be no experts' meeting, for Dr. Marczak to give his evidence and for us then separately to hear what Professor Beresford may have to say about what he has said. The development of the whole concept of expert meetings arose because of the unsatisfactory nature of that process.
	3. The main objection is that, on the father's case, Dr. Marczak is seen as entirely partisan, he does not come to the court, on their submission, as a freestanding independent expert who has been instructed for the proceedings. The basis of those submissions are wellunderstood and they will no doubt feed in to submissions about how reliable his evidence is for me to consider at the final hearing.  I will look forward to hearing those submissions at the time and they are to be given full weight.  However, that is for then.
	4. I do not think that those matters cut across the expert meeting process being valuable in itself.  Dr. Marczak comes to that process, certainly with my eyes wide open as to where he comes from in terms of his origins into the proceedings.  But, provided the experts' meeting can be recorded in full in the way that we have now canvassed, I am comfortable with it taking place and with there being no opportunity for there to be any surreptitious subversion or whatever the father is concerned about of one expert of another, and certainly with all of us being able to see what goes on and for it to be the subject of comment questioning and submissions in due course.
	5. The experts' meeting is, therefore, to take place.  It is to be recorded on video.  I do not share the lack of confidence in the ability for that to be done.  If it really cannot be done, it cannot be, but I would expect it to be recorded on video, and as has been discussed, almost immediately after the hearing, as soon as possible (so that is within 24 hours) a transcript of the experts' meeting is to be disclosed to the father with any redactions for any confidential references during the meeting taken out of the written transcript. As soon as possible thereafter, an adequately redacted copy of the video recording is also to be made available to the father.  Hopefully, that deals with the experts' meeting.
	6. I now refer to paragraph 12.  So far as the father's application for disclosure of the material upon which Dr. Marczak and now Professor Beresford will have given their reports, I refuse the father's application.  I am prepared to give a more detailed judgment if required in writing, but in essence, the position I take is one of high principle.  It was a wholly exceptional course for the court to take to permit the father to disclose the written material in the case to a shadow expert and, in particular, for that expert to be based outside the jurisdiction of this court.  I did so for good reasons, as I saw them to be, and I maintain the view that that was the right and fair decision to take.
	7. Because of the complicated nature of material in this case, the father and his legal team are entitled to have someone who is technically and scientifically sighted in respect of that material to help them understand what is said in the report and to inform the shape of their further enquiries and any challenges they wish to make within the court process, but it goes no further.
	8. It was never the court's intention that that instructed agency, Signia, as it has turned out to be, would develop into a separate expert who would have access to the underlying material and conduct their own assessment of it.  It has always been open to the father to make an application under Part 25 of the Family Procedure Rules for leave to instruct his own freestanding expert and for that then to be conducted in the ordinary way with everything the expert has and everything the expert says open and transparent within the process.  That has not happened.  That is not the role of Signia, and it is not right now for Signia to be brought forward to undertake that role, particularly as there is no indication that Signia's report on the underlying material would be disclosed into the court proceedings, in any event.
	9. What I have given permission for, acknowledging the difficulties in the case and acknowledging the need for a fair process, is the instruction of a single joint expert and the court and the parties have been tasked with the difficult operation of (a) finding an expert and now (b) finding a second one.  We have persevered with that, precisely to try to meet the fair trial needs of the process, and to do so in an open way where all involved in the court process can see what is going on and can see how that expert opinion is first given and then developed by the staged process that I put in place as that expert has exposure to Dr. Marczak's report.
	10. I have now sanctioned a further stage in that transparent and, as I see it, fair process in approving the arrangements for the experts' meeting that I have done, but the disclosure of the raw material to Signia is way beyond any line that is required for fairness and is wholly without principle in terms of the way that the courts in this jurisdiction, certainly in the family jurisdiction, approach the instruction of experts.  I would be able to give more detail in relation to that judgment if that is required, but I stand on high principle and simply say �no� and I therefore refuse that application.
	11. Moving on, I think 14 and 15 are to do with Mr. X and so is 16.  Again, this is a matter that has been raised a number of times.  There are clear sensitivities here and a balance has to be struck, but I am fully satisfied that it would not be proportionate to require Mr. X's name to be disclosed.  Mr. X, his contribution, as it were, sits within Dr. Marczak's overall analysis.  Mr. X is part of that analysis, but he is not the only factor relied upon.  The fact that his identity has not been disclosed to the father may affect the degree of weight that is to be put upon that element of Dr. Marczak's analysis.  That is a matter that will have to be visited during any factfinding process, but I am persuaded that the detriment to Mr. X in disclosing his identity to the father, particularly if that is done in a way that is not going to allow him to know that that is happening, and where the father refuses to permit Mr. X to be told the identities of the parties in these proceedings before he is invited to give consent to the disclosure of his name, in my view is not justified and is not fair to Mr. X.
	12. Equally, the father's knowledge of who Mr. X is, in my view, of only marginal importance in the case. The overall case will stand or fall, to a very large extent, upon Dr. Marczak's approach, his methodology, the basic evidence upon which he relies, of which Mr. X is a part, but is not the whole.  The mother is not going to prove her case solely because Mr. X is a feature of it, equally, it may not fail because of what is said about Mr. X.  He is a satellite element within the whole, rather than at the core of the case and it is therefore disproportionate, in my view, to require the disclosure of his identity now.
	13. The proposed course of action is for the independent counsel who has been instructed to be given information so that she can conduct some basic screening check of the material.  That seems to me a proportionate step to take and we see what the response is from that.
	14. This is an issue that can be revisited as we move forward, but at the moment, I am very clear that I am not persuaded that Mr. X's identity is to be disclosed, other than to independent counsel, for her to undertake that step.
	15. Moving on to the difficult question of whether a request is made to the litigants in the pending litigation in Israel, for them to send a copy of what is referred to as a contract that is at the centre of that litigation.  The mother's team wish that to happen in circumstances where there is an inability to access directly material from the UAE with respect to the use or otherwise of the Pegasus software. This other information is referred to in the public domain and may indicate that Dubai and/or another State in the UAE is a customer of the Pegasus software. If so, this is potentially relevant and has substantial potential importance in the case. I clearly understand that and I am sympathetic to the request.
	16. The father's case is not that the request is unmerited as a matter of principle, his prime concern is for the children and that this request will lead to the dots being joined, as Lord Pannick described in his oral submissions, very quickly, with certainly the international Press, if not the Press here, being able to publish something that indicates the nature of the dispute which currently is being litigated before this court in confidential proceedings. The mischief that the father seeks to avoid is for the children then to learn that there are phonehacking allegations by that media disclosure and be upset by it and hear about it in an uncontrolled way.
	17. Again, obviously I understand that and the father's submission, through Lord Pannick, is that what is to be gained forensically by the disclosure of any contract is not so important and weighty in the case as to justify the risk of harm to the children's welfare by the potential for disclosure which I have described.  That is a longwinded way of saying it is disproportionate, therefore, to sanction the request being made.
	18. A further difficulty has been identified, rightly and helpfully, by Ms. Fottrell, in submissions, which is that the agency who makes the request from this court, Cafcass, the court itself, or Payne Hicks Beach, is likely to give a heavy hint as to what the case involves, and the widely reported accounts in the Press of there being a dispute between these parents about these children will readily lead to an understanding in Israel of why the contract is being sought, and again I understand that.
	19. The position I am left in is that I do consider that the request for the disclosure of the document from Israel is justified and that it is proportionate.  I think, provided the requesting agency from this court is sufficiently neutral, the risk of it leading to Press reports asserting that there is a phonehacking allegation between these parents, which is being litigated in this court, is relatively remote, and the risk of the children hearing about it in an uncontrolled and unexpected way in the media is relatively small.  It cannot be ignored, but relatively small.  It is nowhere near as high as the father, through Lord Pannick, was describing, provided the agency that makes the request is not one that, of itself, identifies the nature of the dispute.
	20. Of the various options, I think the most likely to be seen as neutral and not give any hint as to the underlying litigation is for the independent counsel to be used as a post-box, as Mr. Geekie submitted, for counsel and her chambers, if she is willing to do this, simply to be the source of the request, the point of contact, and for the letter sent by counsel to be drafted by Cafcass, no doubt approved by the other parties.
	21.  That is, as it were, where I am on that tricky point at the moment.  If independent counsel cannot undertake this function, it will have to be reconsidered.  I do think that of the other options, using the Clerk to Peter Jackson LJ is probably the least likely to indicate the underlying nature, but there may be, when we have had time for thought, other options which are similarly neutral and nonidentifying.  I give leave for the request to be made and, subject to those observations, I sanction the use of independent counsel to undertake the task.
	22. I think all of the rest of the order relates to the timetable.  I am just going to switch to
	MR. GEEKIE:  I believe it does, but in relation to the letter to Israel, there is the draft, if whether by now or Monday you can say whether that is approved or not
	THE PRESIDENT:  I need to read that.  I will deal with that.
	MR. GEEKIE:  Thank you.
	THE PRESIDENT:
	23. The timetable, as we all recognise, is concertinaed, now, as I think we all realised it would be, to achieve the necessary steps which still have to be undertaken as quickly as possible, but in the a way which gives the parties sufficient time before the hearing starts on Tuesday, 13th April, to put their cases before the court.  I think there is now agreement as to the dates on which Professor Beresford will file his report, which is expected to be 21st March, realistically and if Dr. Marczak needs until Tuesday, the 30th, then one day is not going to alter matters there.  The key thing is the experts' meeting, and it is agreed that that should take place on 6th July.  The question is when the father is to file a statement of his case?  That is not a statement from the father, but it is a statement from his team setting out what his case is.  It is accepted that that will not be his case or his final case on the technical matters, which will still be churning through the report and expert meeting process which still has time to run.  But it is acknowledged that the father is likely to be putting forward a secondary case, his primary case being simply to say to the mother, "prove it" and his case being that she will be unable to prove it both as to the issue of the phones being hacked  and Lord Pannick rightly points to the fact that currently the two single joint experts who have been instructed have not found any evidence of hacking on the raw material that they have examined of itself  and secondly, even if hacking is proved, the link between the hacking and the father will not be established, so the case simply is to prove it.
	24. Within that process, the father is likely to assert a number of matters, no doubt, the principal theme of which will be that even if there has been hacking, it does not follow as night follows day that it must be on the father's instruction that other agencies, particularly those from other States in the Middle East, who may have a negative mindset towards Dubai, the United Arab Emirates or politically against the father, could undertake hacking and make it look like the father if the Pegasus software is used.
	25. As I have indicated during submissions, it is not enough simply for that to be raised in argument, the ground has to be laid and that is accepted.  So the question is what date the father has to put in the statement of his "secondary case", as I called it during submissions, the nontechnical part of his case and any underlying material.  The mother submits that should be by next Friday, 19th March.  The father seeks for that to be the following Friday, the 26th, but is prepared for the court to say, for example, it should be two or three days earlier, on the Wednesday, and indeed it slipped  no, it did not slip, it was the Wednesday.
	26. I firmly take the view that the father has known that this factfinding process has been underway, he has a legal team of very substantial proportions acting for him.  They were entitled to raise the issue of Act of State, and that has rightly gone up through the appeal process in this jurisdiction, but has now ended with the Supreme Court refusing permission to appeal.  But that has always been one strand in the father's case, and the need, should that fail, to put forward any other case, must have been understood by those acting for the father, right back that the autumn, if not August when this all started, but at least by October, six months or so ago.  Indeed, the nature of the submission that I have just described in relation to other States has been raised by Lord Pannick on a number of occasions.  It was, therefore, well open to the father to prepare his case on this long before this week and I find it very hard to contemplate that that has not been done.
	27. I, therefore, direct that the father files the statement setting out his secondary case by Friday, 19th March, a week from today, in the confidence that that can be done despite the hard work that it may involve some undertaking in the ensuing seven days.
	28. The mother is entitled, and the court is entitled, and the Guardian is entitled, to know what the father is to say.  It is very unusual litigation in relation to any factfinding process for the party who is contesting the allegation not to have been required to put their case before the court a long time before now.  I have, for good reason, not required the father to take that step pending the playing out of the necessary consideration of the foreign Act of State element of his case, but that moment has now passed and the time therefore is long overdue for the father's case to be put before the court.
	29. In terms of filing of skeleton arguments, I think that is the only other matter that has been left.  This is where the rock and the hard place of the timetable do collide with each other and the need for the court to have the father's skeleton argument, but to allow time for him to take on board the outcome of the experts' meeting on 6th April could not be more tightly constrained.
	30. I am grateful for, and accept, Lord Pannick's offer for the filing to take place on Sunday, 11th April, and I direct that the father's skeleton argument for the factfinding hearing, which will, obviously, encompass his case on the technical matters, is to be filed by 4.00 p.m. on Sunday, 11th April.
	(For continuation of proceedings: please see separate transcript)
	- - - - - - - - - -

